
 
  

Integrated Annual Report 2023 
Línea Directa Aseguradora S.A. 



 
 
 

Index 
 

1. EXTERNAL AUDITOR ’S REPORT  3. CONSOLIDATED MANAGEMENT REPORT FOR 2023  

2. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 2023 
  

Company overview 129 
  Business performance 135 

Consolidated balance sheet 2 Main risks and uncertainties 148 

Consolidated statement of profit or loss 4 Outlook for 2024 151 

Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income 6 Events after the reporting period 152 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 7 Environmental, safety and personnel issues 153 

Consolidated statement of cash flows 8 Research, development and innovation activities 161 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 9 Other significant information 163 

  Complaints, ombudsman and other non-financial 
information 

166 

Annual corporate governance report, ICFR and Annual 
Report on Director Remuneration 

168 

Consolidated Statement of Non-Financial Information 169 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A. Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros and subsidiaries 

Table of contents of the Integrated Annual Report



 

LÍNEA DIRECTA ASEGURADORA S.A. 

External 
auditor’s 

report 



 

 
 
Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A.,  
Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros  
y sociedades dependientes 
 
Independent auditor´s report 
Consolidated annual account  
at December 31th, 2023 

 



 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L., Torre PwC, Pº de la Castellana 259 B, 28046 Madrid, España 
Tel.: +34 915 684 400 / +34 902 021 111, Fax: +34 915 685 400, www.pwc.es  1 
 
R. M. Madrid, hoja M-63.988, folio 75, tomo 9.267, libro 8.054, sección 3ª 
Inscrita en el R.O.A.C. con el número S0242 - NIF: B-79031290 

This version of our report is a free translation from the original, which was prepared in Spanish. All 
possible care has been taken to ensure that the translation is an accurate representation of the original. 
However, in all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the original language version 

of our report takes precedence over this translation. 
 

Independent auditor's report on the consolidated annual 
accounts 

 
To the shareholders of Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A., Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros 
  
Report on the consolidated annual accounts 
  
Opinion 
 
We have audited the consolidated annual accounts of Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A., Compañía de 
Seguros y Reaseguros (the Parent company) and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the statement of profit or loss, statement 
of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement and related notes, all 
consolidated, for the year then ended. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated annual accounts present fairly, in all material respects, 
the equity and financial position of the  Group as at 31 December 2023, as well as its financial 
performance and cash flows, all consolidated, for the year then ended, in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRS-EU) and other 
provisions of the financial reporting framework applicable in Spain. 
 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the 
audit of the consolidated annual accounts section of our report. 
 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements, including those relating 
to independence, that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated annual accounts in Spain, in 
accordance with legislation governing the audit practice. In this regard, we have not rendered services 
other than those relating to the audit of the accounts, and situations or circumstances have not arisen 
that, in accordance with the provisions of the aforementioned legislation, have affected our necessary 
independence such that it has been compromised. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 
 
Key audit matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated annual accounts of the current period. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the consolidated annual accounts as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters 
Valuation of liabilities for incurred claims in the 
motor segment 

  

    
The Group engages in non-life insurance 
activities, mainly in the motor, home, and 
medical assistance lines. 
 
The group proceeds to record the liabilities 
associated with insurance contracts in 
accordance with IFRS17 "Insurance Contracts" 
principles, which replaces IFRS 4 as of 
January 1, 2023; being the transition effective 
date to the new accounting regulations on 
January 1, 2022. These obligations are 
presented in the consolidated balance sheet, 
under the headings "Liabilities for remaining 
coverage" and "Liabilities for incurred claims", 
in accordance with the premium allocation 
approach (PAA). 
 
The valuation of liabilities for incurred claims 
comprises future estimated cash flows from 
the claims incurred that have not been paid at 
the end and the risk adjustment derived from 
the uncertainty associated with the non-
financial assumptions used to estimate such 
future cash flows. 
 
For the determination of these liabilities and 
given their nature, it is a complex estimate 
that, in the case of the motor segment, is 
significantly influenced by the projection 
methods used, the settlement periods and the 
assumptions used by management, as well as 
the impact of the valuation of personal claims 
in accordance with applicable regulations. For 
these reasons, the valuation of motor 
insurance provision for claims is considered as 
a key audit matter. 
 
See notes 2 e), 3 I) and 11 a) and b) of the 
attached consolidated annual accounts 
corresponding to the year 2023. 

We gained an understanding of the process for 
estimating and registering the liabilities for 
incurred claims in the motor segment, which 
included understanding and evaluating the 
internal control process, the relevant IT systems, 
and the most relevant assumptions. Our 
procedures, in which we have engaged a team of 
actuarial specialists, have focused on aspects 
such us: 
 
• Understanding of the methodology for 

calculating liabilities for incurred claims in 
accordance with IFRS17 principles. 

 
• Checking the integrity, accuracy and 

reconciliation of the data used in the 
calculation for the estimation of the liability 
for claims incurred. 
  

• Checking of the sufficiency of liabilities for 
claims incurred at the end of the previous 
year. 
 

• Testing a sample of incurred claims, 
checking the reasonableness of the 
valuation with the available information. 
 

• Checking through actuarial and statistical 
valuation procedures on the 
reasonableness of liabilities for incurred 
claims at the end of the period, including 
the non-financial risk adjustment. 
 

• Likewise, checking the adequacy of the 
disclosures in the attached consolidated 
annual accounts. 

 
In our procedures above, we obtained sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence to support the 
estimates of management regarding this matter. 

    
Other information: Consolidated management report 
 
Other information comprises only the consolidated management report for the 2023 financial year, the 
formulation of which is the responsibility of the Parent company's directors and does not form an 
integral part of the consolidated annual accounts. 
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Our audit opinion on the consolidated annual accounts does not cover the consolidated management 
report. Our responsibility regarding the consolidated management report, in accordance with 
legislation governing the audit practice, is to: 
 
a) Verify only that the consolidated statement of non-financial information, certain information 

included in the Annual Corporate Governance Report and the Annual Report on Directors' 
Remuneration, as referred to in the Auditing Act, have been provided in the manner required by 
applicable legislation and, if not, we are obliged to disclose that fact. 
 

b) Evaluate and report on the consistency between the rest of the information included in the 
consolidated management report and the consolidated annual accounts as a result of our 
knowledge of the Group obtained during the audit of the aforementioned financial statements, 
as well as to evaluate and report on whether the content and presentation of this part of the 
consolidated management report is in accordance with applicable regulations. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that material misstatements exist, we are required to 
report that fact. 
 

On the basis of the work performed, as described above, we have verified that the information 
mentioned in section a) above has been provided in the manner required by applicable legislation and 
that the rest of the information contained in the consolidated management report is consistent with that 
contained in the consolidated annual accounts for the 2023 financial year, and its content and 
presentation are in accordance with applicable regulations. 
 
Responsibility of the directors and the audit commission for the consolidated annual accounts 
 
The Parent company's directors are responsible for the preparation of the accompanying consolidated 
annual accounts, such that they fairly present the consolidated equity, financial position and financial 
performance of the Group, in accordance with IFRS-EU and other provisions of the financial reporting 
framework applicable to the Group in Spain, and for such internal control as the aforementioned 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated annual accounts that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated annual accounts, the Parent company's directors are responsible for 
assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the aforementioned directors 
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
The Parent company's audit commission is responsible for overseeing the process of preparation and 
presentation of the consolidated annual accounts. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated annual accounts 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated annual accounts 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor's report that includes our opinion. 
 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated annual accounts. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated annual accounts, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control. 
 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Parent company's directors. 
 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Parent company's directors' use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated annual 
accounts or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 
 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated annual accounts, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated annual accounts represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
 

• Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated annual 
accounts. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 
 

We communicate with the Parent company's audit commission regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide the Parent company's audit commission with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements, including those relating to independence, and we communicate with the 
aforementioned those matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with the Parent company’s audit commission, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated annual accounts of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter. 
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
 
European single electronic format 
 
We have examined the digital files of the European single electronic format (ESEF) of Línea Directa 
Aseguradora, S.A., Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros and its subsidiaries for the 2023 financial 
year that comprise an XHTML file which includes the consolidated annual accounts for the financial 
year and XBRL files with tagging performed by the entity, which will form part of the annual financial 
report. 
 
The directors of Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A., Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros are 
responsible for presenting the annual financial report for the 2023 financial year in accordance with the 
formatting and markup requirements established in the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815 of 17 
December 2018 of the European Commission (hereinafter the ESEF Regulation). In this regard, the 
Annual Corporate Governance Report and the Annual Report on Directors' Remuneration have been 
incorporated by reference in the consolidated management report. 
 
Our responsibility is to examine the digital files prepared by the Parent company's directors, in 
accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain. This legislation requires that we plan 
and execute our audit procedures in order to verify whether the content of the consolidated annual 
accounts included in the aforementioned digital files completely agrees with that of the consolidated 
annual accounts that we have audited, and whether the format and markup of these accounts and of 
the aforementioned files has been effected, in all material respects, in accordance with the 
requirements established in the ESEF Regulation. 
 
In our opinion, the digital files examined completely agree with the audited consolidated annual 
accounts, and these are presented and have been marked up, in all material respects, in accordance 
with the requirements established in the ESEF Regulation. 
 
Report to the audit commission of the Parent company 
 
The opinion expressed in this report is consistent with the content of our additional report to the audit 
commission of the Parent company dated 29 February 2024. 
 
Appointment period 
 
The General Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting held on 30 March 2023 appointed us as auditors of the 
Group for a period of one year, for the year ended 31 December 2023. 
 
Previously, we were appointed by resolution of the General Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting for a 
period of three years and we have audited the accounts continuously since the year ended 
31 December 2016. 
 
Services provided 
 
Services provided to the Group for services other than the audit of the accounts are disclosed in note 
21.e) to the consolidated annual accounts. 
 
  

PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L. (S0242) 
 
Original in Spanish signed by 
Enrique Anaya Rico (23060) 
 
29 February 2024



 

  

Consolidated 
financial 

statements 

LÍNEA DIRECTA ASEGURADORA S.A. 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A., 
Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros 
and subsidiaries 

Consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2023 

 
Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the 
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Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A. Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros and subsidiaries 

Consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2023 
(in thousand euro) 

 

 
 

ASSETS Notes 2023 2022 

 

A-1) Cash and cash equivalents 

A-2) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

I. Equity instruments 

A-3) Financial assets at fair value through equity 

I. Equity instruments 

II. Debt securities 

A-4) Financial assets at amortised cost 

III. Deposits with credit institutions 

VI. Receivables on reinsurance business 

IX. Other receivables 

1. Tax and social security receivable 

2. Other receivables 

A-5) Hedging derivatives 

A-6) Assets under reinsurance contracts 

II. Non-life 

2. Simplified approach (PAA) 

2.1. Assets for remaining coverage 

2.2. Assets for incurred claims 

A-7) Property, plant and equipment and investment property 

I. Property, plant and equipment 

II. Investment property 

A-8) Intangible assets 

III. Other intangible assets 

A-10) Tax assets 

I. Current tax assets 

II. Deferred tax assets 

A-11) Any other assets 

III. Accruals 

IV. Other assets 

 

6 

5 and 7a) 
 
 

5 and 7a) 
 
 
 

5 and 7a) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7a 

11a) and b) 
 

 
 
 
 
 

8 
 
 
 

9 
 
 

13 

 

41,746 

 

51,661 

53,998 48,818 

53,998 48,818 

823,345 690,846 

63,524 72,068 

759,821 618,778 

15,456 22,373 

4,209 4,515 

7,019 12,290 

4,228 5,568 

1,041 1,265 

3,187 4,303 

5,909 7,808 

31,939 21,956 

31,939 21,956 

31,939 21,956 

6,166 6,466 

25,773 15,490 

101,600 110,044 

43,077 45,368 

58,523 64,676 

29,188 14,482 

29,188 14,482 

14,635 26,861 

805 3,397 

13,830 23,464 

7,506 7,577 

4,881 3,326 

2,625 4,251 

TOTAL ASSETS 1,125,322 1,002,426 
 

The accompanying Notes 1 to 24 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2023

The English version is a translation of the original in Spanish made by Linea Directa Aseguradora, S.A on his sole 
responsibility and shall not be considered official. In case of discrepancy, the Spanish version shall prevail 
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Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A. Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros and subsidiaries 

Consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2023 
(in thousand euro) 

 

 
LIABILITIES Notes 2023 2022 

A-2) Financial liabilities at amortised cost 

III. Due on direct insurance business 

1. Due to policyholders 

2. Due to agents, brokers and intermediaries 

IV. Due on reinsurance business 
 

IX. Other debts 

1. Taxes and social security payable 

3. Other debts 

A-4) Liabilities under insurance contracts 

II. Non-life 
 

2. Simplified approach (PAA) 

2.1. Liabilities for remaining coverage 

2.2. Liabilities for incurred claims 

A-5) Non-technical provisions 

III. Other non-technical provisions 

A-6) Tax liabilities 

I. Current tax liabilities 

II. Deferred tax liabilities 

A-7) Other liabilities 

III. Other liabilities 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 

B-1) Equity 

I. Share capital 

1. Subscribed capital 

III. Reserves 

1. Legal and bylaw reserves 

2. Other reserves 

IV. (Treasury shares) 

VII. Profit/(loss) for the year 

VIII. (Interim dividend) 

B-2) Valuation adjustments 

I. Financial assets at fair value through equity 

II. Changes in fair value of liabilities for insurance and reinsurance contracts 

TOTAL EQUITY 

7b) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11a) and b) 
 
 
 
 
 

 
12 

13 
 
 
 
 
 
 

14 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
14 

65,313 59,288 

2,818 2,490 

1,752 2,009 

1,066 481 

1,351 1,363 

61,144 55,435 

15,221 15,520 

45,923 39,915 

715,311 610,282 

715,311 610,282 

715,311 610,282 

339,352 325,056 

375,959 285,226 

375 780 

375 780 

31,047 31,459 

11,384 - 

19,663 31,459 

241 286 

241 286 

812,287 702,095 

330,087 324,243 

43,537 43,537 

43,537 43,537 

291,584 271,079 

9,046 9,045 

282,538 262,034 

(644) (1,018) 

(4,390) 63,126 

- (52,481) 

(17,052)  (23,912)  

(18,226) (29,856) 

1,174 5,944 

313,035 300,331 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1,125,322 1,002,426 

 
The accompanying Notes 1 to 24 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2023 

The English version is a translation of the original in Spanish made by Linea Directa Aseguradora, S.A on his sole 
responsibility and shall not be considered official. In case of discrepancy, the Spanish version shall prevail 
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Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A. Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros and subsidiaries 

Consolidated statement of profit or loss at 31 December 2023 
(in thousand euro) 

 

 
NON-LIFE STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS Notes 2023 2022 

INCOME FROM INSURANCE SERVICES  16 960,266 925,444 

Income from contracts measured under the premium allocation approach (PAA) 960,266 925,444 

EXPENSES FROM INSURANCE SERVICE (995,577)  (878,910)  

Expenses for claims incurred  16 (995,577)  (878,910)  

1. Benefits and expenses incurred (920,105) (852,032) 

2. Change in provision for claims incurred (+/-) (76,837) (27,703) 

3. Losses on onerous contract groups and reversals for such losses 1,365 825 

RESULT OF INSURANCE CONTRACTS (35,311)  46,534 

Income from reinsurance recoverables 20,575 16,461 

Reinsurance expenses (23,489)  (25,865)  

RESULT OF REINSURANCE CONTRACTS (2,914) (9,404) 

INSURANCE TECHNICAL RESULT (38,225)  37,130 

FINANCE INCOME 7.a.3)  50,249 68,906 

1. Income from financial investments 27,900 27,767 

2. Application of value adjustments for investments 12 13,631 20,843 

3. Gains/(losses) on realisation of investments 2,743 12,647 

4. Income from property, plant and equipment and investment property 5,927 4,380 

5. Positive exchange rate and conversion differences 48 3,269 

FINANCE COSTS 7.a.3)  (16,257)  (27,059)  

6.1 Value adjustments for investments (11,791) (20,843) 

6.2 Losses on investments (2,579) (5,464) 

6.5 Expenses from property, plant and equipment and property investments (1,527) (1,250) 

6.6 Negative exchange rate and conversion differences (360) 498 

NET INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS 33,992 41,847 

7. FINANCIAL INCOME/(EXPENSES) FOR ISSUED INSURANCE AGREEMENTS (4,827) 437 

8. FINANCIAL INCOME/(EXPENSES) FROM REASSURANCE AGREEMENTS HELD 181 (12) 

FINANCIAL RESULT 29,346 42,272 

NET INCOME FROM INSURANCE AND INVESTMENTS (8,879) 79,402 

The accompanying Notes 1 to 24 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2023 

The English version is a translation of the original in Spanish made by Linea Directa Aseguradora, S.A on his sole 
responsibility and shall not be considered official. In case of discrepancy, the Spanish version shall prevail 
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Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A. Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros and subsidiaries 

Consolidated statement of profit or loss at 31 December 2023 
(in thousand euro) 

 

 

OTHER ACTIVITIES Notes 2023 2022 

 
INSURANCE RESULT 

  
(8,879)  

 
79,402 

 
OTHER INCOME 

 
18 

 
6,141 

 
7,557 

Other income  6,141 7,557 

 
OTHER EXPENSES 

  
(3,809)  

 
(3,397)  

Other expenses  (3,809) (3,397) 

 
SUBTOTAL (PROFIT OR LOSS FROM OTHER ACTIVITIES) 

  
2,332 

 
4,160 

 
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 

  
(6,547)  

 
83,562 

 
Income tax 

 
13 

 
2,157 

 
(20,436)  

    

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (4,390)  63,126 

Profit/(loss) attributable to the Parent Company  (4,390) 63,126 
Profit/(loss) attributable to non-controlling interests  - - 

 
Basic earnings per share (in euro) 

 
15 

 
0.00 

 
0.06 

Diluted earnings per share (in euro) 15 0.00 0.06 
 

The accompanying Notes 1 to 24 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2023 

The English version is a translation of the original in Spanish made by Linea Directa Aseguradora, S.A on his sole 
responsibility and shall not be considered official. In case of discrepancy, the Spanish version shall prevail 
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Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A., Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros and subsidiaries 

Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2023 

(in thousand euro) 

 

Notes 2023 2022 

 
Profit/(loss) for the year 

 
 
 
Other comprehensive income 

Other comprehensive income - Items that will not be reclassified to profit 
or loss for the period - Financial assets at fair value through equity 

1. Gains/(losses) on valuation adjustments 

2. Income tax 

Other comprehensive income - Items that can be reclassified later to 
profit or loss 

Financial assets at fair value through equity 

1. Gains/(losses) on valuation adjustments 
2. Amounts transferred to the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss 

Allocations of interest rate adjustments to equity for insurance and 
reinsurance contracts 

1. Gains/(losses) on valuation adjustments 

Income tax 

 
(4,390)  

 
63,126 

 
18,363 

 
(67,279)  

 
5,363 

 
- 

6,071 - 
(708) - 

13,000 (67,279)  

21,250 (97,622)  

21,026 (86,672) 

224 (10,950) 

(4,770)  5,943 

(4,770) 5,943 

(3,480)  24,400 

Total other comprehensive income 8 18,363 (67,279)  
   

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 13,973 (4,153)  
 

The accompanying Notes 1 to 24 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2023

The English version is a translation of the original in Spanish made by Linea Directa Aseguradora, S.A on his sole 
responsibility and shall not be considered official. In case of discrepancy, the Spanish version shall prevail 



 

 

 

Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A., Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros and subsidiaries 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2023 

(in thousand euro) 

 
 

Share capital
 (Note 14) 

Reserves 
(Note 4a) Treasury shares 

(Notes 14c and 
22) 

Consolidated 
profit or loss 

for the 
period 

(Interim dividend) 
(Note 14 d) 

Valuation 
adjustments 
(Note 14 f) 

 

Balance at 1 January 2022  43,537 260,145 (1,247) 110,137 (77,664) 43,367 378,275  

IFRS 17 transition adjustments  - 285 - - - - 285  

Adjusted balance at 1 January 2022  43,537 260,430 (1,247) 110,137 (77,664) 43,367 378,560  

Total recognised income/(expense)  - - - 63,126 - (67,279) (4,153)  

Transactions with owners or mutual members  - - 229 (21,459) (52,481) - (73,711)  

Distribution of dividends or payments due to mutual members  - - - (21,459) (52,481) - (73,940) 
Transactions with treasury shares or holdings (net)  - - 229 - - - 229 
Capital increases or mutual fund  - - - - - - - 
Other changes in equity  - 10,649 - (88,678) 77,664 - (365)  

Payments based on equity instruments  - (365) - - - - (365) 
Transfers between equity items  - 11,014 - (88,678) 77,664 - - 
Other changes  - - - - - - - 

Balance at 31 December 2022  43,537 271,079 (1,018) 63,126 (52,481) (23,912) 300,331  
         

Adjusted balance at 1 January 2023  43,537 271,079 (1,018) 63,126 (52,481) (23,912) 300,331  

IFRS 9 transition adjustments  - 8,082 - - - (8,265) (183)  

Adjusted balance at 1 January 2023  43,537 279,161 (1,018) 63,126 (52,481) (32,177) 300,148  

Total recognised income/(expense)  - 3,238 - (4,390) - 15,125 13,973 

Transactions with owners or mutual members  
- - 374 (1,090) - - (716) 

Distribution of dividends or payments due to mutual members 15.d) - - - (1,090) - - (1,090) 
Transactions with treasury shares or holdings (net)  - - 374 - - - 374 
Capital increases or mutual fund  - - - - - - - 
Other changes in equity  - 9,185 - (62,036) 52,481 - (370)  
Payments based on equity instruments  - (324) - - - - (324) 
Transfers between equity items  - 9,555 - (62,036) 52,481 - - 
Other changes  - (46) - - - - (46) 

Balance at 31 December 2023  43,537 291,584 (644) (4,390) - (17,052) 313,035  
 

The accompanying Notes 1 to 24 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2023 
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Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A., Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros and subsidiaries 

Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2023 

(in thousand euro) 

 
Notes 2023 2022 

CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES   

Insurance activities   

Proceeds from premiums on direct insurance, coinsurance and accepted reinsurance 969,982 941,666 
Proceeds from ceded reinsurance 6,344 5,301 
Reimbursements of claims 28,307 31,078 
Other proceeds from operating activities (1,808) (4,653) 

Total proceeds from insurance activities 1,002,825 973,392 

Payments for direct insurance, coinsurance and accepted reinsurance (704,051) (634,169) 
Payments for ceded reinsurance (14,090) (16,973) 
Payments for intermediaries (13,468) (16,846) 
Other payments for operating activities (216,622) (249,655) 

Total payments for insurance activities (948,231)  (917,643) 

Other operating activities   

Proceeds from other operating activities 6,376 9,507 

Total proceeds from other operating activities 6,376 9,507 

Payments for other operating activities (1,031) (627) 

Total payments for other operating activities (1,031) (627) 

Income tax   

Income tax collected/(paid) 2,550 6,255 
Total income tax collected/(paid) 2,550 6,255 

   

Total net cash flows from operating activities  62,489 70,884 

CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES   

Proceeds from investing activities   

Property, plant and equipment - - 
Investment property 4,930 4,223 
Intangible assets 1,478 - 
Financial instruments 689,186 287,666 
Interest received 29,367 24,704 
Dividends collected 3,360 2,871 

Total proceeds from investing activities 728,321  319,464 

Payments for investing activities   

Property, plant and equipment (1,482) (1,978) 
Investment property (1,356) (833) 
Intangible assets (20,210) (4,838) 
Financial instruments (770,649) (254,898) 
Other payments for investing activities (3,957) (4,068) 
Total payments for investing activities  (797,654)  (266,615)  

   

Total net cash flows from investing activities  (69,333) 52,849 

CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES   

Proceeds from financing activities   

Disposal of own shares - 257 
Other proceeds from financing activities 400 30,651 

Total proceeds from financing activities  400 30,908 

Payments for financing activities    

Dividends to shareholders 14d) (1,090) (73,940) 
Acquisition of own and parent company securities 14c) (348) (384) 
Other payments for financing activities  (2,256) (148,212) 

Total payments for financing activities  (3,694) (222,536)  
   

Total net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities  (3,294) (191,628)  

Effects of exchange rate changes 223 3,768 

Total increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (9,915) (64,127) 
    

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 6 51,661 115,788 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 6 41,746 51,661 

Components of cash and cash equivalents at end of year    

Cash and banks  38,941 35,683 
Other financial assets  2,805 15,978 

Total cash and cash equivalents at end of year  6 41,746 51,661 

 
The accompanying Notes 1 to 24 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2023 
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1. Overview of the Group  

The Línea Directa Group consists of Línea Directa Aseguradora S.A., Compañía de Seguros y 
Reaseguros and its subsidiaries. Línea Directa Aseguradora S.A., Compañía de Seguros y 
Reaseguros (the “Parent”) was incorporated in Madrid on 13 April 1994 under the name of 
“Bankinter Seguros Directos, S.A. Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros”. On 6 July 1994, it 
changed its name to “Bankinter Aseguradora Directa, 
S.A. Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros”. The decision was reached at the Annual General 
Meeting held on 26 January 1995 to change its name to "Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A., 
Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros". 

The Parent engages in insurance and reinsurance activities in the motor, home and other non-life 
segments, all of which it is authorised to carry out by the Spanish Directorate General of Insurance 
and Pension Funds. On 19 July 2017, the Directorate granted authorisation to operate also within 
the health line of the healthcare segment. The Parent started selling health insurance products in 
October 2017. 

Its registered office is at calle Isaac Newton 7, Tres Cantos (Madrid), Spain. The Parent operates 
entirely in Spain and Portugal. 

With respect to Portugal, the Group was authorised to operate in the Other insurance segment on 
25 September 2017. As this line of activity was residual and immaterial in 2023 and 2022, it 
has not been deemed relevant to break down the information by geographical area. 

The Parent directs and manages its stakes in other entities by organising human and material 
resources accordingly. The Parent operates in Motor, Home, Health and Other insurance business, 
as described in Note 3b). Its business distribution channels are mainly telephone and internet sales. 

The Parent's shares have been listed and traded on the continuous market of the Madrid Stock 
Exchange since 29 April 2021. Bankinter, S.A. holds a 17.4% stake in the Parent, while the 
remaining 82.6% was distributed among its shareholders by delivering one share in Línea Directa 
Aseguradora, S.A., Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros for each Bankinter share held (Note 14). 

The subsidiaries of Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A., Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros are as 
follows: Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A., Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros, Línea Directa 
Asistencia, S.L.U., Motoclub LDA, S.L.U., Centro Avanzado de Reparaciones, S.L.U., Ambar 
Medline, S.L.U. LDActivos, S.L.U. and LDA Reparaciones (up to November 2023), S.L.U, as 
described in Note 4, all of which are non-insurance support or investment companies. 

In view of the Group's business activities, it has no environmental liabilities, expenses, assets, 
provisions or contingencies that could be material in respect of its equity, financial position or 
results. 

The 2023 consolidated financial statements accounts were authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on 29 February 2024 and are pending approval by shareholders at the Annual General 
Meeting. However, it is the understanding of the directors that such annual accounts will be 
approved as presented. 
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2. Basis of presentation of the consolidated financial statements  

a) Regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the Group 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable 
regulatory framework for financial reporting, which is as follows: 

 

The International Financial Reporting Standards adopted by the European Union in the 
form of EU Regulations, in accordance with Regulation 1606/2002 of the European 
Parliament and of the Council of 19 July 2002 and its subsequent amendments (EU-IFRS). 
On the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS-IC). 

Regulatory provisions prescribed by the Spanish Directorate General of Insurance and 
Pension Funds, including the Framework Document in relation to the accounting regime for 
insurance entities relating to IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts, published on 22 December 
2004. 
The Spanish Commercial Code (Código de Comercio) and other commercial legislation. 

The Law and Regulations on the Organisation, Supervision and Solvency of Insurance 
and Reinsurance Companies (hereinafter referred to by its Spanish acronym of "ROSSEAR" 
when referring to the Regulations), as enacted by Law 20/2015 and Royal Decree 
1060/2015, respectively, and other provisions issued by the Spanish Directorate 
General for Insurance and Pension Funds. 

The non-repealed articles of the Regulation on the Organisation and Supervision of Private 
Insurance (hereinafter, "ROSSP", or the "Regulation"), enacted by Royal Decree 
2486/1998, including all partial modifications thereto. 

Formatting and marking requirements set out in the European Commission Delegated 
Regulation EU 2018/815. 

All mandatory accounting principle with a significant impact on the consolidated financial 
statements have been duly applied. 

b) True and fair view 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared from the Group’s 
accounting records and are presented in accordance with the applicable consolidated financial 
reporting framework and, in particular, with the accounting principles and criteria contained 
therein, so as to provide a true and fair view of the Group's consolidated equity, consolidated 
financial position, consolidated earnings and consolidated cash flows for financial year 2023. 

c) Basis of presentation 

Derivative financial instruments and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income. 

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount 
and fair value less costs of disposal. 

There has been no early adoption of any standards or interpretations that have been approved by 
the European Commission but that were not yet in effect at year end 2023. 
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d) Functional currency and presentation currency 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of euro, rounded off to the 
nearest thousand, which is the functional and presentation currency of the Parent and its 
Subsidiaries. 
e) Critical aspects regarding the valuation and estimation of uncertainty 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS-EU requires 
significant accounting estimates, judgments and assumptions to be made during the process of 
applying the Group's accounting policies. There follows a summary of the aspects that involved a 
higher degree of judgement, complexity or where assumptions and estimates were significant in 
drawing up the consolidated financial statements. 

While these estimates have been made on the basis of the best information available in relation to 
the events analysed at the balance sheet date, it is possible that future events may require these 
estimates to be modified (upwards or downwards) in subsequent years. Any resulting changes 
would be reflected in the corresponding consolidated statements of profit or loss and under the 
heading "Valuation adjustments" in the Group's equity. 

The main estimates made by the Group's directors are as follows: 

There were a number of changes implemented on 31 December 2023 with respect to the 
estimates made at the end of the 2022 financial year. These changes are due to the entry into 
force of IFRS 17 and are discussed extensively in section f) of this note. 

Liabilities under insurance contracts [Note 3l)]: 

Assets and liabilities relating to insurance contracts are recognised in accordance with the 
accounting policies set out in Note 3l). The Group also makes assumptions and estimates in the 
calculation of insurance contract liabilities. 

On 29 December 2021, the General Directorate of Insurance and Pension Funds sent a resolution 
on the application file for a change in the statistical methodology used in the automotive sector, in 
which it authorised the Group to calculate the technical provisions of benefits in its Motor segment 
using the Merz & Wüthrich stochastic methodology, and the deterministic methodology of average 
cost required under local regulations as a contrast methodology. With the entry into force of IFRS 
17, the Group will use Best Estimate assumptions for the calculation of incurred claims liabilities, 
projecting future cash flows consistently with Solvency II risk regulations. In the Motor and Home 
business segments, the methodology used is called 'Chain Ladder'; in the Health business segment 
the projection of benefit payments is made based on historical payment patterns detected in the 
records of each segment. 

Risk adjustment will be calculated by applying a percentile methodology. In the Motor segment, 
calculations will be made using the Merz & Wüthrich stochastic methodology. In the Home and 
Health segments, calculations will be made using the standard deviation obtained by equating the 
99.5% percentile to the sum of the Best Estimate and the SCR reserve. In all cases, the Group has 
decided to maintain an 85% percentile in calculating risk adjustment. 

Income tax and recovery of tax credits [Note 3 w)]: 

Under current legislation, taxes cannot be considered definitively settled until the duly submitted 
returns have been inspected by the tax authorities, or until the four-year limitation period has 
lapsed. In the opinion of the Group's directors, there are no contingencies that might result in any 
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further significant liabilities for the Group. 

Impairment losses on certain assets [Note 3d), f), g) and h)]: 

The Group analyses annually whether there are any indications of impairment on its assets, which 
are tested for impairment if and when any such indications exist. In particular, the provision for bad 
debts is calculated on the basis of the age of the invoices, with a different ratio applied for each 
age bracket. These brackets have been determined on the basis of the Group's experience and the 
mandatory accounting standards binding all insurance companies. 

Useful life of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, investment property [Note 
3f) and h)]: 

The useful lives of these assets have been calculated on the basis of the Group's directors' best 
estimate of the period over which they will generate income, taking into account the depreciation 
and amortisation effectively incurred in their operation, use and enjoyment. 

 
The fair value of certain non-listed assets and liabilities [Note 3 d)]: 

To determine the fair value of financial instruments when there is no price available in an active 
market, the Group's directors have made estimates using a valuation model or technique consistent 
with accepted market pricing methodology, while maximising the use of observable market data. 

Determination of the lessee's incremental borrowing rate under IFRS 16: 

The incremental borrowing rate has been used to determine the relevant rate for leases in which the 
Group acts as lessee. This is the rate of interest that a lessee would have to pay to borrow over a 
similar term (with similar conditions and levels of risk) the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a 
similar value to the right-of-use asset. 

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group: 

• Employs a cumulative approach based on a risk-free interest rate adjusted to reflect 
credit risk for leases which have no recent third-party financing; and 

• Makes specific adjustments to the lease, such as term, type, asset value and risk. 

The Group is exposed to possible future increases in variable lease payments based on a 
Consumer Price Index (CPI). These changes are not included in the lease liability until they take 
effect. When the lease payments are eventually updated based on this index, the lease liability is 
revalued and adjusted against the right-of-use asset. 

CPI change in leases in which the Group acts as lessee did not have a significant impact on the 
Group during the reference periods. 

f) Comparison of information 

Aspects deriving from the entry into force of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 on 1 January 2023. 

The Group applied IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 for the first time as of 1 January 2023, which has led to a 
restatement of fiscal year 2022. The new standards entail changes in the recognition and 
measurement of insurance and reinsurance contracts and financial instruments. However, given the 
business segments in which the Group operates, and the nature and duration of the insurance 
contracts it markets and sells, these changes have not had a material impact on the Group’s 
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consolidated financial statements, or on the management of the business or the Group’s dividend 
policy. The recording and measurement methods applied as a consequence of the entry into force 
of these standards are reflected in Note 3d) & l). 

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments 

The effective date of IFRS 9 was 1 January 2018. However, the Group elected to take advantage 
of the temporary exemption from the effective date of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, as provided for 
in paragraphs 20A – 20N of IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts, as it met the criteria to do so. 

By availing itself of this exemption, the date of application of IFRS 9 is the effective date of IFRS 
17: Insurance Contracts, which, according to the decision of the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB), is 1 January 2023. 

The Group has conducted the necessary analysis to be able to apply this deferral and has 
corroborated its eligibility by confirming that the percentage of the total carrying amount of its 
liabilities connected with insurance relative to the total carrying amount of all its liabilities has been 
greater than 90%, and that the Group does not engage in significant activity unconnected with 
insurance, as indicated in paragraph 20D of IFRS 4. This analysis was performed on the basis of 
information for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022. 

IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39, but has a similar scope. IFRS 9 contains principles for the financial 
reporting of financial assets and financial liabilities in order to present relevant and useful 
information to users of financial statements for their assessment of the amounts, timing and 
uncertainty of future cash flows. 

Classification 

IFRS 9 establishes a business model system based on how financial assets are used and the 
characteristics of their cash flows. 

Under IFRS 9 there are three measurement categories, each suited for different instruments: 

- Financial assets at amortised cost: for financial assets held by the company to collect 
contractual cash flows; and where the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on 
specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding. 

Interest, impairment and exchange differences generated by the financial assets classified 
in this portfolio are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

-  Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income: for those financial 
assets that are held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both 
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and where the contractual 
terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

Interest, impairment and exchange differences generated by the financial assets classified 
in this portfolio are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

Gains and losses arising from the revaluation of these assets are recognised in equity, 
though they may be recycled to profit or loss at the time of sale. 

-  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: a financial asset will be measured at 
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fair value through profit or loss unless it is measured at amortised cost or at fair value 
through other comprehensive income. This category would include all financial assets that 
do not pass the SPPI (solely payments of principal and interest) test. 

In view of the definition of these categories, an analysis of the impact of IFRS 9 has been carried 
out at 31 December 2022, finding that the impact is not significant due to the characteristics of the 
Group’s investment portfolio. 
The Group's financial assets are predominantly debt securities, which already passed the SPPI test. 

As regards other financial assets, the most significant change is the recognition of changes in the 
valuation of equity instrument not considered shares under IFRS 9 (such as investment funds and 
private equity holdings), which will be made through the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
due to the characteristics of such assets, whereas under IAS 39 this was carried out through 
adjustments through changes of value in equity. 

However, IFRS 9 states that shares may be measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income without recycling to profit or loss (irrevocable option), or alternatively at fair value through 
profit or loss, depending on the choice of business model. The Group has assessed the impact of 
this choice and has decided to apply the irrevocable option in the case of shares. 

Lastly, there will be no change in the measurement of derivatives. As a result, changes will continue 
to be recognised in the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense. 

Transition 

Commission Regulation (EU) 2022/1491 of 8 September 2022, amending Regulation (EC) No 
1126/2008 as regards International Financial Reporting Standard 17, allows companies 
applying IFRS 9 and IFRS 17 for the first time to apply the classification overlay provided for in 
paragraphs C28B to C28E of IFRS 9. This means that companies may present comparative 
information as if the classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9 had been applied to 
that financial asset. However, the impairment requirements in Section 5.5 of IFRS 9 need not be 
applied and any difference between the carrying amount of the previous financial asset and the 
carrying amount at the date of transition resulting from applying the classification overlay is 
recognised in equity at the date of transition. 

The Group has chosen to apply the classification overlay for financial instruments under IFRS 9 and 
to avail itself of the option not to restate its financial assets, and therefore not to include the effects 
of IFRS 9 in the financial statements for year 2022 for comparison with 2023, pursuant to 
paragraph 7.2.15. of IFRS 9. 

In relation to the suspension of the deferral of the application of IFRS 9 for insurance activity, the 
Group has decided not to restate comparative information for financial assets from prior periods, 
as provided for under the standard. However, as the transition date to IFRS 17 for the Group is 1 
January 2022, the Group has presented its financial assets using the IFRS 9 naming conventions to 
improve comparative information for users of the financial statements. This approach allows 
comparative information for financial instruments to be presented in the initial application of IFRS 
17 and IFRS 9 based on the expected classification under IFRS 9, as if the classification and 
measurement requirements of IFRS 9 had been applied. This presentation approach can only be 
applied in comparative periods that have been restated for IFRS 17. In the case of the Group, this 
is only 2022. This has led to some changes in the classification of certain items in the consolidated 
financial statements (as explained in the section on transition adjustments). 
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IFRS 17: Insurance contracts 

This standard replaces IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts, which allows for the continued use of local 
accounting practices and has resulted in insurance contracts being accounted for differently across 
jurisdictions. This standard, endorsed by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), was 
published on 23 November 2021 in the Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU). IFRS 17 
sets out principles for the recognition, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts so that an 
entity provides relevant and reliable information to enable users of financial information to assess 
the effect that these contracts have on the entity's financial statements. 

The adoption of IFRS 17 implies amendments to the following standards or interpretations of 
standards: IFRS 1: First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, IFRS 3: 
Business Combinations, IFRS 5: Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, 
IFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures, IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, IFRS 15: Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers, International Accounting Standard (IAS) 1: Presentation of Financial 
Statements, IAS 7: Statement of Cash Flows, IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment, IAS 19: 
Employee Benefits, IAS 28: Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, IAS 32: Financial 
Instruments: Presentation, IAS 36: Impairment of Assets, IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets, IAS 38: Intangible Assets, IAS 40: Investment Property, and SIC 
Interpretation 27: Evaluating the Substance of Transactions in the Legal Form of a Lease. 

IFRS 17 provides a comprehensive approach to accounting for insurance contracts. It seeks to 
ensure that companies disclose, in their financial statements, relevant information that fairly 
represents insurance contracts. This information provides users of financial statements with a sound 
basis for assessing the effect of insurance contracts on the company's financial position, financial 
performance and cash flows. 

IFRS 17 applies to insurance contracts, reinsurance contracts and investment contracts with 
discretionary participation for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, which is the date of 
first application, although comparative information with a transition date of 1 January 2022 is 
required. 

In 2022, the Group completed the definition of the accounting policies to be applied under IFRS 
17 and the installation and adaptation of the tools needed to apply them correctly. In 2022, the 
Group performed monthly closes under IFRS 17 in parallel with IFRS 4, to enable it to prepare 
consolidated financial statements for comparative purposes in 2023. 

Aspects deriving from the transition 

IFRS 17 applies for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, although comparative 
disclosures will be mandatory. This means that: 

• Each group of contracts must be identified, recognised and measured as if IFRS 17 had 
always been applied. 

• Items that would not exist if IFRS 17 had always been applied should be derecognised 
from the financial statements. 

• Any net difference that may arise in application of the above items shall be recorded in 
equity. 

In this respect, the Group has applied the changes retrospectively, for both insurance contracts in 
direct business and ceded reinsurance contracts. 
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Impacts relating to the transition 

The Group has analysed the impacts of the application of IFRS 17. The impacts identified for the 
transition at 1 January 2022 can be grouped into: 

a) Impacts resulting from the recognition of onerous contracts, the amount of which 
does not differ significantly from the current calculation under IFRS 4 of the 
provision for unexpired risks. The net reinsurance impact of the recalculation is € 
912 thousand. 

b) Impacts due to the calculation of the provision for claims incurred, an analysis of 
which yields results that are within a similar confidence interval to the provision for 
claims currently calculated under IFRS 4. The impact of the recalculation of the 
provision for direct insurance and ceded reinsurance is € 2,318 thousand, mainly 
due to the calculations of the home and health segments at the level of confidence 
for the motor segment. 

c) Impacts due to the exclusion of the accrual of the security surcharge due to the 
equalisation provision currently made under IFRS 4, but which will not be counted 
under IFRS 17. The net impact of the deferral due to the increase in the provision is 
-€ 2,851 thousand. 

The impact on the transition date of 1 January 2022 is as follows: 
 

In thousand euro 1 January 2022  
Adjustments due to the adoption of IFRS 17 379 
Deferred tax liabilities (95) 
Estimated after-tax transition impact 285 

 

The impact after the tax effect of € 285 thousand is recognised under "III. Reserves 2. Other 
Reserves" in comparative equity at 31 December 2022. 

Aspects deriving from the transition and comparative balance sheet at 31 December 2022 

There are certain differences between the standards (IFRS 17 and IFRS 4) in the way that 
information is presented on the balance sheet and, to a lesser extent, in the statement of profit or 
loss. However, as mentioned above, as the Group applies the Premium Allocation Approach (PAA) 
to all insurance and reinsurance contracts, the changes are less significant than they would have 
been had it applied the General Approach or the Variable Fee Approach. It should be noted: 

In respect of balance sheet insurance liabilities: 

a) For future services, as the Group has opted to apply the simplified PAA method, the 
treatment is similar to the previous regulatory framework, consisting of the accrual of the 
premium through the unearned premium provision. 

b) In respect of past services, future cash flows are discounted and a non-financial risk 
adjustment is included when measuring the liability for incurred claims. In the above 
framework, this methodology is similar to the one the Group had been using for the motor 
segment, as it applies a statistical methodology approved by the regulator, based on the 
projection of future flows at a percentile always above the best estimate, although flows 
are not discounted over time and there is no explicit risk adjustment. With respect to the 
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home and health segments where the Group had been applying a case-by-case claim 
valuation method, the new valuation model will signify a change in the measurement 
approach, although no material effects are expected. The method for calculating the 
liability for incurred claims is the same under both the general model (BBA) and the 
Premium Allocation Approach (PAA). 

c) The same criteria as for direct insurance is used for reinsurance contracts held, for both 
the liability for remaining coverage and the liability for incurred claims. 

d) Therefore, in the balance sheet, the changes in the previous sections imply, in terms of 
presentation on both the assets and liabilities side, that the headings “Reinsurers’ share of 
technical provisions” and “Technical provisions” are renamed “Assets/liabilities under 
reinsurance contracts held” and “Assets/liabilities under insurance contracts issued”, 
respectively. 

Consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2022 under IFRS 4 and restated under IFRS 17 

A reconciliation of the balance sheet at 31 December 2022 under IFRS 4 and IFRS 17 is provided 
below with explanatory notes. As previously mentioned, the transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 on 
financial instruments has no quantitative effect on the restatement of the transition balance sheet but 
does have a quantitative effect on the classifications of the headings. 
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IFRS 4 ASSETS Note  Difference   IFRS 17 ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents  51,661 - 51,661 A-1) Cash and cash equivalents 
   

48,818 48,818 A-2) Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss 

  48,818 48,818 I. Equity instruments 

Available-for-sale financial assets 
 

739,664 (48,818) 690,846 A-3) Financial assets at fair value through equity 

I. Equity instruments a) 120,886 (48,818) 72,068 I. Equity instruments 

II. Debt securities  618,778 - 618,778 II. Debt securities 
Loans and receivables  123,448 (101,075) 22,373 A-4) Amortised cost 

II. Deposits with credit institutions  4,515 - 4,515 III. Deposits with credit institutions 

III. Receivables on direct insurance business b) 58,524 (58,524) - V. Receivables on direct insurance business 

1. Policyholders  58,524 (58,524) - 1. Policyholders 
IV. Receivables on reinsurance business  12,290 - 12,290 VI. Receivables on reinsurance business 

V. Other receivables c) 48,119 (42,551) 5,568 IX. Other receivables 

1. Tax and social security receivable  1,265 - 1,265 1. Tax and social security receivable 
2. Other receivables  46,854 (42,552) 4,302 2. Other receivables 

Hedging derivatives  7,808 - 7,808 A-5) Hedging derivatives 

Reinsurers' share of technical provisions d) 19,263  2,693 21,956 A-6) Reinsurers' share. Non-life. Simplified approach 
(PAA) 

I. Provision for unearned premiums  4,554 1,912 6,466 2.1. Assets for remaining coverage 
II. Provision for claims  14,709 781 15,490 2.2 Assets for incurred claims 

Property, plant and equipment and investment property  110,044 - 110,044 A-7) Property, plant and equipment and investment 
property 

Right-of-use assets e) 3,739  (3,739)   

Intangible assets  14,482 - 14,482 A-8) Intangible assets 

Tax assets  26,861 - 26,861 A-10) Tax assets 

I. Current tax assets  3,397 - 3,397 I. Current tax assets 
II. Deferred tax assets  23,464 - 23,464 II. Deferred tax assets 

Other assets  98,445 (90,868) 7,577 A-11) Any other assets 

I. Prepaid fees and other acquisition expenses f) 94,608 (94,608) -  

II. Accruals  3,326 - 3,326 III. Accruals 

III. Other assets e) 511 3,740 4,251 IV. Other assets 

TOTAL ASSETS  1,195,415 (192,989) 1,002,426 TOTAL ASSETS 
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IFRS 4 LIABILITIES Note   Difference   IFRS 17 LIABILITIES 

Debt and accounts payable  59,288 - 59,288 A-2) Amortised cost 

I. Due on direct insurance business  2,490 - 2,490 III. Due on direct insurance business 

1. Due to policyholders  2,009 - 2,009 1. Due to policyholders 

2. Due to agents, brokers and intermediaries  481 - 481 2. Due to agents, brokers and intermediaries 

II. Due on reinsurance business  1,363 - 1,363 IV. Due on reinsurance business 

III. Lease liabilities g) 3,768 (3,768) -  

IV. Other debts: g) 51,667 3,768 55,434 IX. Other debts 

1. Taxes and social security payable  15,520 - 15,520 1. Taxes and social security payable 

3. Other debts  36,147 3,768 39,915 3. Other debts 

Technical provisions  791,040 (180,758) 610,282 A-4) Technical provisions. Non-life (simplified 
approach) 

I. Provision for unearned premiums h) 470,783 (145,726) 325,057 2.1. Liabilities for remaining coverage 
  470,783 (150,179) 320,604 2.1.1. Unearned premiums 
   4,453 4,453 2.1.2. Loss component 

II. Provision for unexpired risks h) 2,378 (2,378) -  

III. Provision for claims i) 317,879 (32,654) 285,225 2.2. Liabilities for incurred claims 
    264,741 2.2.1. Present value of cash flows 
    20,484 2.2.1. Adjustment for non-financial risk 

Non-technical provisions  26,118 (25,338) 780  

II. Provisions for settlement agreements j) 25,338 (25,338) -  

III. Other non-technical provisions  780 - 780 III. Other non-technical provisions 

Tax liabilities m) 28,182  3,277 31,459 A-6) Tax liabilities 

I. Deferred tax liabilities  28,182 3,277 31,459 II. Deferred tax liabilities 

Other liabilities  287 - 287 A-7) Other liabilities 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  904,915 (202,819) 702,096 TOTAL LIABILITIES 

EQUITY     EQUITY 

Equity k) 320,356 3,887 324,243 B-1) Equity 

I. Capital or mutual fund  43,537 - 43,537 I. Capital or mutual fund 

III. Reserves  270,795 284 271,080 III. Reserves 

1. Legal and bylaw reserves  9,046 - 9,046 1. Legal and bylaw reserves 

2. Other reserves  261,749 - 261,749 4. Reserves at consolidated companies 
   284 285 6. First application reserve 

IV. (Treasury shares)  (1,018) - (1,018) IV. (Own and parent company equities) 

VII. Profit/(loss) for the year  59,523 3,603 63,126 VII. Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to the Parent 
Company 

VIII. (Interim dividend)  (52,481) - (52,481) VIII. (Interim dividend) 

Valuation adjustments:  (29,856) 5,943 (23,913) B-2) Valuation adjustments 

I. Available-for-sale financial assets  (29,856)  (29,856) I. Financial assets at fair value through equity 
  

 l) - 5,943 5,943 II. Other comprehensive income 
  - 6,240 6,240 1. Valuation adjustments for insurance contracts 
  - (297) (297) 2. Valuation adjustments for ceded reinsurance contracts 

  

TOTAL EQUITY  290,500 9,830 300,330 TOTAL EQUITY 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  1,195,415 (192,989) 1,002,426 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

Notes describing the reconciliation and reclassification adjustments for assets and liabilities 
between IFRS 4 (previous balance sheet) and IFRS 17 (restated balance sheet) are provided below. 
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a) The heading "Available-for-sale financial assets. I Equity instruments" on the asset side of 
the previous balance sheet has been split and reclassified under the headings: 

1) A-2) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, grouping equity instruments 
as private equity that are not classified as equities under IFRS 9, in the amount of € 
48,818 thousand. 

2) A-3) Financial assets at fair value through equity, including all equity instruments 
classified as equities under IFRS 9, in the amount of € 72,068 thousand, and debt 
securities. 

b) The balance of the heading "Loans and receivables. III. Receivables on direct insurance 
business" from the previous balance sheet is partially reclassified in its entirety to heading 
"2.1 Provision for remaining coverage" on the liability side in the amount of € 58,524 
thousand, as detailed in Note 
h). The reclassified amount corresponds to receivables from outstanding issued receipts 
such as premium fractions to be drawn. 

c) The balance of the heading "Loans and receivables. V. Other receivables 2. Other 
receivables" from the previous balance sheet has been reclassified to "2.2. Liabilities for 
claims incurred" on the liabilities side of the balance sheet in the amount of € 42,551 
thousand under IFRS 9 and IFRS 17. This amount includes the rights for certain claims 
recoveries that are implicitly included in the calculation of the present value of cash flows in 
liabilities for claims incurred under IFRS 17. 

d) The heading "Reinsurers' share of technical provisions" in the previous balance sheet 
corresponds to heading A-6) Reinsurers' share. Non-life. Simplified approach (PAA). 

i. The "Provision for unearned premiums", with a balance of € 4,554 thousand, has 
been restated to "2.1 Assets for remaining coverage" for € 6,466 thousand. This 
involves an increase of € 1,912 thousand, mainly corresponding to assignment to 
reinsurance of the direct insurance loss component recognised on the liabilities side 
of the restated balance sheet. Under IFRS 4, the provision for unexpired risks, 
equivalent to the loss component, was not ceded to reinsurance. 

ii. The "Provision for claims", with a balance of € 14,709 thousand, is restated under 
"Assets for claims incurred" in the amount of € 15,490 thousand. This includes an 
increase of € 781 thousand due to the impact of the present value of the flows of 
the provision for claims ceded to reinsurance, using the best estimate and 
discounting the corresponding flows. 

e) The heading "Right-of-use assets" has been reclassified to "A-11) Any other assets. IV. Other 
assets" in the amount € 3,739 thousand. This includes assets arising from the valuation of 
lease agreements under IFRS 16. 

f) Item "Any other assets. I. Prepaid fees and other acquisition costs” from the previous 
balance sheet, which recognised the deferred acquisition expenses associated with the 
unearned premium provision, has been reclassified in its entirety, in the amount of € 
94,608 thousand, to the heading on the liability side “2.1. Liabilities for remaining 
coverage" as set out in note h). 

g) The heading "Debits and items payable. III. Lease liabilities" of the liabilities of the previous 
balance sheet that includes the liabilities arising from the valuation of lease contracts under 
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IFRS 16 is reclassified in its entirety to the heading other debts "A-2) Amortized cost. IX Any 
other debts 3. Other debts 

h) The heading "Technical provisions. I. Provision for unearned premiums" from the liabilities 
side of the previous balance sheet has been transferred to the liabilities side of the new 
balance sheet under the heading "A-4) Technical provisions. Non-life (simplified approach). 
2.1 Liabilities for remaining coverage" A reconciliation of these two headings is provided 
in the following table: 
 

470,783 I. Provision for unearned premiums 

(94,608) I. Prepaid fees and other acquisition expenses 
(58,524) Receivables on insurance business. Policyholders 

2,952 Security surcharge 
4,453 2.1.2. Loss component 

325,056 2.1. Liabilities for remaining coverage 
 

i. Section "Prepaid fees and other acquisition costs" is the result of the reclassification 
described in Note e). 

ii. The section "Receivables on direct insurance business. Policyholders" corresponds to 
receivables for uncollected issued receipts and unissued premium fractions, which 
have been reclassified from the asset side of the previous balance sheet, as set out 
in Note b) 

iii. The Security Surcharge that decreases the provision for unearned premiums under 
IFRS 4 has been eliminated in IFRS 17, increasing the provision for remaining 
coverage. 

iv. Heading "2.1.2 Loss component" is conceptually similar to heading "Provision for 
risks in progress" appearing in the previous balance sheet for an amount of 
€ 2,378 thousand, and which is removed from the liabilities side of the new 
balance sheet, corresponding to projected losses on future exposure in the Health 
segment. 

i) The heading "Technical provisions. I. Provision for claims" on the liabilities side of the 
previous balance sheet has been renamed "A-4) Technical provisions. Non-life (simplified 
approach). Liabilities for claims incurred" in the new balance sheet. A reconciliation of 
these two headings is provided in the table below. 

 

317,879 III. Provision for claims 

(317,879) III. Provision for claims 

264,741 2.2.1 Present value of cash flows 
20,484 2.2.1 Adjustment for non-financial risk 

285,226 2.2 Liabilities for incurred claims 

 
i. The "Provision for claims" under IFRS 4 that is calculated with a prudential margin is 

derecognised in IFRS 17 and replaced by the best estimate of the "Present value of 
cash flows" corresponding to past services. 

ii. Section "2.2.1 Adjustment for non-financial risk" of the restated balance sheet is an 
adjustment to an IFRS 17 concept to compensate for uncertainty about the amount 



22 Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A., Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros and subsidiaries

2023 Consolidated Financial Statements (expressed in thousand euro)

 

 

The English version is a translation of the original in Spanish made by Linea Directa Aseguradora, S.A on his sole 
responsibility and shall not be considered official. In case of discrepancy, the Spanish version shall prevail 

and timing of cash flows arising from non-financial risk. 

iii. As mentioned in sections c) and j), the liabilities for claims incurred include both 
rights for certain claims recoveries, in the amount of -€ 42,551 thousand, and 
provisions for settlement agreements, amounting to € 25,338 thousand. 

j) Heading "Non-technical provisions. II. Provision for settlement agreements" on the liabilities 
side of the previous balance sheet, amounting to € 25,338 thousand, has been removed 
from the liabilities side of the new balance sheet, being implicitly included in the 
calculation of the present value of the cash flows included in the "Liabilities for claims 
incurred" described in note h). 

k) The heading "Equity" on the previous balance sheet, with a balance of € 320,356 
thousand, increases by € 3,887 thousand to € 324,243 thousand, due to: 

i. The heading "III. Reserves" is increased by € 285 thousand due to the adjustment 
of the first application reserve at 1 January 2022, as described above for the 
transition. 

ii. The heading "VII. Profit/(loss) for the year" is increased by € 3,603 thousand, from 
€ 59,523 thousand to € 63,126 thousand, due to the following effects in 2022: 

 

Liabilities for claims incurred, gross (6,039) 
Liabilities for ceded claims incurred 59 
Gross loss component 77 
Ceded loss component 997 
Impact of security surcharge and deferral 102 
Total gross impact (4,804)  

Deferred tax 1,201 
Total net impact (3,603)  

 
l) Equity on the new balance sheet includes the heading "B-2) Valuation adjustments. II. 

Other comprehensive income", which includes the effect of the change in the discount 
curve for the year with respect to the curve for the year of occurrence of the claims in the 
calculation of technical provisions, for both direct insurance, in the amount of € 6,240 
thousand, and for ceded reinsurance, at -€ 297 thousand, with a net effect of € 5,943 
thousand. The tax effect is € 1,982 thousand. 

m) The balance of the heading "Tax liabilities. I. Deferred tax liabilities" increases by € 3,277 
thousand compared to the same heading on the previous balance sheet, due to: 

 

i. The tax effect of the transition reserve at 1 January 2022, amounting to € 94 
thousand, as described in the transition section. 
ii. Tax effect of IFRS 17 adjustments for 2022 through profit or loss in the amount of 
€ 1,201 thousand, as indicated in Note k). 
iii. Tax effect of IFRS 17 adjustments for 2022 through other comprehensive income in 
equity rather than profit or loss, in the amount of € 1,982 thousand, as indicated in 
note l). 

Aspects deriving from the income statement and comparison at 31 December 2022 

The consolidated statement of profit or loss under IFRS 17 presents, in summary form, the following 
items that apply to the Group based on the nature of its business and the applicable valuation 
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models (refer to the Annexes for more details): 

Revenue from the insurance service 

This heading will show the provision of services arising from the group of insurance contracts, the 
amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those services, 
i.e. the amount of premiums received. 

Amounts related to changes in the liability for the remaining coverage and the allocation of the 
portion of the premium that relates to the recovery of the cash flows from the purchase of the 
insurance. 

The Group applies the PAA, whereby the revenue from the insurance service measured under the 
PAA is similar to the earned premium concept under IFRS 4. 
Insurance service expenses 

Insurance service expenses include claims and other attributable insurance service expenses 
incurred; amortisation of cash flows from the acquisition of insurance; changes that relate to past 
service (i.e. changes in cash flows relating to the liability for claims incurred); and losses on groups 
of contracts and reversals of those losses. 

Under IFRS 4, this heading would include claims incurred and operating expenses. 

Notably, the above revenue and expense headings of the insurance service: Do not include 
investment components 
Do not include revenue and expenses related to reinsurance, as they have their own specific 
heading. 

Income associated with reinsurance contracts held 

This heading shows income under ceded reinsurance contracts, counting ceded insurance 
premiums, ceded claims incurred and reinsurance commission, which under IFRS 4 were shown net 
of the direct insurance result under net earned premium, net claims incurred and net operating 
expenses, respectively. 

Income from the insurance service 

Income from the insurance service less insurance service expense and income associated with 
reinsurance contracts held comprises total profit/(loss) from the insurance service. Due to the 
Group's decision to apply the PAA valuation method, this insurance service result is expected to be 
similar to the technical result without the current financial part under IFRS 4. 

Net gains/(losses) from investments 

This sub-heading shows income obtained from the Group's financial instrument portfolio in the form 
of interest, dividends, changes in the fair value of financial assets measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income, and realised gains/(losses) on assets measured at fair value through 
profit or loss, measured in accordance with IFRS 9. 

Insurance financial income and expenses 

This sub-heading shows the effect of the time value of money on the calculation of insurance 
liabilities. More precisely, as regards the effect of updating the discount rate for the purpose of 
calculating the liability for claims incurred, which includes the present value of the associated future 
cash flows and the non-financial risk adjustment pertaining to the portfolios of contracts measured 
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using the PAA, the Group has preliminarily opted to disaggregate this effect between other 
comprehensive income and the statement of profit or loss. 

Other income and other expenses 

This heading shows income and expenses not attributable to insurance contracts. Profit before 
tax 
This heading will be the sum of profit from the insurance service, net gains/(losses) from 
investments, insurance financial income and expenses, and other income and other expenses. 

 

Post-tax profit comprises pre-tax profit less the income tax expense (see note 4). 

Main parallels and differences with regards to the Solvency II framework 

The implementation within the Group of the Solvency II framework, which came into force on 1 
January 2016, has facilitated the implementation of IFRS 17 by unlocking synergies in the 
organisation of the reporting databases and the common approach of cash flow projections at 
present value on which both frameworks are based, in order to obtain a balance sheet at market 
value (both for assets and liabilities) and avoid accounting asymmetries. It should not be forgotten 
that the IFRS are of supplementary use for the measurement of assets and liabilities under Solvency 
II. 

Given the segments in which the Group operates and the nature of the groups of insurance and 
reinsurance contracts that make up its portfolio, the granularity, level of aggregation and contract 
boundaries under IFRS 17 are very similar to those used under Solvency II. 

The Solvency II balance sheet is calculated for LDA standalone, as the Group is not required to 
present solvency information at the consolidated level, whereas under IFRS 17 information is 
presented at the consolidated level only. 

The balance sheet is similar under both measurement standards, although in relation to insurance 
liabilities: 

a) The IFRS 17 liability for claims incurred is similar to the Solvency II claims provision, 
although the former includes an explicit risk adjustment that would be equivalent to the 
Solvency II risk margin. However, they are different in their meaning and calculation 
methodology. 

b) The liability for remaining coverage under the PAA is equivalent to the premium provision, 
although the former is similar to the provisions for unearned premiums, while under 
Solvency II it is estimated through projected expected cash flows discounted to present 
value of future exposure, taking into account contract boundaries. 

Alternative performance measures (APMs) 

As the Group will be measuring all of its insurance and reinsurance contracts under the PAA, the 
main alternative performance measures will remain the same as under IFRS 4. 

The combined ratio, adapted to IFRS 17, is not significantly different to that under IFRS 4. 

g) Changes in accounting standards 

There were no changes in accounting criteria in the period compared to the consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022, other than the entry into force of IFRS 17 and 
IFRS 9, as described in section f). 
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a) Mandatory standards, amendments and interpretations for all annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2023 

"IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts 1": IFRS 17 replaces "IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts", which permitted 
a wide variety of accounting practices. The new standard fundamentally changes the accounting 
of all entities that issue insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participation 
features. In June 2020, the IASB amended the standard, developing specific amendments and 
clarifications to facilitate the implementation of the new standard, although without changing the 
core principles of the standard. 

 

The standard applies to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. Earlier application 
is permitted if "IFRS 9: Financial Instruments" is applied on or before the date IFRS 17 is applied. 

The impact of this is discussed in section f) of this note. 

IFRS 17 (Amendment): Initial application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9: Comparative information: 
The IASB has published an amendment to IFRS 17 that introduces modifications with limited scope 
to the transition requirements of "IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts". This does not affect any other 
requirements of IFRS 17. The transition requirements for IFRS 17 and "IFRS 9: Financial Instruments" 
are different. These differences could lead to one-off accounting mismatches between financial 
assets and insurance contract liabilities for some insurers in the comparative information they 
disclose in their financial statements when they apply IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 for the first time. This 
amendment will help insurers avoid these mismatches, improving the usefulness of the comparative 
information for investors. 

 

This amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. For Línea 
Directa, this amendment has meant reclassifying capital gains on equity instruments to equity, as it 
has opted for the irrevocable option of considering such instruments as instruments whose changes 
in value are recognised in equity. Changes in the value of investment funds during the year 
classified as instruments whose valuation changes are recognised through profit or loss have also 
been reclassified. 

IAS 1 (Amendment): Disclosure of accounting policies: IAS 1 has been amended to improve 
accounting policy disclosures so that they provide more useful information to investors and other 
primary users of the financial statements. These amendments are effective as of 1 January 2023. 

 

The impact of this amendment on the preparation of these financial statements is not significant. 

IAS 8 (Amendment): Definition of accounting estimates: IAS 8 has been amended to help 
distinguish between changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policy. These 
amendments are effective as of 1 January 2023. 

The impact of this amendment on the preparation of these financial statements is not significant. 
 

IAS 12 (Amendment): Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single 
transaction: In certain circumstances under IAS 12, companies are exempt from recognising 
deferred taxes when they first recognise assets or liabilities (“initial recognition exemption”). 
Previously, there was some uncertainty as to whether the exemption applied to transactions such as 
leases and decommissioning obligations, these being transactions for which both an asset and a 

 
1 The IASB issued IFRS 17 in 2017, with entry into force due on 1 January 2021. The IASB amended IFRS 17 in June 2020 with 
some clarifications to facilitate its implementation, changing the date it came into effect to 1 January 2023. In November 2021, the 
European Union adopted the amended IFRS 17 and its updated date of entry into force. 
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liability are recorded at initial recognition. The amendments clarify that the exemption does not 
apply and that there is therefore an obligation to recognise deferred taxes on such transactions. 

 

This amendments is effective for years beginning on or after 1 January 2023, although earlier 
adoption is permitted. 

This amendment had no impact on the preparation of these financial statements. 

IAS 12 (Amendment): International Tax Reform Pillar Two Model Rules : In October 2021, 
more than 130 countries, representing over 90% of global GDP, agreed to implement a minimum 
tax regime for multinational companies, known as "Pillar Two". In December 2021, the 
Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) released the Pillar Two model 
rules for reforming international corporate taxation. The large multinational companies affected by 
this model must calculate their GloBE (Global Anti-Base Erosion) effective tax rate for each 
jurisdiction in which they operate. These companies will be required to pay an additional tax for 
the difference between their effective GloBE tax rate in each jurisdiction and a minimum rate of 
15%. 

In May 2023, the IASB issued amendments with limited scope to IAS 12, providing a temporary 
exception to the requirement to recognise and disaggregate deferred taxes arising from an 
approved or substantially approved tax law implementing the Pillar Two model rules published by 
the OECD. 

These amendments also introduce the following specific breakdown requirements for companies: 

1. The fact of having applied the temporary exception to recognition and breakdown of 
information on deferred tax assets and liabilities related to corporate income tax arising 
from Pillar Two; 

 
2. Their current tax expense (if any) for corporate income tax arising from Pillar Two; and 

 
3. During the period between approval or substantial approval of the legislation and its entry 

into force, entities are required to disclose known or reasonably estimable information that 
would assist users of the financial statements in understanding the entity's exposure to 
corporate income tax arising from Pillar Two. 

 
The amendment to IAS 12 must be applied immediately and retrospectively in accordance with 
"IAS 8: Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors", including the requirement 
to disclose that the temporary exception has been applied, if this is the case. Breakdowns of the 
current tax expense and known or reasonably estimable exposure to Pillar Two corporate income 
tax are mandatory for annual periods starting on or after 1 January 2023. However, breakdowns 
of this information are not required in the interim financial statements for any period ending on or 
before 31 December 2023. 

The amendment has had no impact on the preparation of these financial statements as the Group 
currently applies a rate of 25%. 

 

b) Standards, amendments and interpretations that have not yet become effective but may be 
adopted early 

IFRS 16 (Amendment): Lease liability in a sale and leaseback : IFRS 16 includes requirements 
on how to account for a sale and leaseback at the date the transaction takes place. However, it 
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does not specify how to record the transaction after that date. This amendment explains how a 
company should account for a sale and leaseback after the date of the transaction. 

 

The amendment is effective from 1 January 2024, although early application is permitted. 

The Group has decided not to apply this amendment early. However, no impact is expected from 
its application. 

 

IAS 1 (Amended): Classification of liabilities as current or non-current and IAS 1 (Amended): 
Non-current liabilities with conditions ”: These amendments, adopted concurrently by the 
European Union, clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current should be based 
on rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period. The classification is unaffected by 
the expectations of the entity or events after the reporting period (e.g. the receipt of a waiver or a 
breach of covenant). The amendment also clarifies what IAS 1 means when it refers to the 
‘settlement’ of a liability. 

 

The new amendment seeks to improve the information disclosed when the right to defer payment of 
a liability is subject to the fulfilment of covenants within 12 months of the reporting period. 

This amendment is effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and is applied 
retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8 "Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 
and Errors". Early adoption of the amendment is permitted. 

This amendment is not expected to have any impact on the Group. 

c) Standards, amendments and interpretations of existing standards that cannot be adopted early 
or that have not been endorsed by the European Union. 

At the date of authorisation for issue of these consolidated interim financial statements, the IASB 
and IFRS Interpretations Committee had issued the following standards, amendments and 
interpretations that have yet to be adopted by the European Union: 

IFRS 10 (Amendment) and IAS 28 (Amendment): Sale or contribution of assets between an 
investor and its associate or joint venture:  These amendments clarify the accounting treatment for 
sales and contributions of assets between an investor and its associates and joint ventures, which 
will depend on whether the non-monetary assets sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture 
constitute a 'business'. Where the non-monetary assets constitute a business, the investor will 
recognise the full gain or loss. If the assets do not meet the definition of a business, the investor will 
recognise the gain or loss only to the extent of the other investors’ interest. The amendments will 
only apply when an investor sells or contributes assets to its associate or joint venture. 

 

Originally, these amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 were prospective and effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. However, at the end of 2015 the IASB reached 
the decision to postpone the effective date of these amendments (without setting a new specific 
date), as it is currently planning a broader review that may ultimately simplify the accounting 
treatment of these transactions and other accounting aspects for associates and joint ventures. 

This amendment is not expected to have any impact on the Group. 

IAS 7 (Amendment) and IFRS 7 (Amendment): Supplier finance arrangements ("confirming"): 
The IASB has amended IAS 7 and IFRS 7 to improve disclosures of supplier finance arrangements 
("confirming") and their effects on the company's liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. 
The amendment meets investor concerns that some companies' supplier finance arrangements are 
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not sufficiently transparent. 
 

This amendment is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2024, although early 
implementation is permitted. The amendment is pending approval by the European Union. 

This amendment is not expected to have any impact on the Group. 

IAS 21 (Amendment): Lack of exchangeability: The IASB has amended IAS 21 by adding 
requirements to help entities determine whether a currency is exchangeable for another currency 
and the spot rate to be used when it is not. When a currency is not exchangeable for another 
currency, the spot exchange rate at a valuation date needs to be estimated so as to determine the 
rate at which an orderly exchange transaction would take place at that date between market 
participants under prevailing economic conditions. 

 

When an entity first applies the new requirements, it is not permitted to restate comparative 
information. Instead, the amendment requires affected amounts to be translated at spot exchange 
rates estimated at the date of initial application of the standard, with an adjustment against 
reserves. 

This amendment is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2025, although early 
implementation is permitted. The amendment is pending approval by the European Union. 

This amendment is not expected to have any impact on the Group. 

3. Recognition and measurement standards  

The measurement standards relied on when drawing up the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements are described below: 

a) Subsidiaries 

a.1) Acquisition of control 

Subsidiaries are defined as entities over which the Parent exercises control, whether directly or 
indirectly through other subsidiaries. The Parent controls an investee when it is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with that investee and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the investee. The Parent has power when it possesses substantive 
rights that give it the ability to direct the relevant activities. The Parent is exposed, or has rights, to 
variable returns from its involvement with the investee when the returns it earns from that involvement 
have the potential to vary as a result of the investee's financial performance. 

Acquisitions by the Parent (or another Group company) of control over a Subsidiary constitute a 
business combination accounted for using the acquisition method. 

This method requires the acquirer to account for, at the acquisition date, the identifiable assets 
acquired and the liabilities assumed in a business combination and, if any, the related goodwill or 
badwill on consolidation. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group and are excluded from consolidation on the date on which control ceases. 

The acquisition cost is determined as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets given, 
the liabilities incurred or assumed, and the equity instruments issued by the acquirer and the fair 
value of any contingent consideration that is contingent on future events or the fulfilment of certain 
conditions being met and that is required to be recognised as an asset, liability or equity according 
to its nature. 
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Expenses related to the issuance of the equity instruments or financial liabilities delivered are not 
part of the cost of the business combination and are recognised in accordance with the rules 
governing financial instruments. Fees paid to legal counsel or other professionals involved in the 
business combination are expensed as incurred. The cost of the combination does not include the 
expenses generated internally for these concepts, nor any such expenses incurred by the acquired 
entity. 

Any excess, at the acquisition date, of the cost of the business combination above and beyond the 
proportionate share of the value of the identifiable assets acquired less the liabilities assumed 
representing the equity interest in the acquired entity is recognised as goodwill. In the exceptional 
case that this amount exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is recognised as 
income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

a.2) Method of consolidation 

The assets, liabilities, income, expenses, cash flows and other items in the financial statements of 
the Parent and the Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group, 
on the following basis: 

– Standard valuation: The assets and liabilities, income and expenses and other items 
contained in the annual accounts of the Group companies have been valued using 
uniform methods. 

– Aggregation: The different items of the previously standardised separate annual accounts 
have been aggregated by type. 

– Elimination of equity investment: The book values of equity instruments from Subsidiaries 
held, directly or indirectly, by the Parent Company are offset against the proportionate 
share of the equity items of the Subsidiary Company attributable to those holdings, 
generally on the basis of the values resulting from applying the acquisition method 
described above. In consolidations subsequent to the year in which control was acquired, 
the excess or deficit in equity generated by the Subsidiary since the date of acquisition 
that is attributable to the Parent is presented in the consolidated balance sheet within 
reserves or valuation adjustments, depending on the nature or type. 

– Eliminations of intra-group items: Receivables and payables, income and expenses and 
cash flows between Group companies are eliminated in full. In addition, all results of 
internal transactions are eliminated and deferred until they are realised vis-à-vis third 
parties outside the Group. 

b) Segment information 

The Group is structured internally into operating segments, which have been defined according to 
the different categories of products and services provided by the Group. The earnings and results 
of these segments are regularly reviewed as part of the decision-making process to decide on the 
resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance. The Group's Board of 
Directors, which includes the Chief Executive Officer, identifies the segments from a business 
perspective and is the supreme decision-making body when it comes to defining these segments. 
The segments are aligned with the Group's organisational structure and reflect the information 
provided to Management and the markets. 

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group comprised the following operating segments 
in accordance with IFRS 8, whose principal products, services and operations were as follows: 

– Motor 
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– Home 
– Health 
– Other insurance businesses 
– Other activities 

Inter-segment transactions are measured at fair value and eliminated on consolidation. 

All segments are directly or indirectly related to the insurance business. The Motor, Home, Health 
and other insurance business segments correspond to insurance-only activities. 

• The Motor segment includes private motor insurance through a range of products including 
comprehensive, with and without excess, extended third party and standard third party, among 
others, motorbike insurance with products such as comprehensive with excess, third party with 
theft and fire, extended third party etc., or fleet insurance. 

• The Home segment includes a variety of multi-risk home insurance products that include 
coverage such as theft damage, civil liability, fire damage and aesthetic damage. 

• The Health segment includes health insurance products under the Vivaz brand in the health 
care segment. 

• The Other insurance segment includes various products with stand-alone policies that are not 
linked to motor, home or health insurance, such as travel insurance for holders of credit cards 
and wellness insurance. 

 
• The Other activities segment mainly relates to auxiliary insurance businesses and commissions 

from the sale of insurance products of other insurers. It also includes roadside assistance and 
vehicle repair services that Group subsidiaries provide to third parties outside the Group and 
that are not, therefore, eliminated on consolidation. The income and expenses of this business 
segment correspond to the headings "Other income" and "Other expenses" in the Consolidated 
Income Statement of Other activities. These activities do not meet the quantitative criteria for 
separate presentation. 

There are no differences in accounting policies, nature of activities, valuation and measurement of 
assets and liabilities between each of the operating segments and there have been no changes 
from previous years in relation to their management. 

The Group's management strategy is to analyse the performance of each segment by its profit after 
tax. The Group performs virtually all of its business activities in Spain. During 2023, being the first 
year of implementation of IFRS 17, the group's management continued to manage the segments in 
accordance with the results under IFRS 4, assessing the adjustments due to the regulatory change to 
IFRS 17 separately. The results are, therefore, presented by segments under both standards, with 
explanations of the main differences between them provided in Note 17, which are not significant 
in any case. 

c) Cash and cash equivalents 

This heading comprises cash in hand, bank current accounts, deposits and reverse repurchase 
agreements that meet all the following criteria: 

– They are convertible into cash. 
– At time of acquisition, the item matures within three months. 
– They are not subject to significant risk of change in value. 
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– They form part of the Group's normal cash management policy. 

Other short-term, highly liquid investments are also included under this heading provided that they 
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes 
in value. 

d) Financial instruments 

d.1) Financial assets 

The Group, in accordance with IFRS 9, classifies its financial assets in the following categories: 

– Financial assets at amortised cost 
– Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
– Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

 
The precise classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. 
Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. 

Assets at amortised cost 

These are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market. They are mainly bank deposits, outstanding insurance premium receipts, debt 
securities and reinsurance receivables. Included in this category are claims on third parties arising 
from reinsurance operations. 

These financial assets are initially measured at fair value, including directly attributable transaction 
costs, and subsequently at amortised cost. Accrued interest is recognised at the effective interest 
rate, which is defined as the discount rate that exactly discounts the carrying amount of the 
instrument to its total estimated cash flows through to maturity. However, trade receivables with a 
maturity of up to one year are measured, both on initial recognition and subsequently, at nominal 
value where the effect of not discounting the flows is not material. 

At least at year end, the necessary valuation adjustments for impairment are made if there is 
objective evidence that not all the amounts owed will be recovered. 

The amount of the impairment loss incurred is the difference between the asset's carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate at the 
time of initial recognition. Value adjustments, and any reversal thereof, are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Reversal of impairment is limited to the carrying amount of 
the asset recognised at the date of the reversal had no such impairment been recorded. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the reduction can be 
objectively attributed to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an 
improvement in the debtor's credit quality), the reversal of the previously recognised impairment is 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

In this category the Group includes those financial assets that are held within a business model 
whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, 
and where the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows 
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. To qualify 
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under this business model, assets must pass the SPPI (Solely Payments of Principal and Interest) test. 

Assets are measured at fair value, which, unless there is evidence to the contrary, is equal to the 
asset's transaction price. Changes in fair value are then recognised directly in consolidated equity 
until the asset is disposed of. On disposal of assets such as debt securities, gains and losses 
accumulated in consolidated equity are carried to the Consolidated Income Statement, provided 
that the fair value of the asset can be determined. In the case of shares, the company has opted to 
avail itself of the exception provided in IFRS 9, which allows the possibility (as an irrevocable 
option) of recognising gains or losses on the sale of these instruments directly in the Group's equity. 

Expected loss 

On each statement of financial position, the Group assesses the expected loss from debt securities 
classified as financial assets at fair value through equity. IFRS 9 emphasises the need to reflect the 
current and future conditions of financial instruments, proposing the use of "forward looking" 
information, including macroeconomic information, in making estimates. Using forward looking 
models allows the mitigation of potential biases and subjectivities in the assessment of credit loss 
scenarios. Accordingly, the Group uses forward looking information based on default probabilities 
issued by external rating agencies to assess each of the issues in its portfolio, allowing it to 
consider the expectations regarding the different instruments and the current and future situations of 
these instruments. 

The estimated expected loss comprises three risk parameters. 
 

1. Probability of default (PD): The probability of default is the probability that an issuer or 
instrument will default on its credit obligations within a given period of time. In calculating 
the Expected Loss, the Group, in accordance with regulatory guidelines, applies two types 
of probabilities of default. These are: 

 
12 months PD: This is the estimated probability of a default occurring in the next 12 
months of the instrument's life from the date of analysis. 

Lifetime PD: This is the estimated probability of occurrence of a default over the 
remaining life of an instrument, i.e., the maximum contractual period over which the 
entity is exposed to credit risk, which the standard considers the maximum period 
over which expected credit losses should be measured. 

The portfolio is to be classified into different "stages" according to impairment risks: 

Stage 1: When valuing investment portfolio instruments that are in Stage 1, 12-
month PDs need to be used. The PDs for these instruments have been obtained from 
the estimate tables provided by prestigious rating agencies for a one-year term, 
according to their rating at time of valuation. 

Stage 2: This stage includes instruments whose risks are significantly impaired at 
the reporting date. The probability of default over the whole life of the instrument is 
the PD that should be used when valuing Stage 2 instruments. However, as there 
was not enough information to make any kind of internal estimation using the 
Company's databases, the decision was made to use external information for the 
allocation of PDs. In the event that an investment in Línea Directa's portfolio is 
classified as Stage 2, estimates of expected loss must use PDs derived from the 
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estimate tables provided by rating agencies of recognised prestige, taking the 
value corresponding to the lifetime of the transaction. Where the remaining term is 
longer than 15 years, the PD used will be that corresponding a 15-year term, 
which is the maximum projection term used by agencies in their estimates. 

Stage 3: The Group has determined that all instruments in its investment portfolio 
that are in default or that have undergone a specific individual analysis process that 
demonstrates objective evidence of impairment should be classified as Stage 3. 
The PD assigned to said assets should be recognised at 100%. 

2.  Loss given default (LGD): Loss Given Default is the percentage of exposure in the event of a 
default on a financial instrument. In determining this parameter, the Group calculates the 
recovery amount, net of associated expenses. 

3. Exposure at default (EAD): This parameter refers to an instrument's level of exposure on the 
date of analysis. It is the amount to which the Group is exposed in the event of a default. 
EAD is estimated using future flows from the investment updated at the valuation date. 

 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

A financial asset will be measured at fair value through profit or loss unless it is measured at 
amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income. This category includes all 
financial assets that do not pass the SPPI test and all equity not recognised as shares. 

Derecognition of financial assets 

Financial assets are derecognised from the consolidated balance sheet when all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the asset have been substantially transferred. In the specific case of 
accounts receivable, this is generally understood to occur if and when the risks of insolvency and 
default have been transferred. 

Conversely, the Group does not derecognise financial assets, and recognises a financial liability 
for an amount equal to the consideration received, on transfers of financial assets in which 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are retained. 

Derecognition of a financial asset entails the recognition, in the statement of profit or loss or in 
equity, depending on the type of asset, of the difference between the carrying amount of the 
financial asset and the consideration received, including attributable transaction costs. Any 
liabilities transferred other than the cash or asset assumed are also recognised. 

Dividend distribution 

Dividend income is recognised as income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the 
right to receive payment is established. 

Measurement of financial instruments 

On initial recognition of a financial asset, the Group measures it at fair value, adjusted for 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the purchase or issue of the asset. 

After initial recognition, the Group keeps measuring financial assets at fair value but does not 
deduct the transaction costs that may be incurred on sale, except for certain loans and receivables 
that are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
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The fair value of a financial instrument on a given date means the amount for which it could be 
bought or sold between knowledgeable, willing buyers and sellers on an arm's length basis. The 
most objective and common reference for the fair value of a financial instrument is the quoted 
prices of the instrument on an active market. 

An active market is one in which the following conditions exist simultaneously: 

– The goods or services exchanged in the market are homogeneous. 

– Buyers or sellers for a given good or service can be found at virtually any time. 

– The prices are known and readily accessible to the public. These prices must also reflect 
actual, current and regularly occurring market transactions. 

There is no need for the market to be regulated, though it must be transparent and deep. Therefore, 
prices that are known and readily accessible to the public from financial information providers, and 
that reflect actual, current and regularly occurring market transactions will be considered as valid 
prices in an active market. 

If no price can be found in an active market, the price must be estimated instead through a 
valuation model or technique, consistent with the accepted methodology used in the market for 
pricing, while maximising the use of observable market data. 

For this purpose, financial instruments have been classified into three tiers, depending on the inputs 
used to determine their fair value: 

• Tier 1: the financial instrument is valued directly on the basis of its quoted price on active 
markets, to the extent that this price is observable and can be captured from independent 
sources. 

• Tier 2: for instruments for which there is no observable price, fair value is estimated using 
valuation techniques where all significant inputs are based on observable market data 
(mainly interest rates and risk premiums). 

• Tier 3: valuation techniques relying on variables other than those obtained from 
observable market data. 

Instruments may be moved between tiers following periodic control processes and verification of 
quoted prices, as follows: 

• If the source of an asset's quoted price is no longer representative, it is moved from Tier 1 
to Tier 2. 

• Assets are moved from Tiers 2 and 3 to Tier 1 if and when a reasonable quoted price 
source is verified. 

 

• Assets are moved to Tier 3 when observable market data are no longer available. 

The Group recognises transfers between tiers in the fair value hierarchy at the date of the event or 
change in circumstances that warranted the transfer. 

d.2) Financial liabilities 

The Group classifies its financial liabilities according to the purpose for which they were acquired. 
Management determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. 
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Debt and accounts payable 

The Group uses this heading to show both trade and non-trade payables. 
 

These debts are initially recognised at fair value adjusted for directly attributable transaction costs 
and are subsequently recognised at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective 
interest rate is the discount rate that exactly discounts the carrying value of the instrument to the 
expected flow of future payments through to maturity of the liability. 

However, trade payables with a maturity not exceeding one year and that do not have a 
contractual interest rate are measured, both initially and subsequently, at their nominal value when 
the effect of not discounting the cash flows is immaterial. 

If existing debts are renegotiated, no substantial change to the financial liability will be deemed to 
exist when the present value of the cash flows of the new liability, including net fees, does not differ 
significantly from the present value of the outstanding cash flows under the original liability, both 
discounted at the effective interest rate of the latter. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities 

The Group derecognises a financial liability or part of one when it has discharged the underlying 
obligation or is otherwise legally released from the underlying responsibility, whether by virtue of a 
court ruling or by the creditor itself. 

Derecognition of a financial liability entails the recognition, in the statement of profit or loss, of the 
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability and the consideration paid, 
including attributable transaction costs. Any assets transferred other than the cash or liability 
assumed are also recognised. 

e) Hedge accounting 

Hedging derivatives are recognised under "Hedging derivatives" on the assets or liabilities side of 
the consolidated balance sheet, as appropriate. 

Hedging derivatives are derivatives whose fair value or future cash flows are intended to offset 
changes in the fair value or future cash flows of hedged items. 

Fair value hedges 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, together with any changes in the fair 
value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk. 

Cash flow hedges 

Cash flow hedges cover exposure to changes in interest flows attributable to a specific risk 
associated with interest rate fluctuations. The Group recognised no such hedging arrangements in 
2023 or 2022. 

Measuring hedge effectiveness 

In relation to derivatives held by the Group that are classified as fair value hedges, the following 
steps are taken to measure the effectiveness of the hedge: 

First, the Group defines the hedged item through a synthetic bond whose flows are equivalent to 



36 Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A., Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros and subsidiaries

2023 Consolidated Financial Statements (expressed in thousand euro)

 

 

The English version is a translation of the original in Spanish made by Linea Directa Aseguradora, S.A on his sole 
responsibility and shall not be considered official. In case of discrepancy, the Spanish version shall prevail 

the hedged portion of each government bond (Note 7-b i)). The change in the fair value of the 
synthetic bond is calculated by discounting its flows using the standard Euribor 6m curve. Lastly, it 
is confirmed that the difference between this change and the change in the fair value of the 
hedging derivative is within the parameters marked as effective hedging (80% - 125%). 

f) Property, plant and equipment and investment property 

Land, natural assets and buildings that are held to obtain income, capital gains or both and that 
are not occupied by the Group qualify as real estate investments. Land, natural assets and 
buildings held for the provision of services or for administrative purposes for own use are treated as 
property, plant and equipment. 

Property, plant and equipment and investment property are recognised at their acquisition price, 
which includes, in addition to the purchase price, all additional expenses incurred, including 
finance expenses, until the asset is put into operation. 

Asset expansion and improvement costs are added to assets as an increase in the value of the 
asset only when they result in an increase in its capacity, floor area, or return, or when they 
lengthen its useful life, whereupon the carrying amount of the replaced items is derecognised. 
Under no circumstances does repair and maintenance work qualify as improvements. 

These assets are amortised systematically on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life, 
taking into account the depreciation effectively sustained from their operation, use and enjoyment. 
The following rates are used to calculate amortisation: 

 
Property, plant and equipment and investment property  Rate 
Furniture and installations 4% - 10% 
IT equipment 10% - 25% 
Vehicles           25% 
Other property, plant and equipment 12 - 15% 
Buildings for own use             2% 
Buildings for property investment             2% 

 
The Group reviews the residual value, useful life and amortisation method of property, plant and 
equipment at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the criteria initially established are 
recognised as a change in estimates. 

At year-end, the corresponding valuation adjustments, if any, are made to property, plant and 
equipment and investment property. For the purposes of impairment, the Group assesses whether 
there is any indication of impairment at least once a year if the asset's carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. If so, the carrying amount is immediately lowered to match the recoverable 
amount. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In the case of 
property, fair value is equal to the appraisal value determined by an appraisal company authorised 
to appraise property on the mortgage market, in accordance with the provisions of Order 
ECO/805/2003 of 27 March on rules for the appraisal of property and the rights granted to 
certain financial purposes. 

Value in use is the present value of expected future cash flows through use and, as the case may 
be, disposal of the asset in the normal course of business. 
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Order ECC 371/2013 of 4 March requires insurance companies to instruct an appraisal 
company to review the valuations of their property assets once two years have elapsed from the 
previous valuation. 

Recoverable amount must be determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate 
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. If this is the 
case, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit (CGU) to which it belongs. 

Losses related to the impairment of the CGU initially reduce, where applicable, the value of the 
goodwill allocated to the CGU and subsequently to the other assets of the CGU, pro rata on the 
basis of the carrying amount of each asset, subject to the limit for each asset of the higher of its fair 
value less costs of disposal, its value in use and zero. 

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that the impairment loss 
recognised in prior periods no longer exists or may have decreased. Impairment losses are 
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable 
amount. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to profit or loss. 

However, the reversal of the loss cannot have the effect of increasing the carrying amount of the 
asset above the carrying amount it would have had, net of amortisation, had the impairment not 
been recognised. 

The amount of the reversal of the impairment loss of a CGU is allocated to the assets of the CGU 
pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of the assets, with the limit per asset being the lower 
of its recoverable amount and the carrying amount it would have had, net of amortisation, had the 
loss not been recognised. 

g) Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities: 

Identification of a lease 
The Group assesses whether a contract contains a lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, 
or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration. The period of time during which the Group uses an 
asset includes both consecutive and non-consecutive periods of time. The Group only reassesses 
the terms and conditions of a contract when it is modified. 

Lessee accounting 

For contracts containing one or more lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the 
contract consideration to each lease component according to the separate selling price of the 
lease component and the aggregate individual price of the non-lease components. Such treatment 
has not been applied to vehicles, applying the practical expedient permitted by the standard, thus 
not separating the non-lease components and accounting for the lease component and any 
associated non-lease component as a single lease component. 

Payments made by the Group that do not involve the transfer of goods or services from the lessor to 
the Group are not a separate component of the lease, but form part of the total lease 
consideration. 

The Group has elected not to apply the accounting policies set out below for short-term leases and 
those where the underlying asset has a fair value of less than five thousand euros. For such 
contracts, the Group recognises the lease expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the inception of the lease. The 
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right-of-use asset consists of the amount of the lease liability, any lease payments made on or 
before the commencement date, less incentives received, initial direct costs incurred and, as the 
case may be, an estimate of the dismantling or restoring costs to be incurred, as indicated in the 
accounting policy for provisions. 

The Group measures lease liabilities at the present value of the lease payments outstanding at the 
commencement date. The Group discounts lease payments at the appropriate incremental 
borrowing rate unless it can reliably determine the lessor's implicit interest rate. 

Lease payments payable consist of fixed payments, less any incentive receivable, variable 
payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured at the index or rate applicable at the 
commencement date, amounts expected to be payable under residual value guarantees, the 
exercise price of the purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised and payment of penalties 
for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to terminate the 
lease. 

The Group measures right-of-use assets at cost, less accumulated amortisation and impairment 
losses, adjusted for any re-estimation of lease liabilities. 

If the contract transfers ownership of the asset to the Group at the end of the lease term or the right-
of-use asset includes the purchase option price, the amortisation criteria set out in f) Property, plant 
and equipment and investment property are applied from the commencement date of the lease until 
the end of the useful life of the asset. Otherwise, the Group depreciates the right-of-use asset from 
the commencement date to the earlier of the useful life of the underlying asset or the end of the 
lease term. 

The Group applies the impairment criteria for non-current assets described in section f) Property, 
plant and equipment and investment property to right-of-use assets. 

The Group measures the lease liability by increasing it by the accrued finance expense, decreasing 
it by the payments made and re-estimating the carrying amount for lease modifications or to reflect 
updates of in-substance fixed payments. 

In 2022 and 2023, the Group did not incur any expenses for variable lease payments. 

Lessor accounting. Operating leases 

For contracts containing one or more lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the 
contract consideration as indicated in the accounting policy on income and expenses. 

The Group classifies as finance leases contracts that at inception substantially transfer the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of the assets to the lessee. Otherwise, they are classified as 
operating leases. 

The Group presents assets leased to third parties under operating leases according to their nature 
or type in accordance with the accounting principles described in section f) Property, plant and 
equipment and investment property. 

The Group recognises income from operating leases, net of incentives granted, as income over the 
lease term on a straight-line basis, unless another systematic basis of allocation is more 
representative of the pattern in which benefit from the use of the asset diminishes. 

Initial direct lease costs are included in the carrying amount of the leased asset and are recognised 
as an expense over the lease term using the same criteria as those used for income recognition. 
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The Group recognises variable payments as revenue when it is probable that they will be received, 
which is generally when the events that trigger their collection occur. 

The Group recognises modifications to operating leases as a new lease from the effective date of 
the modification, considering any prepayments or deferred payments for the original lease as part 
of the lease payments for the new lease. 

h) Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are recognised at acquisition cost or, where applicable, at production cost, less 
the corresponding amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

In particular, the following criteria apply: 

Software 

Includes amounts paid for ownership of, or the right to use software where the term of the 
arrangement exceeds one year. These assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of 
four to five years. 

For the purposes of impairment, the Group assesses whether there is any indication of impairment 
at least once a year if the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. If so, the 
carrying amount is immediately lowered to match the recoverable amount. 

The Group recognises the derecognition of an intangible asset on disposal or when it does not 
expect to receive future economic benefits from its use or disposal. The date of disposal of an 
intangible asset is the date on which the buyer acquires control of the asset. 

Other 

The Group uses this category to recognise all assets that do not qualify as software, such as 
acquired rights of use. Assets recorded in this category are considered to have an indefinite useful 
life. 

For the purposes of impairment, the Group assesses whether there is any indication of impairment 
at least once a year if the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. If so, the 
carrying amount is immediately lowered to match the recoverable amount. 

The Group recognises the derecognition of an intangible asset on disposal or when it does not 
expect to receive future economic benefits from its use or disposal. The date of disposal of an 
intangible asset is the date on which the buyer acquires control of the asset. 

i) Prepaid commissions and other capitalised acquisition expenses 

Acquisition expenses on premiums, included in the outstanding hedging liabilities on the liability 
side of the consolidated balance sheet, are deferred subject to the limit established in the technical 
notes for each product and/or segment and the maturity of the policies. 

j) Inventories 

The inventories held by the Group include mainly car spare parts from subsidiary Centro Avanzado 
de Reparaciones, S.L.U. and batteries from Línea Directa Asistencia, S.L.U. 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. When the net realisable value 
of inventories is lower than their cost, the appropriate valuation adjustments are made and 
recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. If the circumstances to 
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have caused the impairment to cease to exist, the amount of the impairment is reversed and 
recognised as income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The balance of inventories is 
shown under “Other assets” in the consolidated balance sheet (Note 11). 

k) Accrued income (assets) 

This sub-heading mainly shows the cost of certain services paid in advance by the Group and 
accrued in the following year. 

l) Liabilities under insurance contracts 

On 1 January 2023, IFRS 17 "Insurance Contracts" came into force, as discussed in Note 2f). IFRS 
17 provides a comprehensive approach to accounting for insurance contracts. IFRS 17 applies to 
insurance contracts, reinsurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participation 
for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, which is the date of first application, although 
comparative information with a transition date of 1 January 2022 is required. 

Separation of components 

The Group analyses the products it sells to determine whether any of these components are non-
insurance and whether they need to be separated and accounted for using other standards, such 
as IFRS 9 for investment components and IFRS 15 for service components. The Group has not 
identified any components that should be separated, meaning that all components are identified as 
insurance and will therefore be accounted for under IFRS 17. 

 
Level of aggregation of insurance contracts 

The standard requires entities to identify portfolios of insurance contracts separately, such that a 
portfolio comprises contracts subject to similar risks and managed together. Contracts within a 
product line can be assumed to have similar risks and, therefore, to be in the same portfolio if they 
are managed together. 

The Group determines that similar risks exist based on the characteristics of the coverage of each 
product, in view of the boundaries of the contracts. The Group considers that a group of contracts 
is jointly managed in a manner consistent with the segment grouping envisaged in IFRS 8: Segment 
Information. 

Likewise, at initial recognition, the Group does not include contracts issued more than one year 
apart in the same group. Therefore, if necessary, the Group will separate contracts on the basis of 
the year of issue, i.e., into annual cohorts. As the Group does not sell mutualised contracts on an 
intergenerational basis, or contracts with cash flow matching, it does not qualify for the exemption 
from the annual cohort requirement allowed by the standard for EU entities. 

Each contract portfolio is further broken down into three groups of contracts 

• Onerous contracts on initial recognition 

• Contracts that at initial recognition have no significant possibility of becoming 
onerous subsequently. 

• Other contracts 

Each group of contracts in the portfolio is assigned a measurement model based on its characteristics and the 
criteria set out in applicable regulations. 

 

The Group assesses whether contracts that are not onerous at initial recognition have no significant 
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possibility of becoming onerous subsequently by assessing the likelihood of changes in relevant 
facts and circumstances. 

In the case of reinsurance, the groups of contracts consist of each individual reinsurance contract. 

The Group, based on an analysis of the level of aggregation required by the standard, has 
segmented the portfolios of contracts into Motor, Home, Health and Other insurance business. This 
segmentation is in line with the segmentation reported so far under the criteria set out in IFRS 8 for 
both direct insurance and reinsurance. 

Based on the prevailing circumstances at the date of transition and the current date, the Group has 
only opted to treat the Health contract portfolio as onerous. For motor business, it is estimated that 
the technical branch will be balanced at the close with the new measures. It is therefore currently 
considered non-onerous. 

Recognition of future cash flows and contract boundaries 

The Group recognises groups of insurance contracts it issues from the earliest of the following 
dates: 

a) The start of the coverage period for the group of contracts; 
b) The date on which the first payment is due from a policyholder in the group; and 

c) In the case of onerous groups of contracts, the date on which the group becomes onerous. 

If there is no contractual due date, the policyholder's first payment is considered due when it is 
received. 

When measuring a group of insurance contracts, the Group counts all future cash flows within the 
boundaries of each contract in the group. 

 

Cash flows are within the boundary of an insurance contract if they arise from substantive rights 
and obligations that exist during the reporting period in which the Group can compel the 
policyholder to pay the premiums or in which the Group has a substantive obligation to provide the 
policyholder with insurance contract services, i.e., has the practical ability to reassess the risks of 
the particular policyholder. 

Measurement models for contracts issued 

The implementation of IFRS 17 has required consistent accounting for all insurance contracts based 
on the measurement models provided for in the standard, which will use calculation assumptions 
updated at each reporting date (such as the discount rate, actuarial assumptions and other 
financial variables). 

With the aim of standardising international insurance accounting practices, IFRS 17 envisions three 
measurement models for insurance contracts: 

 
• General measurement model (Building Block Approach, or BBA), which is the 

default method. 
 

• Variable Fee Approach (VFA), which is a variant of the general model (BBA) and 
should be applied to contracts with significant direct participation features. 

 
• Premium Allocation Approach (PAA), which is essentially a simplification of the 

general model. 
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Measurement method for contracts under the Premium Allocation Approach 

The standard simplifies the measurement of a group of insurance contracts through the Premium 
Allocation Approach if, and only if, at the beginning of the group: 

 
a) The Group reasonably expects that such simplification will result in a measurement of the 

group's remaining coverage liability that is not materially different from that which would be 
obtained by applying the requirements of the general model; 

b) or the coverage period of each group contract is one year or less. 
 

The Group’s insurance contracts currently have a duration of one year or less, thus allowing the 
Group to apply the Premium Allocation Approach (PAA) measurement model to all groups of 
insurance contracts issued. 

Amendment and derecognition of an insurance contract 

If the terms of an insurance contract are amended, the Group derecognises the original contract 
and recognises the modified contract as a new contract, applying IFRS 17 or other applicable 
standards, if, and only if, any of the following conditions are satisfied: 

a) If the amended terms were foreseen at the inception of the contract: 
 

I. The amended contract would have been outside the scope of IFRS 17. 
II. Different components of the main insurance contract would have been separated, 

resulting in a separate insurance contract to which IFRS 17 would have been 
applied. 

III. the boundaries of the amended contract would have been substantially different. 
IV. the amended contract would have been included in a different group of contracts. 

 
b) The original contract met the definition of an insurance contract with direct participation 
features, but the amended contract no longer meets that definition, or vice versa; 

 
c) The Premium Allocation Approach was applied to the terms of the original contract, but, as 
a result of the amendments, the contract no longer meets the conditions for the application of 
that criterion. 

 
Therefore, the Group shall derecognise an insurance contract when the obligation indicated in the 
insurance contract expires, has been satisfied or cancelled, or when the contract is substantively 
amended by any of the circumstances described in the preceding paragraph. 

Liability for remaining coverage 

Under the Premium Allocation Approach, at initial recognition, the liability for remaining coverage 
consists of: 

 
• Premiums received on initial recognition correspond to premiums written minus 

premium receipts receivable and premium instalments to be issued. 
 

• Less cash flows from the acquisition of the insurance at that date. 
 

• Plus or minus any amount arising from the derecognition at that date of the asset or 
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liability recognised for the cash flows from the acquisition of the insurance. 
 

The components that make up the liability for remaining coverage are not adjusted for the time 
value of money and the effect of financial risk, as the cash flows to be paid or received are less 
than one year. 

As all insurance contracts issued have a coverage period not exceeding one year, the Group may 
elect to recognise insurance acquisition cash flows as an expense when such costs are incurred or 
capitalised. The Group has chosen to allocate insurance acquisition cash flows to groups of 
insurance contracts using a systematic method over the period of coverage of the contracts. 

This criterion has had no impact on the Group’s results with respect to that applied under IFRS 4, 
although its classification in the consolidated balance sheet will be as a reduction of the liability for 
remaining coverage, rather than being shown as an asset for the portion of deferred acquisition 
expenses. 

If, at any time during the coverage period, the prevailing circumstances indicate that a segment 
has become onerous in nature, the Group shall calculate the difference between the carrying 
amount of the liability for remaining coverage and the cash flows arising from performance related 
to the remaining coverage of the group. If the cash flows from compliance exceed the carrying 
amount, the Group recognises a loss in profit or loss and increases the liability for remaining 
coverage. 

The application of the Premium Allocation Approach means that the measurement and recognition 
of the liability for remaining coverage will be performed in a substantially similar manner as under 
the previous IFRS 4 framework and will not, therefore, have a material impact on the Group's 
results. 

Loss component 

A loss component will be provided for those groups of contracts that the Company considers to be 
onerous. The loss component will be included in the outstanding hedging liability. The Group will 
assess onerousness based on the facts and circumstances observed during the current and 
subsequent financial years, considering onerousness exists when the group of contracts has a 
combined ratio of more than 100%. Should this be the case, an onerousness test will be carried 
out and a loss component will be assessed on the basis of experience and future prospects. 

The loss component is obtained by applying an onerousness ratio to insurance contract revenues 
measured under PAA, based on the estimated revenues and expenses allocated to a group of 
contracts. 

Liabilities for incurred claims 

The liability for claims incurred comprises cash flows from the fulfilment of claims incurred that have 
not been paid. It also includes incurred but not reported claims. These flows are adjusted for the 
time value of money and the effect of financial risk. The non-financial risk adjustment is also 
incorporated into this liability for claims incurred. The calculation of liability for claims incurred 
under the Premium Allocation Approach is equivalent to the calculation made under the general 
method. However, the effect of changes in the discount curve and part of the credit of interest will 
be recognised in equity. The components of liabilities for claims incurred are as follows: 

– Estimating future cash flows: The Group estimates future cash flows based on a Best 
Estimate assumption and in line with Solvency II regulations. Future cash flow projections 
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are based on past statistical information to which statistical methods based on the Group's 
expert judgement are applied. 

– Risk adjustment for non-financial risk: Risk adjustment for non-financial risk: The Group 
adjusts its estimation of the present value of future cash flows through risk adjustment to 
compensate for any uncertainty regarding the amount and timing of cash flows arising from 
non-financial risk. The group has agreed to use a percentile methodology in calculating risk 
adjustments. In the Motor segment, calculations will be made using the Merz & Wüthrich 
stochastic methodology. In the case of Home and Health contract groups, calculations will 
be made using the standard deviation obtained by equating the 99.5% percentile to the 
sum of the Best Estimate and the reserve SCR. The Group has chosen to maintain for all 
segments a risk adjustment corresponding to the 85% compliant percentile under the Value-
at-Risk methodology. 

In the case of the liability risk adjustment for the remaining coverage, it is currently not 
applicable since, as mentioned above, the Group relies on the Premium Allocation 
Approach (PAA) measurement method for all insurance and reinsurance contracts. 

– Discount rate: The Group measures the financial effect by the time effect, using discount 
rates that reflect the liquidity characteristics of the insurance contracts and the characteristics 
of the cash flows, consistent with current market prices and excluding any factors that could 
influence the market prices of the reference assets but do not affect the flows of the 
insurance contracts. 

The Group calculates the discount rate using the bottom-up approach based on the risk-free 
curve, and relying on the curve published monthly by EIOPA (European Insurance and 
Occupational Pensions Authority). 

The components of the remaining coverage provision are not discounted using the discount 
rate as they are less than one year, while the cash flows and risk adjustment that make up 
the liability for claims incurred are discounted using the discount rate because they have a 
time horizon of more than one year. 

The Group has opted to recognise financial expenses or income from insurance contracts 
arising from the application of the discount rate in "other comprehensive income" under 
"Valuation adjustments" in equity in the consolidated balance sheet. 

m) Assets under reinsurance contracts 

The Group evaluates and measures reinsurance contracts held separately from the related 
underlying insurance contracts. 

The Group divides portfolios of reinsurance contracts based on whether or not they are onerous, 
applying the same criteria as for direct insurance contracts, except that references to onerous 
contracts in those paragraphs are replaced by references to contracts with a net gain on initial 
recognition. 

The Group recognises reinsurance contracts held as of the earliest of the following dates: 

a) the beginning of the period of cover of the reinsurance contracts held; 
 

b) the date on which the Group recognises an onerous group of underlying insurance 
contracts, if the Group entered into the related reinsurance contract held on or before that 
date. 
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However, the Group defers recognition of a group of held reinsurance contracts that provide 
proportionate coverage until the date of initial recognition of any underlying contract, if that date is 
after the beginning of the coverage period of the group of reinsurance contracts held.c 

The valuation methods for reinsurance contracts held are the same as for insurance contracts, as 
are the requirements for applying the simplified Premium Allocation Approach. With the exception 
of one proportional reinsurance contract in the health segment, all reinsurance contracts held have 
a duration of one year or less and the Group has therefore decided to apply the simplified model 
in their case. The Group has performed an eligibility test for that multi-year proportionate contract, 
confirming that the application of the simplified model generates a measurement of the Group's 
liability for remaining coverage that does not differ significantly from that which would be obtained 
by applying the general approach. Therefore, the Group has decided to apply the PAA model 
also to this reinsurance contract. 

The Group includes the effect of any risk of default by the issuer in its estimates of the present value 
of the future cash flows from reinsurance contracts held, including the effects of collateral and losses 
resulting from litigation. 

Reinsurance contracts held measured under the Premium Allocation Approach 

All reinsurance contracts are valued on a Premium Allocation basis. Under this method, the initial 
measurement of the asset is equal to the reinsurance premium paid. The Group measures the 
amount relating to the remaining coverage by allocating the premium paid over the period of the 
group's coverage. 

When reinsurance contracts held cover a group of onerous underlying insurance contracts, the 
Group adjusts the asset value for the remaining coverage and recognises a gain when, in the 
same period, it reports a loss on initial recognition of an onerous group of underlying insurance 
contracts, or on additional losses on a previously onerous group of underlying contracts. The 
recognition of this gain results in the recognition of the loss recovery component of the asset for the 
remaining coverage of a group of reinsurance contracts held. This component is subsequently 
adjusted for any applicable changes. 

n) Provisions and contingencies 

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations arising from past events whose materialisation is 
conditional upon the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events beyond the 
Group's control. These contingent liabilities are not recognised in the accounts, though they may be 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

Provisions are recognised for obligations such as litigation in progress, indemnities or other 
obligations of undetermined amount or timing when the Group has a present obligation as a result 
of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation based on a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of the best possible estimate of the amount required to 
settle or transfer the obligation, taking into account available information on the event and its 
consequences. Any adjustments arising from the updating of these provisions are recognised as a 
financial expense as it accrues. If the liabilities mature within one year, they are recognised at the 
nominal value of the obligation. 

Meanwhile, compensation to be received from a third party at the time the obligation is settled —
provided there is no doubt that such reimbursement will be received— is recognised as an asset, 
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except where there is a legal relationship through which part of the risk has been externalised and 
by virtue of which the Group is not liable. In this situation, the compensation will be taken into 
account when estimating the amount at which the corresponding provision, if any, should be 
posted. 

o) Equity 

The share capital is represented by common shares. The costs of issuing new shares are charged 
directly to equity, as a reduction in reserves. 

Where the Parent's own shares are acquired, the consideration paid, including any directly 
attributable incremental costs, is deducted from consolidated equity until the shares are redeemed, 
reissued or otherwise disposed of. When these shares are sold or subsequently reissued, any 
amount received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs, is taken to 
consolidated equity. 

As part of its capital management policy, the Línea Directa Group aims to maintain a strong capital 
position. 

The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the control and management of the Group's risks 
and solvency, and therefore monitors the Group's capital position, solvency requirements and 
available solvency. 

Capital management is aimed at ensuring that the Group has sufficient capitalisation to meet its 
financial obligations; optimising its capital structure through an efficient allocation of resources and 
managing capital adequacy taking into account the economic and accounting information, as well 
as capital requirements and targets set in the risk appetite framework. 

To achieve this, the Group carries out an annual Own Risk and Solvency Assessment (ORSA), 
based on the outlook for the Group's business and the market. This allows the Group to 
prospectively project its assets and liabilities and earnings, which in turn can be used to evaluate 
the likely future performance of the various risks under management, quantify them and estimate 
changes in solvency and available solvency requirements. 

The Parent is required to quantify its solvency ratio, meaning the ratio between available own funds 
and the solvency capital requirement. The Group is not required to calculate a solvency ratio at 
Group level as it does not meet the definition of group obligations set out in the Solvency Directive. 

The calculation of the Solvency Capital Requirement is regulated by Directive 2009/138 of the 
European Parliament and of the Council of 25 November 2009 on the taking-up and pursuit of the 
business of Insurance and Reinsurance (Solvency II), as implemented by Commission Delegated 
Regulation 2015/35 of 10 October 2014 supplementing Directive 2009-138 EC and its 
subsequent amendments. 

The Solvency Capital Requirement is calculated for the following sub-risks which are the main sub-
risks of an insurance company: underwriting risk, market risk, counterparty risk and operational risk. 

The aim is to maintain an adequate level of solvency. When determining the adequate level of 
solvency, the risk profile, the results of capital planning for the coming years at the Company at an 
individual level, the minimum levels required by the regulations and the existing criteria and 
regulations for optimal capital management were all taken into consideration. The Parent's solvency 
ratio was 180% in 2023 and 188% in 2022. 
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p) Non-technical income and expenditure 

Non-technical income 

The Group has other revenue not derived from the insurance business, such as roadside assistance 
services or vehicle repairs and appraisals, all of which are provided to third parties outside the 
Group, as well as commissions on the sale of insurance products of other entities, remuneration for 
call forwarding and income from credit card surcharges. 

This revenue, in accordance with IFRS 15, is recognised as the performance obligation identified 
in the customer contract is satisfied. The Group recognises revenue at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable to which it expects to be entitled for the goods or services 
transferred. 

Non-technical income and expenses are recognised as they accrue and taking into account the 
correlation between the income generated and the corresponding expenses. 

q) Income and expenses 

Income is recorded at the fair value of the consideration to be received and represents amounts 
receivable for goods delivered and services rendered in the ordinary course of the Group's 
business, less discounts and value added tax. Expenses are recognised as they accrue and taking 
into account the correlation between the income generated and the corresponding expenses. 

However, the Group only records profits that have realised by year-end, while foreseeable risks 
and possible losses arising in the year or in a previous year are reported as soon as they become 
known. 

Financial income and expenses arising from investments related to insurance activity are recognised 
in the statement of profit or loss for the non-life insurance business. The remainder is recorded in the 
statement of profit or loss for other activities. 

Other income and expenses are distributed accordingly on the basis of net premiums written, 
except expenses attributable to claims, which are recognised on the basis of the provision for 
claims. 

Direct insurance 

Business premiums are recognised as income over the term of the contracts on an accruals basis 
and are accrued by posting the provision for unearned premiums. 

Reinsurers' share 

Premiums from ceded reinsurance are recognised on the basis of the reinsurance contracts 
underwritten and by applying the same criteria used for direct insurance. 

Reclassification of expenditure by destination, eligible and non-eligible 

IFRS 17 requires that expenses that are eligible to be directly allocated to both the groups of 
contracts and to the insurance business should be allocated to the groups of contracts. 

 

The reclassification of expenses by type to expenses by purpose has been made on the basis of 
the following criteria: 

• Purpose-specific costs incurred have been classified directly as such. 
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• Staff expenses are distributed according to the percentage of estimated dedication to 
each of the purposes. 

• Costs that cannot be charged directly are distributed according to the estimated 
percentage of staff dedication to each purpose. 

The following purposes have been established: 

• Claims-related expenses 
• Acquisition expenses 
• Administration expenses 

 
Expenses have been allocated to the different segments based on the Business Unit at which the 
activity originated. 

r) Termination benefits upon dismissal 

In accordance with current legislation, the Group is obligated to pay compensation to those 
employees whose employment relationship is terminated under certain conditions. Therefore, 
termination payments that can be reasonably quantified are recognised as an expense in the year 
in which the decision is taken and a valid expectation is created vis-à-vis third parties regarding the 
dismissal. A liability is recognised under the sub-heading "Provisions other than technical provisions" 
when the disbursement has not been made. 

s) Employee benefits 

The Group has post-employment pension obligations classified as defined contribution plans and 
as defined benefit plans. 

The Group's obligations with its employees with regard to retirement or similar pension plans are 
fully externalised, in compliance with the legislation in force regarding the externalisation of 
pension obligations (Royal Decree 1588/1999 of 15 October, approving the Regulations on the 
externalisation of company pension obligations with employees and beneficiaries). 

The aforementioned insurance policies are considered "plan assets" as they are not owned by the 
Group, but rather by a separate legal entity that is not a related party, as they are only available to 
pay or finance employee remuneration and as they cannot return to the Group, except where the 
assets attached to the plan are sufficient to honour all of the obligations. 

This collective bargaining agreement also includes coverage for death and disability of employees 
during the period in which they remain in active service. 

Defined contributions 

The current General State Collective Agreement for Insurance, Reinsurance and Occupational 
Accident Mutual Societies ushers in a new employee benefits system implemented through a 
collective life insurance policy suitable for the externalisation of pension commitments in 
accordance with the provisions of Royal Decree 1588/1999, of 29 November. The Group will 
contribute an annual premium per employee of 1.9% of their base salary to this insurance policy by 
no later than 30 September of each year, bearing in mind that employees who had provided 
services at the same company for three years or more will be entitled to have their vested rights 
recognised in the insurance policy. 

This insurance policy will apply to employees hired from 1 January 2017 onward and those who 
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have voluntarily opted to transfer to this new modality. For employees adhered to the old plan who 
opted to avail themselves of this option, there was a transfer of the mathematical reserve. 

The Group has also assumed a retirement commitment with certain executives, which has been 
externalised in the form of an insurance policy. 

The Group records the contributions to be made to defined contribution plans progressively as the 
employees render their services. The amount of accrued contributions is recorded as an employee 
benefits expense and as a liability after deducting any amounts already paid. In the event that the 
amounts paid exceed the accrued expense, the corresponding assets are only recognised to the 
extent that they can be applied to reductions in future payments or result in a cash refund. 

Defined benefit plans 

Employees hired prior to 1 January 2017 may choose between the system described above and 
the financial incentive for retirement, whereby if an employee asks to retire in the month in which he 
or she reaches the normal retirement age defined by Social Security legislation to be eligible for the 
retirement pension, the company will pay, in a lump sum, an amount equal to one month of salary 
per five years of service, capped at 10 months, the limit of which will be reached at 30 years of 
service at the company where the employee is retiring. 

The Group includes in defined benefit plans those funded through the payment of insurance 
premiums where there is a legal or constructive obligation to pay benefits directly to employees 
when they fall due or to pay additional amounts if the insurer fails to pay benefits for services 
rendered by employees in the year or in prior years. 

The defined benefit liability recognised in the consolidated balance sheet is the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation existing at the balance sheet date, less the fair value of plan assets at 
that date. 

The expense or income relating to defined benefit plans is recognised under employee benefits 
expenses and is obtained by adding the net amount of the current year services cost and the net 
interest cost of the net defined benefit liability or asset. The remeasured amount of the net defined 
benefit liability or asset is recognised in other comprehensive income. This amount comprises 
actuarial gains and losses, the net return on plan assets and any changes in the effects of the asset 
ceiling, excluding amounts included in the net interest on the liability or asset. The costs of 
administering plan assets and any plan-specific taxes, beyond those included in the actuarial 
assumptions, are deducted from the net return on plan assets. Amounts deferred in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to retained earnings in the same period. 

In addition, if the plan assets include eligible insurance policies whose cash flows correspond 
exactly in amounts and timing to some or all of the benefits payable under the plan, their fair value 
is equal to the present value of the related payment obligations. 

Payments for share-based services and goods 

The Group’s Chief Executive Officer and members of the Management Committee are party to an 
extraordinary share-based remuneration plan under which the Parent is the parent company, 
following its stock market listing. The purpose of this plan, which was approved at the Annual 
General Meeting held on 18 March 2021, is to offer beneficiaries the possibility of receiving a 
certain number of shares over the three years following the Parent's stock market flotation (Note 23-
c). 
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The Group recognises services received in a transaction with share-based payments at the time 
such services are received. Since the services are settled in equity instruments, a decrease in equity 
is recognised. 

The Group recognises transactions with share-based payments settled through the Group's equity 
instruments for the fair value of the goods or services received, unless such fair value cannot be 
reliably estimated, in which case the value is determined by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments delivered. 

Deliveries of equity instruments in consideration of services provided by Employees of the Group or 
third parties providing similar services are valued by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments offered. 

t) Related-party transactions 

As a general rule, transactions between related parties are initially recognised at fair value. If the 
agreed price differs from its fair value, the difference is recorded to reflect the economic reality of 
the transaction. These transactions are subsequently measured in accordance with the relevant 
standards. 

u) Foreign currency transactions 

The functional currency at all Group companies is the euro. Consequently, transactions in non-euro 
currencies are deemed to be denominated in foreign currency and are recognised at the exchange 
rates prevailing on the relevant transaction date. 

At year-end, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are converted into 
euro at the exchange rate prevailing at the consolidated balance sheet date. The profit or loss for 
the year is taken to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

Changes in the fair value of money instruments denominated in foreign currency classified as 
available for sale are analysed for translation differences resulting from exchange changes in the 
amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount. The translation difference 
is recognised in consolidated profit and loss and other changes in the carrying amount are taken to 
consolidated equity. 

v) Income tax 

Corporate income tax expense is the amount accruing in the year for that tax, comprising both 
current and deferred tax expense. 

 

Both current and deferred tax expense are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss. However, the tax effect related to items that are recorded directly in consolidated equity is 
recognised in consolidated equity. 

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amounts expected to be paid to, or recovered 
from, the tax authorities in accordance with prevailing legislation or approved and pending 
publication at year-end. 

If the Group believes that it is probable that the tax authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, 
the Group will determine tax gain (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits or tax 
rates in a manner consistent with the tax treatment used or expected to be used in its income tax 
returns. 
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If the Group believes that it is not probable that the tax authority will accept an uncertain tax 
treatment, the Group will reflect the effect of the uncertainty when calculating the related tax gain 
(tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses or unused tax credits or tax rates. The Group will reflect the 
effect of the uncertainty of each uncertain tax treatment using the most likely amount or the expected 
value of the probability-weighted amounts, as applicable in each case. 

In accordance with IFRIC 23, the Group recognises under current and deferred tax assets and 
liabilities the amounts that the entity estimates to reflect contingencies arising from litigation with the 
tax authorities in relation to corporate income tax. 

Deferred taxes are calculated, using the liability method, on the temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of the assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts. 

 

Deferred tax is determined by applying the tax regulations and rates approved or about to be 
approved at the consolidated balance sheet date and that are expected to apply when the 
corresponding deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is recognised on 
temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the Parent is able to 
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the reversal will 
not occur in the foreseeable future. 

w) Statement of cash flows 

The Group uses the following classification criteria when drawing up its consolidated statement of 
cash flows: 

• Cash flows: inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents (i.e. short-term, highly 
liquid investments which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value). Cash 
and cash equivalents means the balances included under "Cash and cash equivalents" in 
the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. 

• Operating activities: typical activities of insurance institutions, as well as other activities 
that cannot be classified as investing or financing activities. 

• Investing activities: the acquisition, sale and disposal of long-term assets and other 
investments not included in cash equivalents. 

• Financing activities: activities that result in changes in the size and composition of equity 
and liabilities that do not form part of operating activities. 
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4. Scope of consolidation 

Subsidiaries are all companies over which the Parent exercises direct or indirect control [see Note 
3a)]. Subsidiaries are considered from the date on which control is transferred to the Parent and 
are excluded from consolidation on the date on which consolidation ceases. 

The list of entities included in the scope of consolidation is as follows: 
 

Company name % direct holding  Relationship Method of consolidation  Activity Address Auditor 

Línea Directa Asistencia, 
S.L.U. 100% Subsidiary Fully consolidated 

Valuations, vehicle 
inspections and roadside 

assistance 
Madrid PriceWaterhouseCoop

ers Auditores S.L. 

Moto Club LDA, S.L.U. 100% Subsidiary Fully consolidated Services for motorcycle users Tres Cantos, 
Madrid 

PriceWaterhouseCoop
ers Auditores, S.L.(*) 

Centro Avanzado de 
Reparaciones, S.L.U. 

100% Subsidiary Fully consolidated Vehicle repairs 
Torrejón de Ardoz, 

Madrid 
PriceWaterhouseCoop

ers Auditores, S.L. 

Ambar Medline, S.L.U. 100% Subsidiary Fully consolidated Insurance brokerage Tres Cantos, 
Madrid 

PriceWaterhouseCoop
ers Auditores, S.L. (*). 

LDActivos, S.L.U. 100% Subsidiary Fully consolidated Asset management on behalf 
of insurance companies 

Tres Cantos, 
Madrid 

PriceWaterhouseCoop
ers Auditores, S.L.(*) 

LDA Reparaciones, 
S.L.U. (Liquidated) 

100% Subsidiary Fully consolidated 
Management and repair of 
claims, specialising in home 

repairs 

Tres Cantos, 
Madrid 

 

 

(*) Limited review of condensed annual accounts. 

All significant balances and transactions between consolidated companies have been eliminated in 
the consolidation process. 

In November 2023, the subsidiary LDA Reparaciones ceased its activity. Its effect on the 
consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2023 is therefore nil, and its 
accumulated result for the year is included in the Group's consolidated statement of profit or loss for 
the year. 

There were no changes in the scope of consolidation in 2022. 
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5. Risk management 

The organisational structure of risk management and control at Línea Directa Aseguradora is based 
upon the principles of independence and segregation of duties between business units and risk 
monitoring and control units. 

The Board of Directors is the body responsible for the administration, governance and 
representation of the company in accordance with the duties assigned to it by law, the Bylaws and 
the Board Regulations. Its members possess the appropriate professional qualifications, expertise 
and experience and likewise meet the requirements of good repute required under Law 20/2015, 
of 14 July, on the regulation, supervision and solvency of insurance and reinsurance companies, 
and by Línea Directa Aseguradora’s own Fitness and Propriety Policy. 

The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for determining the risk control and management 
policy, including tax risks, and for overseeing internal reporting and control systems. It also 
establishes and defines the risk appetite, sets limits for the identified risks, and sees to it that they 
are properly monitored and managed. 

The Board of Directors has two advisory committees. In relation to risk management, the Audit and 
Compliance Committee is responsible, among other functions, for knowing, supervising and 
assessing the process of drawing up and ensuring the integrity of financial and non-financial 
information, along with the systems for the control and management of the financial and non-
financial risks of the Parent and, where appropriate, the Group — including operational, 
technological, cybersecurity, legal, social, environmental, political and reputational or corruption 
— by reviewing compliance with regulatory requirements, establishing the precise scope of the 
consolidation perimeter and ensuring the correct application of accounting standards. 

In line with best good governance practices and with the provisions of the current regulatory 
framework, Internal Audit at Línea Directa is an independent area within the organisation. In 
accordance with the Bylaws and the Rules and Regulations of the Board of Directors, the Internal 
Audit function is functionally attached and reports to the Audit and Compliance Committee and is 
administratively subordinate to the Chairman of the Board of Directors. 

Internal Audit seeks to ensure that the Company complies with regulatory requirements and 
achieves its strategic objectives and works to make the risk management processes and internal 
control framework more effective and efficient by providing a systematic and disciplined risk-based 
approach. The scope of such activities to be performed by the Internal Audit function and its own 
strategic objectives shall be determined by the Internal Audit Department, subject to the approval of 
the Audit Committee, as an independent area within the Group. 

As a result of the organisational changes made in 2022, Línea Directa Aseguradora now has a 
Corporate Risks area, which brings together, within the same department, the rest of the key 
functions required under Solvency II: Risks, Compliance and Actuarial Function. The Risks 
Management Department also features Financial Reporting Control (ICFR) teams. The mission of the 
area is to build a global risk map of the Company and optimise the control environment so as to 
ensure the reliable assessment and identification of risks and their integration into forecasts and 
decision-making. 

To ensure adequate management and control of each risk, the Company has built various levels of 
management or defence: 

 

- A management unit directly responsible for its day-to-day or current management, acting as 
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the first line of defence. 

- A set of committees, each responsible for identifying, managing and reporting on risks. By 
virtue of their composition and functions, these committees have executive functions in that 
they make decisions in relation to the risks they manage. 

- Control functions as the second line of defence, meaning the Risk Management function, 
the Actuarial function, the Compliance function and ICFR. 

- An oversight function as the third line of defence, in the form of the Internal Audit function. 

Without prejudice to the functions ascribed to the Board of Directors and its committees in the 
Board Regulations, Linea Directa Aseguradora has established a system of committees there to 
support the achievement of the strategic objectives and provide the Board of Directors, directly or 
through its committees, with all the information they need to make well-informed decisions. 

The various committees are responsible for ensuring the proper implementation, maintenance and 
monitoring of the risk management system in accordance with the guidelines set out by the Board 
of Directors. 

The most important committees to risk management are as follows: 

Standing Risk Committee: responsible for facilitating and monitoring the implementation of effective 
risk management practices at the Línea Directa Aseguradora Group through the reporting of risks 
by the first lines of defence. It is tasked with controlling and monitoring risks by ensuring that Línea 
Directa has an adequate level of internal control compatible with the Group’s standards and 
compliant with applicable law and regulations. 

The Standing Risk Committee, through the Chief Risk Officer, will maintain fluid and constant 
communication with the Audit and Compliance Committee. To achieve this, each of the key 
functions and the Action Plans will be reported to the committee on a quarterly basis and its prior 
consent will be sought for risks that could have a significant impact on the Group were they to 
materialise, whether financial or reputational, or that could lead to the Company being held 
criminally liable. 

The Reserves and Claims Committee: responsible for reserve and reinsurance credit risk 
management, claims monitoring and for drawing up the reinsurance table. It regularly reports to the 
Audit and Compliance Committee, through the Chief Financial Officer. 

The Investment Committee is governed by the Investment Policy, as approved by the Board of 
Directors. It is chaired by the Chief Executive Officer and its functions include, among others, 
ensuring that investments are made in accordance with the Investment Objectives approved by 
Línea Directa's Board of Directors, and also in accordance with the Investment Policy. 

The Investment Committee reports to the Board of Directors through the Chief Financial Officer. In 
any case, the Audit and Compliance Committee shall be regularly informed of all investment 
transactions approved by the Investment Committee or, as the case may be, by the Chief Financial 
Officer, thus contributing to the fulfilment of the Audit and Compliance Committee’s role of 
overseeing the process of drawing up and ensuring the integrity of financial and non-financial 
information. 

This structure guarantees: 

- Adequate control, management and reporting of all risks at various levels of “defence”. 
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- Risks are monitored and reported both vertically and horizontally by both dependent 
bodies and independent control functions. 

- Adequate escalation of reporting, control and decision-making. 

- There are various levels of responsibility for and knowledge and control of risks, up to the 
Group's highest governance level. 

The Group Risk Map is the tool that charts all identified risks, and sets out the measures used to 
assess and control them. 

 

As part of its risk management system, the Parent Company carries out the Own Risk and Solvency 
Assessment (ORSA), which shows the risk profile of Línea Directa Aseguradora S.A. and is 
essentially a risk management tool that helps to provide a comprehensive and complete view of all 
the risks inherent to the business. Decision-useful stress scenarios are defined as part of this process. 
The Audit and Compliance Committee steers the process and verifies and approves the results. The 
ORSA report contains a projection of capital consumption and available capital for the three-year 
time horizon. 

Risk reporting and information mechanisms 

The Corporate Risk Management Department collates all of the Group’s risk information for regular 
reporting to the Audit and Compliance Committee. It also reports the status of the key risk indicators 
(KRI scorecard) to enable proper oversight by the Group's management bodies. 

The regular risk reports are as follows: 

- The Corporate Risk Department reports monthly to the Management Committee on the 
status of the Group’s risks, on the results of control tests and on any key risk indicators (KRIs) 
that exceed the established thresholds. 

- The Corporate Risks Department reports to the Audit and Compliance Committee on the 
most significant risks present on the Company's risk map, the control tests carried out, the 
status of recommendations and the performance of KRIs. 

- The Internal Audit function attends meetings of the Audit and Compliance Committee as a 
guest and reports to it on a quarterly basis. 

The main risks that could affect the achievement of the Group's objectives can be broken down as 
follows: 

a) Credit risk 

The Group views credit risk as the threat of possible loss or adverse change in financial conditions 
resulting from fluctuations in the solvency or creditworthiness of issuers of securities, counterparties 
and any debtors to which the Group is exposed. 

Given the nature of the Group's activities, its exposure to credit risk arises from the following 
factors: 

• Reinsurance (credit risk exposure with reinsurance entities). 
• Premium financing (credit risk exposure with customers). 

• Investment and lending activities (credit risk exposure with security issuers). 

The counterparties with which the Group acquires or may acquire significant positions must 
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invariably undergo a prior scoring process. These counterparties include companies that provide 
insurance for large vehicle fleets and, in particular, reinsurance companies. For the latter, a 
minimum credit rating of "A-" is required as a prerequisite for inclusion within the reinsurance 
programme. Exceptions to this solvency threshold, together with the reinsurance table for each 
year, are expressly approved by the Board of Directors. 

 

 2023 2022 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Debt securities with changes in equity 

Assets at amortised cost 

41,746 

759,821 

15,456 

51,661

618,778

123,448

Total 817,023 793,887

When it comes to investments, the Investment Committee approves new investment lines and 
verifies compliance with the Investment Guidelines. 

The rating of debt securities, cash and cash equivalents is an average rating of that assigned to the 
issuer by three of the main rating agencies (Moody's, Fitch and DBRS) and presents the following 
classification at the end of 2023 and 2022: 

 

 2023 2022 
AAA 55,512 13,304 
AA 55,624 11,264 
A 324,000 271,885 
BBB 305,885 301,197 
BB 12,740 10,359 
B - - 
N/R 6,060 10,769 

Total debt securities with changes in equity 759,821 618,778 
 

Unrated positions are mainly composed of representative debt securities whose issuer does not 
have a rating, but which nevertheless have an issue rating appropriate to the Group's investment 
policies. 

 

 2023 2022 
A 41,733 40,671 
BBB 10 10,990 
BB - - 
N/R 3 - 
Total cash and cash equivalents 41,746 51,661 

The impairment losses recognised at year-end 2023 and 2022 are described in Note 7a) i. 
 

At year-end 2023 and 2022, there were no non-performing balances that were not impaired. 

In addition, up until November 2022, the Group had a monetary guarantee covering a public 
debt repo transaction (assignment with repurchase agreement of government bonds). Further 
information on this matter can be found in Note 7b) i. 

The Group estimates a provision to cover possible non-payment of outstanding premium receipts 
and unissued premium receipts. It is included on the consolidated balance sheet, as part of the 
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provision for outstanding coverage, reducing its amount. These estimated amounts are as follows: 
 

 2023 2022 
Receipts pending collection and fractions to be issued 
Provision for premiums receivable and to be issued 

62,782 
(1,181) 

59,485 
(961) 

 61,601 58,524 

 
The impairment of premiums receivable and to be issued is calculated on the part of the tariff 
premiums accrued in the financial year net of the loading for contingencies which, foreseeably and 
in accordance with lessons learned from previous years, is not going to be collected. This will 
depend on the age of the premiums and, as the case may be, the current status of the claim before 
the courts. Note that certain premium receipts may require special treatment due to their unique 
characteristics or features. 

b) Liquidity risk 

The Group treats liquidity risk as the potential temporary inability to honour its payment obligations 
within the agreed timeframes, due to such obligations maturing before receivables from customers 
fall due or before financial investments reach maturity. The Group generates daily liquidity from 
premium income. 

The Group manages liquidity risk prudently. The Group is committed at all times to having sufficient 
liquidity to be able to honour its payments to suppliers, policyholders and counterparties in due 
course. Consequently, cash management is always carried out with the utmost prudence, avoiding 
at all times any possible overdraft or overlimit situation. Therefore, forecasts are systematically 
drawn up of expected cash generation and cash requirements, which enable the Group's liquidity 
position to be determined and monitored on an ongoing basis. 

In 2022 and 2023, it distributed several interim dividends (Note 15-d) which has had an impact 
on the Company’s liquidity. 

The debts shown under the heading “Liabilities at amortised cost” fall due in less than one year for 
both 2023 and 2022. 

The maturities of lease liabilities at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are described in Note 9-b. 

The table below shows the estimated timing of disbursements for insurance liabilities recognised at 
31 December 2023 and 2022: 

2023 
 

Estimated cash outflows in the periods                                     Closing balance                            

 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 to 2033 Subsequent 
periods 

 

Liabilities for incurred claims 247,844 63,759 30,861 15,301 8,024 10,170 - 375,959 
Due on direct insurance business 
and coinsurance 2,818 - - - - - - 2,818 

Due on reinsurance 
business 1,351 - - - - - - 1,351 

Total 252,013 63,759  30,861 15,301  8,024 10,170 - 380,128  
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2022 
 

Estimated cash outflows in the periods                                      Closing balance 
 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 to 2032 Subsequent 

periods 
 

Liabilities for incurred claims 137,388 97,083 24,034 12,565 6,974 6,993 189 285,226 
Due on direct insurance business 
and coinsurance 2,490 - - - - - - 2,490 

Due on reinsurance 
business 1,363 - - - - - - 1,363 

Total 141,241 97,083  24,034 12,565  6,974 6,993 189 289,079  

The Group projects claims payments using, for the most significant business segment such as Motor 
insurance, the stochastic Merz & Wüthrich methodology, which is actuarially accepted and 
widespread for the projection of claims and is included in the set of methods based on "run-off 
triangles". For the other business segments, the projection of claims payments is made on the basis 
of payment patterns on the historical experience of each segment. 

The table below shows the estimated timing of disbursements for the hedging derivatives 
recognised at 31 December 2023 and 2022: 
 

2023  

 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 Subsequent 
periods 

Total 

Hedging derivatives 2,075 503 315 339 392 2,284 5,908 

Total 2,075 503 315 339 392 2,284 5,908 

 
2022 

       

 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 Subsequent 
periods 

Total 

Hedging derivatives 372 872 765 767 772 4,260 7,808 

Total 372 872 765  767 772 4,260 7,808 
 

The classification of financial assets by maturity (for those with a specific or determinable maturity) 
is as follows: 

2023 

 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 
Subsequent 

periods Total 
Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 232,943 89,424 91,011 47,578 41,616 257,250 759,821 

Debt securities 232,943 89,424 91,011 47,578 41,616 257,250 759,821 

Financial assets at amortised cost 15,456      15,456 

Total 248,399  89,424  91,011  47,578  41,616  257,250  775,277  

2022 
 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 Subsequent 

periods Total 

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 125,062 47,394 59,165 103,692 35,826 247,639 618,778 

Debt securities 125,062 47,394 59,165 103,692 35,826 247,639 618,778 

Financial assets at amortised cost 22,373      22,373 

Total 147,435  47,394 59,165 103,692 35,826 247,639 641,151  
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The Group views market risk as the risk of loss or of adverse change in its financial situation, 
resulting directly or indirectly from fluctuations in the level and in the volatility of market prices of 
assets, liabilities and financial instruments. 

The level of assumable risk for the financial investments undertaken by the Group is explained in the 
Investment Guidelines approved by the Board of Directors. This document describes the types of 
permitted assets for investment purposes, along with the maximum proportion of these assets within 
the portfolio, and authorises the Group's Investment Committee to undertake investments. 

The Investment Committee, which meets monthly, is responsible for analysing the portfolio's 
performance, verifying compliance with the investment policy, approving new lines of investment, 
ensuring compliance with the Investment Guidelines and keeping the Board of Directors regularly 
informed. 

The Group's activities are exposed to fair value interest rate risk arising from fixed-income 
instruments. The Group enters into fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps to hedge this risk [Note 7-b 
i)]. 

From the beginning of 2022, the impact of the war in Ukraine, rising interest rates and higher 
inflation have led to capital losses on the investments held by the Group, although these have been 
significantly reduced in 2023. 

The following table provides significant information on the interest rate exposure of the Group's 
financial assets: 
 

 

Portfolio Fixed interest rate   Floating interest rate   Not exposed to risk Total 

 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss 

Debt securities 

 
- 

 
697,234 

 
- 

 
570,155 

 
- 

 
16,842 

 
- 

 
2,878 

 
- 

 
45,745 

 
- 

 
40,884 

 
- 

 
759,821 

 
- 

 
613,917 

Financial assets at fair value 
through equity - 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Debt securities - - - - - - - - 

Total 697,234 570,155 16,842 2,878 45,745 40,884 759,821 613,917 

 
Assets not exposed to risk are subject to hedging through derivatives. 

If interest rates at 31 December 2023 had been 100 basis points higher holding all other 
variables constant, other comprehensive income would have been € 20,584 thousand, gross of 
tax (€ 19,653 thousand in 2022) lower, mainly due to a decrease in the fair value of fixed rate 
financial assets classified as available-for-sale. 

If interest rates at 31 December 2023 had been 100 basis points lower holding all other variables 
constant, other comprehensive income would have been € 22,228 thousand, gross of tax (€ 
21,230 thousand in 2022) higher, mainly due to an increase in the fair value of fixed rate 
financial assets classified as available-for-sale. 

The Group's activities are also exposed to equity risk, meaning the risk of a reduction in the return 
on equity investments due to changes in the market price of equities or equity-based indices or 
financial instruments. 
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2023 

117,522 

 2022 

Equity instruments 120,886 

One of the standard metrics for measuring market risk is Value at Risk (VaR), which is based on a 
variance-covariance methodology using the historical volatility of stock index prices, exchange 
rates and yield curves, and the correlation between them, as the main inputs. 

This risk metric measures the maximum potential loss of financial instruments due to adverse 
movements in equity prices, exchange rates and interest rates within a fixed period of time and 
with a specified confidence level (probability). 

The Group uses this indicator as additional baseline information in conjunction with the other 
regular risk controls it runs on its investment portfolios. For the Group's own calculations, a 
confidence level of 99.5% and a 12-month period are used, implying that there is a 0.5% 
probability of underestimating the maximum potential loss for the next 12 months. 

 

 2023 2022 
Fixed income duration (exc. Cash) 3.13 3.62 
Fixed income modified duration 3.22 3.8 
VaR 1.35% 2.30% 

 
A 10% fall in the market prices of the equity instruments included in "Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss" and "Financial assets at fair value through equity" at 31 December 2023 and 
2022, all other variables being held constant, would have an impact on the Group's total equity 
and profit or loss of € 5,937 thousand in 2022, € 5,785 thousand in 2022, according to 
sensitivity calculations. 

In 2016, Directive 2009/138/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on the taking-
up and pursuit of the business of Insurance and Reinsurance (Solvency II) entered into force for 
insurance undertakings. This Directive regulates the solvency calculation of insurance undertakings, 
to measure the ability of the undertakings to meet their future obligations. The result is to compare 
eligible own funds under Solvency II with the Solvency Capital Requirement (SCR). The Solvency 
Capital Requirement includes all risks to which the undertaking is exposed (underwriting and non-
life health, market, counterparty and operational). The calculation is standardised at European level 
and is not an accounting ratio. The Parent's solvency ratio was 180% in 2023 and 188% in 
2022. 

The main sensitivities that have been performed on financial market risk are as follows: 
 

• A 10% decline in equity instruments would have an impact on the solvency ratio of -2.5% in 
2023, and of-3% in 2022. 

• A 30% decline in equity instruments would have an impact on the solvency ratio of -7.9% in 
2023, and of -9% in 2022. 

• A 10% decline in the value of property assets would have an impact on the solvency ratio of -
3.2% in 2023, and of -4% in 2022. 

• A combination these two scenarios, that is, a 10% decline in equities and a 10% decline in 
property assets, would have an impact on the solvency ratio of -5.8% in 2023 and -7% in 
2022. 

Given the results of these solvency sensitivity analyses, it cannot be concluded that the risks threaten 
the target solvency ratio of 150% set by the Group's governing body. 



Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A., Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros and subsidiaries

2023 Consolidated Financial Statements (expressed in thousand euro)
61 

 

 

The English version is a translation of the original in Spanish made by Linea Directa Aseguradora, S.A on his sole 
responsibility and shall not be considered official. In case of discrepancy, the Spanish version shall prevail 

d) Insurance risk 

Insurance business risk focuses on non-life and health underwriting risk, comprising mainly premium 
sub-risk (premium adequacy risk) and reserve sub-risk (insurance liability adequacy risk) for the 
Motor, Home, Health and Other insurance business segments. These risks are managed differently 
for each business line. Underwriting and health risks also include catastrophe risk and downside 
risk, with a lower impact than premium and reserve risks. 

The Group analyses inherent insurance-related risks for each line of business, both in terms of 
premiums and reserves, depending on the unique characteristics of each segment. 

 

In the Motor and Home segments, the technical rules and standards are constantly changing and 
underwriting is adapted accordingly through automatic and preventive mechanisms through which 
the various products are analysed in order to determine the sufficiency of premiums and insurance 
liabilities. Policy performance and returns are also monitored to analyse possible deviations. 

The Motor segment has a longer duration between the opening and closing of claims than the 
Home segment, mainly due to the civil liability guarantee, which lasts longer than the other 
guarantees. The Health segment is heavily influenced by seasonality, with higher levels of policy 
renewal at the beginning of the year. 

The Group relies on reinsurance as a primary tool for mitigating the premium, reserve and 
catastrophe sub-risks. Reinsurance also forms part of counterparty risk due to the risk of default of 
the amounts recoverable from the reinsurance companies. 

Reinsurance policy 

The reinsurance system followed by the Group is based mainly on an Excess of Loss (XL) structure 
applied to each business segment to achieve protection against serious losses or catastrophic 
losses and events caused by natural phenomena not covered by the Insurance Compensation 
Consortium, using reinsurance to provide stability against this type of random natural catastrophes, 
for both occurrence and amount, as well as the quota share reinsurance arrangement for the Health 
insurance segment signed in 2017. 

On 1 September 2017, the Parent entered into a quota share reinsurance contract for the health 
insurance business, which expires on 31 December 2029 and comes with a two-year renewal 
option. This contract includes an assignment of 50% of the premium income and claims cost of 
most of the policies of the Health segment. 

Until 2022, the contract also included a table of fixed and variable reinsurance commissions 
payable to the Group. The fixed commission was calculated as a percentage of the premium 
ceded and as a fixed amount until 2022. The variable commission was calculated on the basis of 
the premiums assigned during the term of the contract of the year, and the performance of the 
claims ratio during the agreed years from 2022 onward. These commissions were capped. 
However, an addendum to the contract was signed in 2023, in which it was agreed that there 
would be no exchange of commissions between the parties. 

It also envisions profit sharing at the Group based on whether positive technical results are 
obtained. 

 

In the case of the early termination, compensation will be paid due to cancellation by any of the 
parties if they are unable to reach an agreement or in any other situation that frustrates the 
continuation and normal performance of the contract. However, early termination clauses that may 
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pose a threat to the effective transfer of risks and rewards relate in all cases to extremely remote 
situations. 

The performance of the technical result and the credit recognised by the Group will depend on the 
changes in the main technical aggregates, such as premiums, claims incurred, and acquisition and 
administrative expenses. There may therefore be differences in respect of the business plan defined 
by the Group. 

Reinsurers must be filed with the National Financial Services Commission, CNSF (Comisión 
Nacional de Servicios Financieros) and comply with strict security requirements. They must also 
possess outstanding ratings that demonstrate their financial solvency. Foreign entities must present a 
certificate of residence in Spain. 

The criteria followed for establishing the reinsurance network requires at least an ‘A’ rating of 
reinsurance companies. However, a deposit clause will be included in contracts of reinsurance 
companies with an S&P of rating below AA-. Any exception is approved by the Board of Directors. 

The ratings of the various entities that are included in the reinsurance network are reviewed on a 
quarterly basis, with monitoring of the credit risk ratings published by rating agencies of recognised 
prestige, to control any changes in probability of default of the commitments undertaken. 

Premium sub-risk 

The Technical area of Línea Directa Aseguradora is responsible for modifying products and prices 
in accordance with the Group's general strategy for the Motor, Home and Other insurance 
businesses. All these modifications are supported by actuarial analyses documented in the related 
technical notes and approved by the Technical Committee, which is the body responsible for 
managing this sub-risk. The Health segment is monitored by the Health Technical area. 

The Technical Committee takes operational decisions that affect prices and risk underwriting terms 
for the products offered by Línea Directa Aseguradora, ensuring that they are consistent with the 
strategy and objectives established by the Board of Directors. To do so, it considers the proposals 
presented by the Technical area, also taking into account data on the position of the business and 
the outlook provided by the relevant business areas for each of the segments. 

Reserve sub-risk 

In accordance with IFRS 17, and as explained in the note on valuation methods, for the calculation 
of the incurred claims provision the company performs a Best Estimate calculation discounted to the 
risk-free curve, based on the company’s experience and expert judgement with a risk margin 
thereon. 

To estimate the provision for claims in the home, other insurance, health and medical assistance 
segments, the Group analyses each claim on its merits. 

The Claims and Reserves Committee is responsible for managing the Group's reserve risk and 
reinsurance credit risk. It is entrusted with monitoring the Group's reserves and insurance liabilities 
to ensure adequate coverage of claims, and with approving changes in the policies for the 
opening and provisioning of claims for all the different levels of coverage and guarantee, thus 
ensuring the adequacy of reserves, in accordance with the guidelines approved by the Group’s 
Board of Directors. 

Furthermore, to ensure that the Group complies with its obligations under Additional Provision 18 of 
Law 20/2015 of 14 July, and so that the technical provisions shown in the consolidated balance 



Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A., Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros and subsidiaries

2023 Consolidated Financial Statements (expressed in thousand euro)
63 

 

 

The English version is a translation of the original in Spanish made by Linea Directa Aseguradora, S.A on his sole 
responsibility and shall not be considered official. In case of discrepancy, the Spanish version shall prevail 

sheet effectively reflect the obligations arising from the contracts underwritten, the controls listed 
below have been put in place for the posting of provisions for claims: 

• Analysis of the trend in subsequent periods of cost deviations of claims occurring before the 
end of each period. The analysis is carried out on the basis of claims incurred and reported at 
the end of the reference period. Its purpose is to check and to correct possible cost deviations 
that occur in claims of those referred to as “long tail”, which are caused as a result of not 
having sufficient information at the reporting date to properly assess them. 

• Performance of monthly and quarterly forecasts of claim costs. 

• The Group's reserves position is also analysed by independent external consultants at least 
once a year and the findings are presented to the Board of Directors. 

Concentrations of insurance risk 

The Group's insurance business is located mainly within Spain, with no particularly significant 
concentration in any given geographical area. 

The concentration of insurance contracts for those autonomous communities in Spain showing a 
concentration of more than 5% for the periods 2023 and 2022 is detailed below: 

 

 2023 2022 

Andalusia 23.36% 23.20% 

Catalonia 21.17% 20.80% 

Madrid 12.46% 12.70% 

Valencian Community 12.11% 12.20% 

Murcia 4.73% 4.80% 
Other 26.17% 26.30% 

Total 100.00% 100.00% 

 
The Group's business focuses on non-life segments (mainly motor risks), which shows the following 
distribution: 
 

 2023 

 Total Risks 
Motor 

Multi-risks 
Home 

Other insurance 
businesses 

Risks 
Health 

Revenue from contracts measured 
under the reinsurance Premium 
Allocation Method (PAA) 

960,266 782,686 146,847 784 29,949 

Revenues from recoveries of 
reinsurance 20,575 6,138 3,717 - 10,720 
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 2022 

 Total Risks 
Motor 

Multi-risks 
Home 

Other insurance 
businesses 

Risks 
Health 

Revenue from contracts measured 
under the reinsurance Premium 
Allocation Method (PAA) 

925,444 757,858 138,034 1,100 28,452 

Revenues from recoveries of 
reinsurance 16,461 1,678 483 - 14,300 

 
Sensitivity to insurance risk 

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group performed a mixed sensitivity analysis on certain 
key business parameters. Based on expert judgement and experience of the most sensitive 
parameters of the business, the effect of a 1% increase in the cost of claims and of a 1% increase 
in the combined ratio on profit for the year net of tax of each business unit (Motor, Home, Health 
and Other insurance), and therefore on consolidated equity, was analysed as a measure of 
sensitivity to insurance risk. 

Impact on profit or loss of a 1% increase in the cost of claims by segment: 
 

 2023 2022 
Motor (6,529) (5,587) 
Home (941) (800) 
Health (143) (143) 
Other insurance businesses (5) (6) 
Total (7,618) (6,536) 

With the same tax rate as the consolidated financial statements accounts, the change in net profit 
and consequently in consolidated equity would be € 5,108 thousand for 2023 and € 4,938 
thousand for 2022. 

Impact on profit or loss of a 1% increase in the combined ratio by segment: 
 

 2023 2022 
Motor (7,776) (7,531) 
Home (1,420) (1,298) 
Health (161) (165) 
Other insurance businesses (8) (11) 
Total (9,365) (9,005) 

 
With the same tax rate as the consolidated financial statements accounts, the change in net profit 
and consequently in consolidated equity would be € 6,279 thousand for 2023 and € 6,801 
thousand for 2022. 

Combined ratio = (Benefits paid + change in incurred claims liabilities + net operating expenses - 
reinsurance recoveries received - change in ceded incurred claims liabilities) / (Insurance contract 
income measured under PAA - Allocation of reinsurance contract premiums measured under PAA). 

The combined ratio measures the impact of management costs and claims incurred in a financial 
year on the premiums for that year. 

These sensitivity analyses show no direct impact on the solvency ratio due to the Group's 
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shareholder dividend policy, except for the impact associated with the increase in the claims ratio 
due to the increase in the combined ratio. 

e) Reputational risk 

The Group views reputational risk as the potential loss of customers, reduction in revenues or legal 
proceedings that the Group may incur due to loss of reputation, bad image or negative publicity 
with stakeholders. 

The Group's stakeholders —at whom it targets its corporate reputation actions and for whom the 
impact of reputational risk is included in the risk management system— are customers, employees, 
suppliers, public institutions, shareholders, society, the community, consumers, the press and media 
and the wider industry. 

The Group attaches great importance to reputational risk management and therefore includes 
reputational risk management within the organisation's overall risk management system and has 
specific units in place to perform this function. 

Thus, the function of reputational risk management falls upon the shoulders of the People and 
Communication Department, General Secretary's Office and Finance Department through the 
External Communication, Corporate Reputation and Risk Management and Internal Control 
departments, respectively. 

As this is a non-regulatory risk, it is estimated through the ORSA exercise by the External 
Communication department, using an in-house methodology based on expert judgement. 

f) Legal risk 

The Group distinguishes between the following two main types of legal risk: 

• Regulatory risk: regulatory risk is the possibility that the Group's processes and operations may 
become obsolete or non-compliant with prevailing law and regulation in the event of legal or 
regulatory changes or new developments. 

• Regulatory compliance risk: regulatory compliance risk is the possibility that changes in the 
Group's processes and operations may result in non-compliance with current regulations. 

As these are both non-regulatory risks, they are estimated through the ORSA exercise by the 
Compliance area, using an in-house methodology based on expert judgement for regulatory risks, 
and qualitative analysis and a quantitative valuation based on the legal compliance risks map for 
compliance risks. 

g) Operational risk 

The Group treats operational risk as the potential loss due to inadequate or failed internal 
processes, people and systems or due to external events. 

 

The Group considers losses caused by operational risks to be all the ways in which these risks may 
affect the Parent and its subsidiaries, such as economic losses, reputational damage, non-
compliances with the law, technological or security failures or degradation of business processes or 
impact on customers or employees. 

The Group's operational risk management system is structured as a cyclical process of continuous 
improvement consisting of the following phases (Identification, Assessment/Measurement, 
Mitigation and Monitoring and Control). 
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Total 23,121 - - 23,184 

h) Currency risk 

At 31 December 2023, the Group had a foreign currency position of € 23,184 thousand (31 
December 2022: € 23,121 thousand). They relate to direct investments in financial instruments 
quoted in those currencies and there is no currency hedging whatsoever. 

The following table shows the Group's exposure to foreign currency risk at 31 December 2023 
and 2022, and the carrying amount of the Group's financial instruments or classes of financial 
instruments denominated in foreign currencies. 

 

2023 2022 
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

US dollar 10,596 - 9,502 - 
Pound sterling 8,742 - 8,292 - 
Swiss franc 2,020 - 2,260 - 
Danish kroner - - 569 - 
Other 1,826 - 2,498 - 

 
 

The Group has no significant exposure to any foreign currency. 

i) Environmental, social and governance risks 

The governing bodies receive information at least quarterly on the key risks to which the Group is 
exposed and the capital resources available to manage them, as well as on compliance with the 
limits set out in the risk appetite. 

The Risk department, together with the Group's other divisions, periodically analyses the factors that 
could impact the business if they were to occur, including environmental, social and governance 
(ESG) factors. Based on this analysis, an assessment of the Group's key risks is made, taking into 
account prevention and mitigation measures. 

The Group has established the management model, processes and methodology for assessing ESG 
risks. The ESG risk management model is a qualitative assessment with KPIs that help to identify 
risks that could be considered as more immediate threats and regular monitoring to help ensure the 
exchange of information between the areas responsible and the Group's Risk department. 

The Group's ESG risk map shows the risks to which it is exposed, each of them linked to the 
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and other reporting frameworks (GRI or Spanish Law 
11/2018, on non-financial information). 

Although the Group does not operate in any critical sector in terms of climate change, it has 
specific policies and measures that allow us to manage resource consumption efficiently with the 
aim of minimising the impact on the environment. 

The Group also has protocols and concrete measures in place to unlock the full potential of its 
employees by fostering diversity and inclusion, offering the best solutions to maintain employability 
and promoting a safe working environment and employee health. 

2023-2025 Sustainability Plan 

Línea Directa's Sustainability Plan, in force for the 2023-2025 period, is aligned with the United 
Nations sustainable development strategy and is articulated through the ESG dimensions. The plan 
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consists of 6 objectives, 15 strategic lines of action and a total of 87 actions. 

In 2023, Línea Directa achieved 100% compliance in each of the three dimensions of its 
Sustainability Plan, completing a total of 18 actions divided between an environmental pillar (4), a 
social pillar (8) and a Good Governance pillar (6). Moreover, in the third quarter of last year, the 
variable remuneration of part of the workforce (34%) was linked to the achievement of the key 
actions planned in the area of sustainability, and 30% of the variable remuneration of the CEO 
and the management team was linked to the achievement of the key actions of the Plan for 2023. 

In the coming years, the Group will pursue the objectives of decarbonisation, dissemination of 
information on the management of risks and opportunities related to climate change and will 
continue to promote actions towards social contribution and attention to equality, diversity, 
disability, well-being and safety of employees. The Group will also review the investment portfolio 
and supply chain under ESG criteria, promoting sustainable business innovation. All of this 
accompanied by an ambitious ESG training plan for employees. 

Meanwhile, the Group has joined the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TFCD), 
committing to incorporate and report on climate change governance, strategy, risk and opportunity 
management, metrics and objectives. In 2024, the first report on risks and opportunities will be 
approved and published following the recommendations of the TCFD. 

As regards the carbon footprint, close to 99.9% of the Group's emissions derive from Scope 3, 
specifically from the purchase of products and services from Scope 1 suppliers and from financed 
emissions (Category 15). 

The Sustainability Plan currently in force provides for a 5% annual reduction in the company's 
energy consumption, an objective that will have a direct impact on the reduction of the Group's 
carbon footprint in Scope 1 and Scope 2. This commitment has enabled the targets set for the past 
year to be amply achieved, as direct emissions in tonnes of carbon dioxide (Scope 1) have been 
reduced by 1.4% and, within Scope 2, indirect CO2 emissions (market-based) per electricity 
consumed (tonCO2 e) have fallen by 18.6%. 

Línea Directa Group regularly reports the eligibility percentages of its premiums and assets (i.e. its 
investment portfolio and property). Currently, the percentage of eligible premiums and of premiums 
aligned with EU Taxonomy is 2.1%; 14.1% of the portfolio by turnover is eligible, and 12.7% of 
the investment portfolio by CapEx is sustainable according to the EU Taxonomy; the percentage of 
the investment portfolio by turnover aligned with the EU Taxonomy is 2.3%, and that of the 
investment portfolio by CapEx is 4.5%. 

j) Internal control system 

Under article 46 of the Solvency Directive and article 66 of Spanish Law 20/2015 on the 
management, supervision and solvency of insurance companies, the Group is required to have an 
effective internal control system in place. The system should include administrative and accounting 
procedures, an internal control framework, appropriate reporting arrangements at all levels of the 
undertaking and a compliance function, at least. 

The control activities should be proportionate to the risks arising from the activities and processes 
being controlled. 

It must ensure that the control and reporting mechanisms of the internal control system provide the 
administrative, management and control body with the information needed for decision-making 



Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A., Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros and subsidiaries

2023 Consolidated Financial Statements (expressed in thousand euro)
68 

 

 

The English version is a translation of the original in Spanish made by Linea Directa Aseguradora, S.A on his sole 
responsibility and shall not be considered official. In case of discrepancy, the Spanish version shall prevail 

processes. 

Internal Control Framework 

The Group has the processes necessary for the continuous identification, measurement, control, 
management and reporting of all the risks to which it is exposed or may be exposed in the future, 
at both the individual and aggregate level and based at all times on the principle of 
proportionality. 

The Group has a risk map of the business processes that include all of its potentially serious 
inherent risks, with the residual risk level based on the effectiveness of existing controls. This covers 
specific significant transactions and the risks associated with each process. 

Through the risks identified and the key risk indicators (KRIs) defined, the risk management system 
underpins the Group's process for defining strategies and decision-making, as these KRIs are 
included in the Group's scorecard, enabling proactive management of these risks. 

This report is made available to the Board through reporting to the Audit and Compliance 
Committee and the Management Committee. 

The Group has an effective risk management system that determines how to manage each risk 
category and area, and any risk aggregation. The risk management system assesses the overall 
solvency needs identified in the Group's assessment of its own risks (based on the ORSA 
principles), its legal capital requirements and risk tolerance limits, as well as the description of the 
frequency and content of the regular stress tests and situations that require specific stress tests. 
Policies are in place that define the risk categories and risk measurement methods. 

The Board has set the risk profile and overall risk tolerance limits and supervises the committees 
established to monitor and manage potentially serious risks, through the Audit and Compliance 
Committee. 

The internal control environment is therefore considered to have the control and notification 
mechanisms required to provide the Board of Directors with relevant and accurate information for 
decision-making. The controls are proportional to the risks and cover all of the Group's areas and 
lines of business. 

The degree to which the risk culture and risk management system have been embedded makes it 
easier to understand the implications of decisions taken by the Board and Management, 
depending on the level of risk they are willing to assume. 

Risk reporting and information mechanisms 

The Corporate Risk Management department collates all of the Group’s risk information for regular 
reporting to the Audit and Compliance Committee. It also reports the status of the key risk indicators 
(KRI scorecard) to enable proper oversight by the Group's management bodies. 

The regular risk reports are as follows: 

• The Corporate Risk Department reports monthly to the Company’s Management Committee on 
the status of the Group’s risks, on the results of control tests and on any key risk indicators (KRIs) 
that exceed the established thresholds. 

• The Risk department reports to the Audit and Compliance Committee on the most significant 
risks present on the Company's risk map, on the results of the control tests carried out, on the 
status of recommendations issued, and on KRI performance. 
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The Internal Audit function reports quarterly to the Audit and Compliance Committee on the follow-
up of audits carried out. 

6. Cash and cash equivalents 

The composition of cash and cash equivalents at banks, cheques and cash on hand at 31 
December 2023 and 2022, in thousand euro, is as follows: 

 

 2023 2022 
Cash at credit institutions  
Cash on hand 
Financial instruments maturing within 3 months 

38,938 
3 

2,805 

35,677 
6 

15,978 
Total 41,746 51,661 

 
Of the balance of cash at credit institutions at 31 December 2023 and 2022, € 30,169 thousand 
and € 26,362 thousand respectively correspond to balances with Bankinter, S.A. (see Note 20). 

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group held a current account that had been pledged to a 
reinsurer for a total of € 2,100 thousand to secure compliance with certain contractual obligations. 
The remaining amount of cash and cash equivalents is subject to no further restriction on its use and 
disposal. 

The interest rate on the Company’s current accounts is negotiated with each bank. In 2023, the 
current account in dollars earned an average yield of 4.80% (1.98% in 2022) and the current 
account with Bankinter earned a yield of 2.03% (in 2022, it was earning interest of 0.30% 
starting from November 2022). 

The Group held euro-denominated cash only at year-end 2023 and 2022. Accrued interest is 
recorded under the sub-heading "Income from financial investments" in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss. 
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7. Financial instruments 

a) Financial assets 

a.1) Balances of financial assets 

The classification of financial assets by category and class at year-end 2023 and 2022 is as 
follows: 

 

 2023 2022 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   

Available-for-sale financial assets - - 

Equity instruments 53,998 48,806 

Listed 8,029 9,039 

Non-listed 45,970 39,767 

Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 53,998 48,806 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income   

Available-for-sale financial assets - - 

Equity instruments 63,524 72,080 

Listed 63,524 55,859 

Non-listed - 16,221 

Debt securities 759,821 618,778 

Listed 759,821 618,778 

Total financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 823,345 690,858 

Hedging derivatives 5,909 7,808 

Financial assets at amortised cost   

Loans and receivables 15,456 22,373 

Debt securities - - 

Deposits with credit institutions 4,209 4,515 

Receivables on direct insurance business – policyholders - - 

Receivables on reinsurance business 7,019 12,290 

Other receivables 4,228 5,568 
Total financial assets at amortised cost 15,456 22,373 

Total financial assets 898,709 769,845 

 
Financial assets break down as follows: 

Equity instruments 

The sub-heading "Equity instruments" at year-end 2023 consists of 
€ 63,524 thousand in shares classified under heading "Financial assets with changes in other 
equity" (€ 72,068 thousand in 2022) and shares in investment and venture capital funds 
amounting to € 53,998 thousand (€ 48,818 thousand in 2022) classified under heading 
"Financial assets with changes in profit or loss". Total investment in shares in 2023 includes € 
15,541 thousand in two listed real estate investment companies in which a Bankinter Group 
financial institution has a stake (€ 16,183 thousand in 2022). 
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Debt securities 

This sub-heading includes € 759,821 thousand in 2023 and € 618,778 thousand in 2022 
corresponding to fixed income securities and their unmatured accrued interest, of which € 4,747 
thousand related to significant shareholders at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: € 
3,475 thousand). 

In 2023 and 2022, accrued and unmatured interest on these investments amounted to € 5,820 
thousand and € 6,105 thousand, respectively. The average return on the fixed income portfolio in 
2023 was 2.60% (2.46% in 2022) and 5.01% on equities (12.59% in 2022). 

At year-end 2023 and 2022, there were no impairment losses on these debt securities. 

Details of financial assets at amortised cost are as follows: 

Assets at amortised cost 

Deposits with credit institutions 

At the end of 2023, long-term deposits in euro held with Banco Santander amounted to € 4,209 
thousand (€ 4,515 thousand at the end of 2022). 

Receivables on reinsurance business 

The "Receivables on reinsurance business" sub-heading shows receivables from reinsurers under 
reinsurance arrangements. 

On 1 September 2017, the Group entered into a quota share reinsurance contract for the health 
business, maturing on 31 December 2025 and with a two-year renewal option, which was 
subsequently extended to 2029. This contract includes a cession of 50% of most of the policies of 
the business covered. 

At year-end 2023 and 2022, the balances comprising this sub-heading of the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheet were € 7,019 and € 12,290 thousand, respectively, mainly for 
health quota share reinsurance. 

Hedging derivatives 

Heading "Hedging derivatives" includes 1 swap contract in 2023 (1 swap contract in 2022). In 
both 2023 and 2022, the swap has been recognised as an asset. 

The balance at year-end 2023 and 2022 and changes during the year were as follows: 
 

2023 
 Closing value at 

31.12.2022 
Valuation 
adjustment 

Purchases/Sales       Closing value 
at 31.12.2023  

SWAP 7,808 (1,899) - 5,909 
SWAP - - - - 
Total 7,808 (1,899) - 5,909 
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2022 

 Closing value at 
31.12.2021 

Valuation 
adjustment 

Purchases/Sales Closing value 
at 31.12.2022  

SWAP (6,292) 14,100 - 7,808 
SWAP (3,155) 3,805 (650) - 
Total (9,447) 17,905 (650) 7,808 

 
The breakdown by type of contract at year-end 2023 and 2022 is as follows: 

 
2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Type of asset Counterparty Number of 
contracts 

Book 
value 

Market 
value 

Nominal 
Value 

    Rate   Currency  

Current account BBVA S.A. 1 (1,356) (1,356) (1,356) Eonia EUR 
Current account 
subtotal 

 (1,356) (1,356) (1,356)  Eonia EUR 

Swap BBVA, S.A. 1 5,909 5,909 5,909  EUR 
Subtotal – Swap  5,909 5,909 5,909  EUR 
Total  4,553 4,553 4,553  EUR 

 

Current account BBVA, S.A. 1 (4,077) (4,077) (4,077)       Eonia EUR 

Current account 
subtotal 

  (4,077) (4,077) (4,077) Eonia EUR  

Swaps BBVA, S.A. 1 7,808 7,808 7,808 EUR 
Subtotal – Swap   7,808 7,808 7,808 EUR 

Total   3,731 3,731 3,731 EUR 
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The current account of the collateral swaps is not offset against the value of the swap and is 
therefore recorded separately. 

The fair value is calculated as the present value of the outstanding flows between the two parties. 

For these swaps, the risk arises from the interest rate or market risk of the underlying securities 
themselves. The derivative product associated with the underlying is also exposed to these same 
risks. 

The hedged item consists of coupon payments of 2.45% on a BTPS bond on € 50,000 thousand 
until it matures on 1 September 2033. In exchange, the Company receives payments of Euribor 
6M+1.03% on € 50,000 thousand of the BTPS bond until it matures on 1 September 2033. 

Other receivables 

The balances comprising the “Other receivables” sub-heading at the end of 2023 and 2022, and 
related impairment adjustments, are as follows: 

 

 2023 2022 
Bonds and deposits 269 300 
Sundry receivables 2,628 3,666 
Receivable from Group companies and associates 416 447 
Impairment allowances on other receivables (126) (110) 
Total 3,187 4,303 

 
"Sundry receivables" mainly includes the monthly settlement with TIREA for the agreement modules. 

 
a.2) Classification under SPPI criteria 

The fair value of financial assets based on the SPPI approach as at 31 December 2023 and 
2022 and the change in fair value during each year are provided below. According to the SPPI 
criterion, assets are classified into two categories: 

– SPPI: financial assets whose cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest 
on the amount outstanding, excluding any asset that is classified as held for trading under 
IFRS 9, or that is managed, and its performance assessed on a fair value basis. 

– Other: all financial assets not included in the SPPI category: 

• whose contractual terms do not give rise to cash flows at specified dates that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the amount outstanding; 

 

• classified as held for trading under IFRS 9 or that are managed, and their performance 
evaluated on a fair value basis. 
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Financial assets  2023 2022 
Financial assets at fair value with changes in other 
comprehensive income and profit and loss 

Equity instruments  
         Other 
Debt securities 
         SPPI 

Financial assets at amortised cost 
Derivatives 

Other 
Loans and receivables 

Debt securities 
         SPPI 
Deposits with credit institutions 
         SPPI 
Reinsurance receivables 
         SPPI 
Other receivables 
         SPPI 

877,343 739,664 

117,522 120,886 
117,522 120,886 
759,821 618,778 
759,821 618,778 

5,909 7,808 
5,909 7,808 

14,415 21,108 
- - 
- - 

4,209 4,515 
4,209 4,515 
7,019 12,290 
7,019 12,290 
3,187 4,303 
3,187 4,303 

Total financial assets  897,667 768,580 
 

The credit rating of fixed income issuers and deposits held at credit institutions at 31 December 
2023 and 2022 is as follows: 
 

 2023 

Rating AAA AA A BBB Below investment grade No rating Total 

Public fixed income         

SPPI 44,868 30,084 146,486 158,196 1,031 - 380,665 

Private fixed income        

SPPI 10,644 25,541 177,514 147,688 11,709 6,060 379,156 

Total fixed income 55,512 55,625 324,000 305,884 12,740 6,060 759,821 

% fixed income 7% 7% 43% 40% 2% 1% 100% 

Deposits with credit institutions - - 4,209 - - - 4,209 

SPPI - - 4,209 - - - 4,209 

 
 

 2022 

Rating AAA AA A BBB Below investment grade No rating Total 

Public fixed income         

SPPI 5,082 2,927 171,476 177,011 - - 356,496 

Private fixed income        

SPPI 8,222 8,337 100,409 124,186 10,359 10,769 262,282 

Total fixed income 13,304 11,264 271,885 301,197 10,359 10,769 618,778 

% fixed income 2% 2% 44% 49% 2% 2% 100% 

Deposits with credit institutions 4,515 - - - - - 4,515 

SPPI 4,515 - - - - - 4,515 

The credit rating is based on the scales used by the major international credit agencies. 
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a.3) Income and expenses from financial assets 

The amount of net gains and losses by category of financial asset at year-end 2023 and 2022 
is as follows: 

 2023 

 Financial assets 
at amortised cost 

Financial assets at 
fair value through 

other comprehensive 
income 

Financial assets at 
fair value through 

profit or loss 

Other financial 
assets 

Interest on bank deposits 1,596 - -  - 

Income from premium instalments 4,738 - - - 

Fixed income expected loss - (40) - - 

Net losses on swap valuation - - - 9,026 

Equity valuation losses - - (2,724) - 

Losses on realisation of investments - (2,519) - - 

Interest on fixed-income securities - 16,854 - - 

Income on equity instruments - 3,010 - - 
Net valuation gains on fixed income securities 
covered by swap 

- - - (9,026) 

Gains/(losses) on realisation of investments - 2,683 - - 

Gains/(losses) on valuation of investments - - 4,530 - 

Positive exchange differences - 48 - - 

Negative exchange differences - (139) (223) - 

Other expenses - - - 3,107 

Net result in profit and loss  6,334 19,897 1,583  3,107 

Change in fair value OCI - 24,084 - - 

Realisation of equity instruments OCI - 3,237 - - 

Net result in other comprehensive income  - 27,321 - - 
 
 

 2022 

 Financial assets 
at amortised cost 

Financial assets at 
fair value through 

other comprehensive 
income 

Other financial 
assets 

Interest on bank deposits 185 - - 

Income from premium instalments 4,571 - - 

Net losses on swap valuation - - 20,843 

Losses on realisation of investments - (5,464) - 

Interest on fixed-income securities - 15,343 - 

Income on equity instruments - 8,248 - 
Net valuation gains on fixed income securities 
covered by swap - - (20,843) 

Gains/(losses) on realisation of investments - 12,647 - 

Positive exchange differences - 3,269 - 

Negative exchange differences - 498 - 

Other expenses - - (645) 

Net result in profit and loss  4,756 34,541 (645)  

Change in fair value - (97,622) - 

Net result in other comprehensive income  - (97,622) - 
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In both 2023 and 2022, financial derivatives have been classified as financial assets due to 
their valuation. 

The amounts of fair value hedge adjustments made to the hedged item recognised in the income 
statement are as follows: 
  2023 

31 December 
2023 

Nominal 
Book 
value 

Heading of the 
consolidated 
balance sheet 

Changes in fair value used 
as the basis for recognising 
ineffectiveness in the period 

Ineffectiveness reported 

Hedging derivatives 50,000 5,909 Hedging derivatives (1,899) - 

 
  2023 

31 December 2023  Nominal 
Book 
value 

Heading of the 
consolidated 
balance sheet 

Cumulative fair value 
adjustment on the hedged 

item 

Changes in fair value used as the 
basis for recognising 

ineffectiveness in the period 

Fixed-income instruments 50,000 45,745 Debt securities 4,861 (1,899) 

 
 

  2022 

31 December 2022  Nominal 
Book 
value 

Heading of the 
consolidated 
balance sheet 

Changes in fair value used 
as the basis for recognising 
ineffectiveness in the period 

Ineffectiveness reported 

Hedging derivatives 50,000 7,808 Hedging derivatives 14,303 - 

 
  2022 

31 December 2022  Nominal 
Book 
value 

Heading of the 
consolidated 
balance sheet 

Cumulative fair value 
adjustment on the hedged 

item 

Changes in fair value used as the 
basis for recognising 

ineffectiveness in the period 

Fixed-income instruments 50,000 40,884 Debt securities (15,817) 13,813 

 
 

Expected loss 

The group calculated expected loss at -€ 244 thousand on the transition date to IFRS 9. The 
changes in this expected loss during the year and the allocation of "stages" of debt securities (not 
including coupon accruals) were as follows: 
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2023 

 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Total 
Market 
value 

Expected 
loss 

Market 
value 

Expected 
loss 

Market 
value 

Expected 
loss 

 
 

Balance at 1 January 2023 612,672 (244) - - 612,672 (244) 

Transfer to Stage 2 - - - - - - 
Expected loss originated or due to 
purchases 276,278 (60) - - 276,278 (60) 

 

Maturities or sales (182,140) 17 - - (182,140) 17 
New measurements 47,474 2 - - 47,474 2 

Change in expected loss - (41) - - - (41) 
Balance at 31 December 2023 754,284 (285) - - - (285)  

 

a.4) Fair value breakdown 

Details of financial assets at fair value by valuation level are as follows: 

 
  2023 

 Book value 
Fair value 

Tier 1 Tier 2 Tier 3 

Financial assets at fair value through changes in equity  823,345  756,174  51,632  15,541  

Equity instruments 63,524 47,984 - 15,541 

      Listed 47,984 47,984 - - 

      Non-listed 15,541 - - 15,541 

Debt securities 759,821 708,190 51,632 - 

      Listed 759,821 708,190 51,632 - 

      Non-listed - - - - 

Total 823,345 756,174 51,632 15,541  

 
  2023 

 Book value 
Fair value 

Tier 1 Tier 2 Tier 3 

Financial assets at fair value through changes in P&L  53,999  8,029 28 45,942  

Equity instruments 53,999 8,029 28 45,942 

      Listed 8,029 8,029 - - 

      Non-listed 45,970 - 28 45,942 

Debt securities - - - - 

      Listed - - - - 

      Non-listed - - - - 

Total 53,999 8,029 28 45,942 
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  2022 

 Book value 
Fair value 

Tier 1 Tier 2 Tier 3 

Financial assets at fair value through changes in equity  690,846  673,668  985 16,193  

Equity instruments 72,068 55,875 - 16,193 

      Listed 55,875 55,875 - - 

      Non-listed 16,193 - - 16,193 

Debt securities 618,778 617,793 985 - 

      Listed 618,778 617,793 985 - 

      Non-listed - - - - 

Total 690,846 673,668 985 16,193  

 
  2022 

 Book value 
Fair value 

Tier 1 Tier 2 Tier 3 

Financial assets at fair value through changes in P&L  48,818  9,039 28 39,751 

Equity instruments - 9,039 28 39,751 

      Listed 9,039 9,039  - - 

      Non-listed 39,779 - 28 39,751 

Debt securities - - - - 

      Listed - - - - 

      Non-listed - - - - 

Total 48,818 9,039 28 39,751 

 
 

The fair values of non-current loans and receivables are not included because their carrying 
amounts are a reasonable approximation of fair value. 

To determine Level 2 fair values for the years 2023 and 2022, a model has been used in which 
discounted future cash flows, including the redemption value, are discounted from a yield curve 
with two main components: 

• Zero coupon swap curve of the currency in which the issue is denominated, which is 
considered to be the best approximation of the risk-free interest rate. 

 

• Additional risk spread, which will be the spread added or deducted from the zero-
coupon swap curve reflecting the risks inherent in the issuance being assessed, such as: 
Credit risk, illiquidity and optionality risk. 

The following table sets out the valuation methods used in 2023 and 2022 to determine Tier 3 
fair values, along with the unobservable inputs used and the interrelationship between key inputs 
and fair value. 
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(non-
Rate Valuation method Variables used 

 
Interrelationship between 
key variables and fair 
value 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Net asset value of 
investments in 
private equity funds 
with renewable 
energy generating 
assets as the 
underlying 

 
 

Discounted cash flows: the most widely accepted method, which 
treats the investment as a cash flow generator. To obtain its value, this 
method calculates the present value of the future cash flows by taking 
into account the implicit risk of achieving them. Thus, the discounted 
cash flow method estimates the cash flows that the asset/investment 
will generate in the future, and then discounts them at an appropriate 
discount rate, depending on the risk associated with achieving those 
cash flows. The discount rate used is based on the resulting WACC 
(weighted average cost of capital), according to the different sources 
of financing (equity vs. debt) and their respective weights. For the 
2023 measurements, the discount rate is between 4.65% and 7%. 
For 2022, the discount rate is between 3% and 6%. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

WACC and return on 
investment 

 
 
 
 
 

The higher the WACC the 
lower the fair value, and the 
higher the return on investment 
the higher the fair value 
(bearing in mind that income 
depends on prevailing 
regulations) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Net asset value of 
the underlying 
funds 

 
As funds of funds, the value of each unit is calculated as the sum of the 
net asset values provided by each of the underlying funds. Valuation 
as per the amounts communicated by the fund management 
companies, which are compared with the net asset values included in 
the annual accounts. All fund management companies are filed and 
registered with the CNMV. 
In each fund, fair value is calculated in accordance with the valuation 
reports and financial statements provided by each investee. 

 
 
 

Net asset value of each fund 
 

% holding in the portfolio of 
each fund 

The higher the net asset value of 
the underlying funds, the higher 
the value of these funds. 

 
The higher the percentage 
holding in the underlying 
funds, the greater the 
proportional value of that fund 
to the investing funds. 

 
 

 

 
 

Net asset value of 
shares 

Relates to shares held in SOCIMIs (Spanish REITs). The valuation 
methodology is based on the standards and techniques recommended 
by RICS, using the relevant methods of comparison (comparable 
transactions) and cash flow discounts (based on the estimated income 
and expenses of the asset over a 10-year period). 

 
Market data on returns, 
discount rates and annual 
valuation by an 
independent expert. 

 
The higher the value of the 
property investments, the higher 
the net asset value of the 
company. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Net asset value of 
loans 

The manager of the BNY Mellon fund conducts a daily valuation of 
the fund. In carrying out its calculation, the fund manager relies on 
public sources to retrieve the daily price of the loans. These public 
sources are independent price providers, such as Bloomberg, Markit 
and Reuters. These price providers generate their information from 
actual transactions supplied to them by the trading desks of the main 
financial institutions, on the basis of cross-trading during the day and 
the level of supply and demand for each loan during the day. 

 
Quotations provided by 
the trading desks of the 
main financial institutions. 
Specialist sources, Markit 
Partners/LoanX and 
IDC/Reuters 

 

 
Prices calculated on the basis 
of the information supplied to 
them by the trading desks of 
the main financial institutions. 

 
 

The Investment Committee is responsible for supervising and controlling investments and their 
financial results, together with economic and financial information, and ensuring compliance with 
the Investment Guidelines to which the Group is subject. 

Changes in financial assets measured in accordance with valuation techniques based on 
unobservable data (Tier 3) are as follows: 
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Equity instruments Non- listed
Balance at 31 December 2021 56,478  

Purchases 6,107 
Sales (3,202) 
Transfers to Tier 1 (7,000) 
Realised gains / (losses) 1,125 
Changes in valuation through profit or loss 2,452 

Balance at 31 December 2022  55,960 
Purchases 7,561 
Sales (2,639) 
Tier transfers - 
Realised gains / (losses) 1,153 
Changes in valuation through profit or loss (552) 

Balance at 31 December 2023 61,483  
 

The amounts recognised under "Other comprehensive income" can be found under the sub-heading 
"Gains/(losses) on valuation adjustments" in the consolidated statement of other comprehensive 
income. 

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no transfers of financial assets between the 
different tiers. During the year ended 31 December 2022, there was a transfer of financial assets 
from Tier 3 to Tier 1 Logistics, amounting to € 7,000 thousand. The Group considers transfers 
between tiers to occur on the date on which the event or change in circumstances that caused the 
reclassification occurs (IFRS 13.95). 

b) Financial liabilities 

b.1) Balances of financial liabilities 

The classification of financial liabilities by category and class at year-end 2023 and 2022 is as 
follows: 

 

 2023 2022 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost   
Debt and accounts payable   

Due on insurance business with policyholders 1,752 2,009 
 Due on insurance business with brokers 1,066 481 
Due on reinsurance business 1,351 1,363 
Taxes and social security payable 15,221 15,520 
Other debts 45,923 39,915 

Total financial liabilities at amortised cost 65,313 59,288 
Hedging derivatives - - 
Total hedging derivatives - - 
Total financial liabilities 65,313 59,288 

 
Details of financial liabilities at amortised cost are as follows: 

Due on reinsurance business 

The sub-heading "Due on reinsurance business" shows the debts owed to reinsurers. The balances 
comprising this sub-heading of the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at year-end 2023 
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and 2022 are as follows, by reinsurance type: 

 
 2023 2022 
Reinsurance fines and other guarantees 
XL reinsurance 

1,351 
- 

1,363 
- 

Total 1,351 1,363 
 

Other debts 

Details of the sub-heading “Other payables” at year-end 2023 and 2022 are as follows: 
 

 2023 2022 
Suppliers of goods and services 
Right-of-use liabilities 
Outstanding remunerations 

39,490 
2,041 
4,392 

31,750 
3,768 
4,397 

Total other debts 45,923 39,915 

 
The “Outstanding remuneration” sub-heading includes other recurring incentives, of an annual, 
quarterly and monthly nature, pending payment for € 4,392 thousand as at 31 December 2023 
(€ 4,397 thousand at December 2022). 

Lease liabilities 

Details of movements in lease liabilities during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 
are as follows: 

 

 2023 2022 
Balance at the beginning of the year 3,768 4,534 
Additions - 1,495 
Withdrawals (294) - 
Finance expenses (39) (63) 
Payments (1,394) (2,198) 
Balance at the end of the year 2,041 3,768 

The contractual maturities of undiscounted lease liabilities, i.e., including future interest payable, 
for the years 2023 and 2022 are as follows: 

 

 2023 2022 
Within one year 1,865 1,913 
Between 1 and 5 years 257 1,762 
Beyond 5 years - - 
Total future payments 2,122 3,675 

The discount rate used by the Group is the incremental borrowing rate, which is the rate at which 
the Group could obtain financing under comparable terms and conditions. 

 

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate was 1.29% and 1.45% for 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. 

b.3) Fair value breakdown 

The fair value of derivatives is calculated through the use of valuation techniques. Valuation 
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techniques maximise the use of available observable market data and rely as little as possible on 
entity-specific estimates. 

As all significant inputs required to calculate their fair value are observable, the swaps are 
included in Tier 2. The fair value has been calculated as the current value of estimated future 
cash flows based on estimated interest rate curves. 

For current debts and payables, details of fair values have not been provided because their 
carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of fair value. 

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there were no transfers of financial 
liabilities between the different tiers. 
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8. Property, plant and equipment and investment property 

a) Property, plant and equipment 

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the balance of this sub-heading in the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheet and the changes therein during those years are as follows: 

 
 

 
Land Buildings Plant 

IT equipment Furniture 
and other 
property, 
plant and 

equipment 

 
Assets in 
course of 

construction 

 
Total property, 

plant and 
equipment 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

at 31.12.2021 

 
 
 
 
 

at 31.12.2022 

 
 
 
 
 

at 31.12.2023 

at 31.12.2021 

at 31.12.2022 

at 31.12.2023 

 
 
 

The main additions at 31 December 2023 and 2022 relate to information processing equipment 
and the acquisition of a car park. 

In 2023 and 2022, the Group derecognised fully depreciated items of property, plant and 
equipment amounting to € 2,054 thousand and € 3,624 thousand, respectively. 

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, no impairment losses had been recognised. 

The Group has taken out insurance policies with third parties to cover risks that could affect its 
property, plant and equipment. The coverage provided under these policies is considered 
sufficient. 

The following table provides a breakdown of the fair value at 31 December 2023 and 2022 of 
the properties included under property, plant and equipment, such fair value as determined by an 
authorised property valuation company [see Note 3f)]: 

Cost at 31.12.2021  17,905 25,217 20,664 16,241 6,936 98 87,061  

Additions 1,725 42 846 775 88 250 3,726 

Withdrawals - - (25) (3,627) 6 - (3,646) 

Transfers - - 88 - - (88) - 

Cost at 31.12.2022  19,630 25,259 21,572 13,389 7,030 260 87,140  

Additions - - 356 1,126 26 57 1,565 

Withdrawals - (2) - (2,066) (2) (19) (2,089) 

Transfers (300) 13 549 - - (262) - 

Cost at 31.12.2023  19,330 25,270 22,477 12,449 7,054 36 86,616  

Accumulated amortisation 
- 

 
(7,120) 

 
(15,641) 

 
(12,419) 

 
(4,366) 

 
- 

 
(39,546) 

Additions - (505) (1,204) (1,563) (327) - (3,599) 

Withdrawals - - - 3,624 - - 3,624 

Transfers - - - - - - - 

Accumulated amortisation  
- (7,625) (16,845) (10,358) (4,689) - (39,521)  

Additions - - (220) (152) (1,255) (398) (2,025) 

Withdrawals - (477) - 714 2 19 258 

Transfers - - - - - - - 

Accumulated amortisation 
- 

 
(8,102) 

 
(17,065) 

 
(9,796) 

 
(5,942) 

 
(379) 

 
(41,288) 

Impairment provision 
(2,251) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(2,251) 

Impairment provision 
(2,251) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(2,251) 

Impairment provision 
(2,251) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(2,251) 

Carrying amount at 31.12.2021  15,654 18,097 5,023 3,822 2,570 98 45,264  

Carrying amount at 31.12.2022  17,379 17,634 4,727 3,031 2,337 260 45,368  

Carrying amount at 31.12.2023  17,079 17,168 5,412 2,653 1,112 (343) 43,077  
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Property 

amortisation value 

amortisation value 

 
Description Cost value Accumulated 

2023 

Impairment Net book 

 

Market 
value 

Land and buildings at I. Newton 7, Tres Cantos 5,394 (2,015) - 3,379 11,314 

Land and buildings at I. Newton 9, Tres Cantos 7,371 (1,500) (734) 5,137 5,457 

Land and buildings at Ronda Europa 7, Tres Cantos 21,853 (4,003) (1,273) 16,577 17,413 

Land and buildings at Torres Quevedo 1, Tres Cantos 6,199 (269) (106) 5,824 7,860 

Land and buildings at Avda. El Sol 9, Torrejón de Ardoz 2,347 (342) (138) 1,867 1,911 

C/ Einstein 1, Tres Cantos 1,425 - - 1,425 1,425 

Total 44,589 (8,129) (2,251) 34,209 45,380  

 
 

Description Cost value Accumulated 

2022 

Impairment Net book 

 

Market 
value 

Land and buildings at I. Newton 7, Tres Cantos 5,394 (1,920) - 3,474 11,314 

Land and buildings at I. Newton 9, Tres Cantos 7,371 (1,423) (734) 5,214 5,457 

Land and buildings at Ronda Europa 7, Tres Cantos 21,853 (3,766) (1,275) 16,812 17,413 

Land and buildings at Torres Quevedo 1, Tres Cantos 6,199 (201) (105) 5,893 7,860 

Land and buildings at Avda. El Sol 9, Torrejón de Ardoz 2,347 (315) (137) 1,895 1,911 

C/ Einstein 1, Tres Cantos 1,725 - - 1,725 1,725 

Total 44,889 (7,625) (2,251) 35,013 45,680  

 

The market value is based on the comparison method (based on the replacement principle), which 
values property assets by comparison with other property values on the market and, on the basis of 
concrete information on actual transactions and firm offers, derives current cash purchase prices for 
these properties on the basis of homogenisation coefficients (Tier 2). 

b) Investment property 

The Group's investment property comprises property assets held for lease. In 2023, rental income 
from investment property owned by the Group amounted to € 4,591 thousand (2022: € 4,358 
thousand), as recognised under “Income from property, plant and equipment and from investments” 
in the accompanying consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

Activity recognised under this sub-heading in 2023 and 2022 has been as follows: 
 
 

Land Buildings Plant Total investments 
 

Cost at 31.12.2021 32,409 38,396 289 71,094  
Additions - - 3 3 
Cost at 31.12.2022 32,409 38,396 292 71,097  
Additions 502 - - 502 
Withdrawals (1,961) (4,941) - (6,902) 
Cost at 31.12.2023  30,950 33,455 292 64,697 
Accumulated amortisation at 31.12.2021 - (5,517) (120) (5,637)  
Additions - (767) (17) (778) 
Accumulated amortisation at 31.12.2022 - (6,284) (137) (6,421)  
Additions - (669) (15) (684) 
Withdrawals - 931 - 931 
Accumulated amortisation at 31.12.2023  - (6,022) (152) (6,174) 
Carrying amount at 31.12.2021  32,409 32,879 169 65,457 
Carrying amount at 31.12.2022  32,409 32,112 155 64,676 
Carrying amount at 31.12.2023  30,950 27,433 140 58,523 
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At year-end 2023 and 2022, there were no restrictions whatsoever on the realisation of new 
investment property or on the collection of income therefrom, or on the proceeds from any possible 
sale or disposal. Furthermore, no investment property was subject to guarantees or reversion. 

The amortisation rates used are described in Note 3f) of these notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. 

On 5 December 2023, the building located at Calle José Echegaray 9 was sold, resulting in a 
realised gain of € 1,417 thousand in profit or loss. No investment property was disposed of in 
2022. 

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, no impairment losses had been recognised. 

All properties were insured against the risk of fire and third-party liability in 2023 and 2022. 

The following table provides a comparison between the carrying amount and the fair value of 
investment property (land and buildings), as determined by an authorised property valuation 
company [see Note 3f)], at 31 December 2023 and 2022. 

 
2023 

 

Description Cost value Accumulated Impairment    Net book       Fair 
  amortisation        value       value 

C/ Chamberí 8, Madrid 42,524 (3,323)  - 39,201 52,574 

Avda. de Bruselas 22, Madrid 21,881 (2,699)  - 19,182 25,345 

Total 64,405 (6,022)  - 58,383 77,919  

    
2022 

   

Description Cost value Accumulated Impairment    Net book     Fair
  amortisation         value       value 

C/ José Echegaray 9, Madrid 6,902 (931)  - 5,971 8,023 

C/ Chamberí 8, Madrid 42,022 (2,968)  - 39,054 52,574 

Avda. de Bruselas 22, Madrid 21,881 (2,385)  - 19,496 25,345 

Total 70,805 (6,284)  - 64,521 85,942  

 
The rental income discount method is used to obtain fair value. This method discounts expected 
future profits (expected cash flows from rent or associated economic activity) and uses 
unobservable inputs such as current occupancy and the probability of future occupancy and/or 
current or expected delinquency of collections (Tier 2). 

Future receivables from undiscounted operating leases for the years 2023 and 2022 are as 
follows: 

 

 2023 2022 
Within one year 4,329 3,225 
Between 1 and 5 years 4,290 2,851 
Beyond 5 years - - 
Total future receivables 8,619 6,076 
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9. Intangible fixed assets  

a) Detail of intangible fixed assets 

At 31 December 2023 and 2022 the balance of this heading related entirely to software. 
Changes in 2023 and 2022 are as follows: 

 
 

   Software       Immobilised 
assets in 
progress 

Total 
Other Intangible 

fixed assets 
 

Cost at 31.12.2021 94,693 2,388 - 97,081  

Additions 1,320 3,518 - 4,838 
Withdrawals - - - - 
Transfers 930 (930) - - 
Cost at 31.12.2022 96,943 4,976 - 101,919  

Additions 2,396 3,948 12,386 18,730 
Withdrawals (7,777) - - (7,777) 

Transfers 3,903 (3,903) - - 
Cost at 31.12.2023 95,465 5,021 12,386 112,872  

Accumulated amortisation at 31.12.2021 (82,960) - - (82,960)  

Additions (4,477) - - (4,477) 
Withdrawals - - - - 
Accumulated amortisation at 31.12.2022 (87,437) - - (87,437)  

Additions (13) - - (13) 

Withdrawals 3,766 - - 3,766 
Accumulated amortisation at 31.12.2023 (83,684) - - (83,684)  

Carrying amount at 31.12.2021 11,733 2,388 - 14,121  

Carrying amount at 31.12.2022 9,506 4,976 - 14,482  
Carrying amount at 31.12.2023 11,781 5,021 12,386 29,188  

Additions recognised in 2023 largely related to the acquisition of software licenses and other 
rights of use, while in 2022 they related to technological developments and the purchase of 
software licenses. 

Retirements in 2023 were mostly due to software licence terminations, while in 2022 no 
retirements took place. 

At 31 December 2023 and 2022 there were no intangible assets subject to guarantees or 
reversals. 

The Group considers rights-of-use to be an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life and will 
therefore be subject to an annual impairment test in accordance with IAS 38. 
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10. Other assets  

The following table provides a breakdown of this heading at 31 December 2023 and 2022. 
 

 2023 2022 
Right-of-use assets 1,992 3,621 
Accruals 4,881 3,326 
Other assets 633 630 
Total 7,506 7,577 

 
 

At 31 December 2022, the sub-heading “Accruals” includes the cost of certain services prepaid 
by the Group and accrued in 2023, amounting to € 3,326 thousand (€ 3.326 thousand in 
2022). 

Right-of-use assets 

Details and movements by asset class for right-of-use assets in 2023 and 2022 are as follows: 

 
 Buildings Furniture and other 

property, plant and 
equipment 

Total right-of-
use assets  

Cost at 31.12.2021 3,596 7,766 11,362  

Additions - 556 556 
Withdrawals (159) - (159) 
Cost at 31.12.2022 3,437 8,322 11,759  

Additions 486 - 486 

Withdrawals - (2,365) (2,365) 
Cost at 31.12.2023 3,923 5,957 9,880  

Accumulated amortisation at 31.12.2021 (1,999) (4,867) (6,866)  

Additions (367) (905) (1,272) 
Accumulated amortisation at 31.12.2022 (2,366) (5,772) (8,138)  

Additions (635) - (635) 

Withdrawals - 885 885 
Accumulated amortisation at 31.12.2022 (3,001) (4,887) (7,888)  

Carrying amount at 31.12.2021 1,597 2,899 4,496  

Carrying amount at 31.12.2022 1,071 2,550 3,621  
Carrying amount at 31.12.2023 922 1,070 1,992  

 

The "Buildings" heading mainly includes offices and car parks leased by the Group to third parties. 
The average duration of these contracts is 6 years. The lease term has been determined as the non-
cancellable period together with the contractual renewal options that the Group is reasonably 
certain to exercise. 

"Furniture and other property, plant and equipment" mainly shows the leasing of replacement 
vehicles which the Group offers to insured customers while their vehicle is under repair. The 
average duration of these vehicle leasing contracts is 3 years. The lease term has been determined 
as the non-cancellable period on the basis of the vehicle leasing contracts. 
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As indicated in note 3g), the Group has chosen not to recognise in the Statement of Financial 
Position lease liabilities and right-of-use assets relating to short-term leases (leases for a period of 
one year or less) nor leases of low value assets (amount equal to or less than € 5 thousand). 

The expense associated with these exemptions is classified in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss by purpose and in the statement of cash flows under the sub-heading "Payments for other 
activities". The total lease expense subject to IFRS 16 treatment but exempted by term or amount, 
amounted to € 5 thousand in 2023 (2022: € 471 thousand). 

In 2023 and 2022, the Group did not incur any expenses for variable lease payments. 
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11 Assets and liabilities under insurance and reinsurance contracts  

a) Amounts recognised in the balance sheet 

The breakdown of reinsurance contract assets and insurance contract liabilities by business 
segment at the end of 2023 and 2022 is as follows: 

 

31 December 2023  Motor Home Health Other Total 

Assets under reinsurance contracts held 12,354 9,249 10,336 - 31,939 

Assets for remaining coverage - - 6,166 - 6,166  

Assets for remaining coverage under PAA - - 6,166 - 6,166  

Assets for remaining coverage - - 4,621 - 4,621 

Recovery component - - 1,545 - 1,545 

Assets for incurred claims 12,354 9,249 4,170 - 25,773  

FCF present value estimates 11,382 8,655 3,985 - 24,022 

Risk adjustment 972 594 185 - 1,751 

Liabilities under insurance contracts 621,613 85,311 8,153 234 715,311 

Liabilities for remaining coverage 284,233 55,307 (221) 33 339,352  

Liabilities for remaining coverage under PAA 284,233 55,307 (221) 33 339,352  

Liabilities for remaining coverage 284,233 55,307 (3,310) 33 336,263 

Loss component - - 3,089 - 3,089 

Liabilities for incurred claims 337,380 30,004 8,374 201 375,959  

FCF present value estimates 311,721 27,902 8,000 201 347,824 

Risk adjustment 25,659 2,102 374 - 28,135 

 

31 December 2022 Motor Home Health Other Total 

Assets under reinsurance contracts held 6,248 5,817 9,891 - 21,956 

Assets for remaining coverage - - 6,466 - 6,466  

Assets for remaining coverage under PAA - - 6,466 - 6,466  

Assets for remaining coverage - - 4,554 - 4,554 

Recovery component - - 1,912 - 1,912 

Assets for incurred claims 6,248 5,817 3,425 - 15,490  

FCF present value estimates 5,786 5,441 3,270 - 14,497 

Risk adjustment 462 376 155 - 993 

Liabilities under insurance contracts 530,023 72,419 7,564 276 610,282 

Liabilities for remaining coverage 273,280 51,074 669 33 325,056  

Liabilities for remaining coverage under PAA 273,280 51,074 669 33 325,056  

Liabilities for remaining coverage 273,280 51,074 (3,784) 33 320,603 

Loss component - - 4,453 - 4,453 

Liabilities for incurred claims 256,743 21,345 6,895 243 285,226  

FCF present value estimates 238,071 19,846 6,582 243 264,742 

Risk adjustment 18,672 1,499 313 - 20,484 

 

 
b) Movement in insurance and reinsurance assets and liabilities 

b.1) Movement in insurance assets and liabilities 

Movement in insurance assets and liabilities at 31 December 2023 and 2022 is as follows: 



90 Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A., Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros and subsidiaries

2023 Consolidated Financial Statements (expressed in thousand euro)

 

 

The English version is a translation of the original in Spanish made by Linea Directa Aseguradora, S.A on his sole 
responsibility and shall not be considered official. In case of discrepancy, the Spanish version shall prevail 

2023 

MOVEMENT IN INSURANCE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES  

PCR 
(excluding 

onerous 
contracts) 

Excluding loss 
component 

PCR (onerous 
contracts) 

Loss 
component 

PSI - Contracts under the 
simplified approach  

Total Estimated 
present value 
of future cash 

flows 

Risk 
adjustment 

Opening balance of assets - - - - - 

Opening balance of liabilities 320,603 4,453 264,742 20,484 610,282

Opening net balance at 31.12.2022  320,603 4,453 264,742 20,484 610,282

Insurance income (960,266) -  - - (960,266)  

Insurance expenses (*) 183,554 (1,365) 806,411 6,977 995,577  

Benefits and other expenses for incurred claims - - 775,777 - 775,777 

Changes related to past services - - 30,634 6,977 37,611 

Losses and reversal of losses on onerous contracts - (1,365) - - (1,365) 

Amortisation of acquisition expenses 183,554 - - - 183,554 

Total income from insurance services (776,712) (1,365) 806,411 6,977 35,311  

Net financial result recognised in the statement of profit or loss - - 4,480 347 4,827 

Net financial result recognised in equity - - 4,225 327 4,552 

Total changes in profit or loss and OCI  - - 8,705 674 9,379 

Premiums collected 969,982 - - - 969,982 

Claims and other expenses paid (including investment 
components) 

- - (732,034) - (732,034) 

Acquisition expenses paid (177,610) - - - (177,610) 

Total cash flows  792,372 - (732,034)  - 60,338 

Closing balance of assets - - - - - 

Closing balance of liabilities 336,263 3,089 347,824 28,135 715,311 

Closing balance  336,263 3,089 347,824 28,135 715,311 

(*) Insurance expenses take into account expenses attributable to claims incurred. 
 
 

2022 

MOVEMENT IN INSURANCE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES  

PCR 
(excluding 

onerous 
contracts) 

Excluding loss 
component 

PCR (onerous 
contracts) 

Loss 
component 

PSI - Contracts under the 
simplified approach  

Total Estimated 
present value 
of future cash 

flows 

Risk 
adjustment 

Opening balance of assets - - - - - 

Opening balance of liabilities 311,833 5,279 242,206 20,848 580,166

Opening net balance at 31.12.2021  311,833 5,279 242,206 20,848 580,166

Insurance income (925,444) -  - - (925,444)  

Insurance expenses (*) 179,823 (825) 699,746 166 878,910  

Benefits and other expenses for incurred claims - - 703,612 - 703,612 

Changes related to past services - - (3,866) 166 (3,700) 

Losses and reversal of losses on onerous contracts - (825) - - (825) 

Amortisation of acquisition expenses 179,823 - - - 179,823 

Total income from insurance services (745,621) (825) 699,746 166 (46,534)  

Net financial result recognised in the statement of profit or loss - - (402) (35) (437) 

Net financial result recognised in equity - - (5,746) (495) (6,241) 

Total changes in profit or loss and OCI  - - (6,148)  (530) (6,678)  
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Premiums collected 941,666 - - - 941,666 

Claims and other expenses paid (including investment 
components) 

- - (671,062) - (671,062) 

Acquisition expenses paid (187,275) - - - (187,275) 

Total cash flows  754,391 - (671,062)  - 83,329 

Closing balance of assets - - - - - 

Closing balance of liabilities 320,603 4,453 264,742 20,484 797,558 

Closing balance  320,603 4,453 264,742 20,484 797,558 

(*) Insurance expenses take into account expenses attributable to claims incurred. 
 

 

b.2) Movement in reinsurance assets and liabilities 

The movements in reinsurance assets and liabilities at the end of 31 December 2023 and 
2022 are as follows: 

 
2023 

MOVEMENT IN CEDED REINSURANCE ASSETS AND 
LIABILITIES  

PCR 
(excluding 

onerous 
contracts)  

PCR (onerous 
contracts)  

PSI - Contracts under the 
simplified approach  

Total Estimated 
present value 
of future cash 

flows 

Risk 
adjustment 

Opening balance of assets 4,553 1,913 14,497 993 21,956 
Opening balance of liabilities 

Opening net balance 

- 

4,553 

- 

1,913 

- 

14,497 

- 

993 

- 

21,956 

Income from ceded reinsurance contracts 114 (368)  20,073 756 20,575  

Expenses from ceded reinsurance contracts (23,489) - - - (23,489)  

Total expenses from ceded reinsurance contracts (23,375) (368)  20,073 756 (2,914)  

Net financial result recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss 

 
- 

 
- 
 

(169) 
 

(12) 
 

(181) 
Net financial result recognised in equity - - 204 14 218 

Total changes in profit or loss and OCI - - 35 2 37 

Premiums ceded 23,555 - - - 23,555 

Cash flows received (112) - (10,583) - (10,695) 

Total cash flows 23,443 - (10,583) - 12,860  

Closing balance of assets - - - - - 

Closing balance of liabilities 4,621 1,545 24,022 1,751 31,939 

Closing balance 4,621 1,545  24,022 1,751 31,939  
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2022 

MOVEMENT IN CEDED REINSURANCE ASSETS AND 
LIABILITIES  

PCR (excluding 
onerous 

contracts) 
Excluding loss 

component 

PCR (onerous 
contracts) Loss 

component 

PSI - Contracts under the 
simplified approach  

Total 
Estimated present 

value of future 
cash flows

Risk 
adjustment

Opening balance of assets from ceded reinsurance contracts 4,280 2,910 15,724 1,386 24,300 

Opening balance of liabilities from ceded reinsurance 
contracts 

Opening net balance at 31.12.2021 

- 

4,280 

- 

2,910 

- 

15,724 

- 

1,386 

- 

24,300 

Income from ceded reinsurance contracts 4,232  (997) 13,596 (370) 16,461  

Expenses from ceded reinsurance contracts (25,865)  - - - (25,865)  

Total expenses from ceded reinsurance contracts (21,633)  (997) 13,596 (370) (9,404)  

Net financial result recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss - - 11 1 12 

Net financial result recognised in equity - - (273) (24) (297) 

Total changes in profit or loss and OCI -  - (262) (23) (285)  

Premiums ceded 26,139 - - - 26,139 

Cash flows received (4,233) - (14,560) - (18,793) 

Total cash flows 21,906  - (14,560) - 7,346  

Closing balance of assets 

Closing balance of liabilities 

 
 

4,553 

 
 

1,913 

 
 

14,498 

 
 

993 

 
 

21,957 

Closing balance 4,553  1,913 14,498 993 21,957  

 
c) Income and expenses from insurance services 

The following table provides a breakdown of insurance income and expenses at 31 December 
2023 and 2022: 

 2023 2022 

Insurance contract revenue measured under PAA 960,266 925,444 

Premiums allocated to the period 960,266 925,444 
Premiums written 973,281 946,679 

Change in remaining hedging liability (13,015) (21,235) 
Expenses for claims incurred and other expenses 995,577 878,910 

Benefits paid and expenses incurred 920,105 852,032 
Claims paid 578,387 511,813 
Attributable expenses 341,718 340,219 
Claims expenses 127,364 127,397 

Other attributable expenses 214,354 212,822 
Change in liabilities for incurred claims 76,837 27,703 

Losses and reversals on onerous contracts and adjustments for losses (1,365) (825) 
RESULT OF INSURANCE CONTRACTS (A) (35,311)  46,534 

 

d) Financial income and expenses from insurance services 

The following table provides a breakdown of financial income and expenses from insurance 
contracts as at 31 December 2023 and 2022, including movement in equity: 
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 2023 2022 

Financial income/ (expense) from insurance contracts issued (9,378)  6,678 

Credited interest (4,827) 437 
Effect of changes in OCI (4,551) 6,241 

Financial income/(expenses) from reinsurance contracts held (37) (309) 

Credited interest 181 (12) 
Effect of changes in OCI (218) (297) 

 

Financial income/(expenses) from insurance and reinsurance contracts (9,415)  6,369
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e) Changes in claims incurred 

Information on the development of direct insurance claims incurred, including liabilities from claims incurred and excluding reinsured warranties and travel assistance, as 
well as recoveries certain and agreed (which are already recognised as liabilities from claims incurred in accordance with IFRS 17), from the year of occurrence of the 
claims until the end of 2023, is provided below: 

 

Year of 
occurrence Item Year of 

occurrence 
Trend of claims in the years following year of occurrence More than nine  

1 year later  2 years later  3 years later  4 years later  5 years later  6 years later  7 years later  8 years later  9 years later  years later 
 
2012 and 
prior 

Provision pending 

Accumulated payments 
1,109,191 
1,706,012 

342,482 
2,267,973 

170,920 
2,364,737 

94,813 
2,402,861 

94,813 
2,402,861 

31,279 
2,435,395 

17,238 
2,441,240 

11,453 
2,443,533 

5,949 
2,445,885 

2,979 
2,447,367 

1,537 
2,447,543 

Total cost 2,815,203  2,610,456 2,535,657 2,497,674 2,497,674 2,466,674 2,458,479 2,454,985 2,451,834 2,450,346 2,449,080 

 
2014 

Provision pending 

Accumulated payments 
181,728 
240,886 

52,988 
320,928 

24,945 
335,240 

14,456 
341,384 

14,456 
341,384 

4,322 
348,250 

3,405 
348,997 

1963.06449 
349,991 

987.69988 
349,921 

207.37068 
349,729 

 

Total cost 422,615  373,917  360,185  355,841  355,841  352,572  352,402  351,954  350,908  349,936  

 
2015 

Provision pending 

Accumulated payments 
190,121 
247,882 

57,242 
329,431 

26,438 
345,672 

13,941 
352,475 

13,941 
352,475 

3,430 
359,078 

2,171 
359,748 

1,500 
360,369 

533.01534 
362,021 

 

Total cost 438,003  386,673  372,111  366,416  366,416  362,508  361,919  361,869  362,554  

 
2016 

Provision pending 

Accumulated payments 
213,455 
254,659 

80,001 
337,478 

43,518 
359,317 

16,746 
373,382 

16,746 
373,382 

5,860 
383,274 

3,505 
385,452 

2,369 
388,238 

 

Total cost 468,114  417,479  402,834  390,128  390,128  389,134  388,957  390,607  

 
2017 

Provision pending 

Accumulated payments 
220,134 
274,878 

75,241 
375,942 

33,156 
401,271 

17,451 
412,754 

17,451 
412,754 

5,135 
420,803 

3,584 
422,244 

 

Total cost 495,012  451,183  434,427  430,205  430,205  425,938  425,828  

 
2018 

Provision pending 

Accumulated payments 
209,500 
302,136 

62,410 
413,245 

37,441 
440,681 

16,940 
452,983 

16,940 
452,983 

10,073 
460,805 

 

Total cost 511,636  475,654  478,122  469,923  469,923  470,878  

 
2019 

Provision pending 

Accumulated payments 
223,591 
338,329 

87,557 
453,502 

40,244 
478,415 

20,679 
490,830 

20,679 
490,830 

 

Total cost 561,920  541,058  518,659  511,509  511,509  

 
2020 

Provision pending 

Accumulated payments 
179,604 
279,694 

61,587 
365,270 

30,598 
384,005 

20,553 
392,739 

 

Total cost 459,298  426,858  414,603  413,292  

 
2021 

Provision pending 

Accumulated payments 
229,635 
339,130 

74,071 
452,744 

37,703 
479,731 

 

Total cost 568,766  526,815  517,434  

 
2022 

Provision pending 

Accumulated payments 
253,580 
371,682 

96,428 
508,376 

 

Total cost 625,262  604,804  

 
2023 

Provision pending 

Accumulated payments 
301,994 
407,103 

 

Total cost 709,097  
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12 Non-technical provisions 

In 2023 and 2022, there have been no events giving cause for a provision for tax and other 
legal contingencies. The movement in the provision for tax and other legal contingencies in 
2023 and 2022 has been as follows: 

Details of provisions other than technical provisions in 2023 and 2022 are as follows: 
 

 2023 2022 
Balance at the beginning of the year 780 218 
Allocations 375 780 
Amounts utilised (780) (218) 
Balance at the end of the year 375 780 

 
Reductions in the balance of the provisions are due to payments recognised in them and in 
no case due to the reduction of estimates. In 2023 and 2022, no events have occurred that 
would give cause for an allocation of provisions for taxes or other legal contingencies. 
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13. Tax position 

Following the IPO of Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A. Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros in 
April 2021, Bankinter, S.A. ceased to be the Parent for VAT purposes of the Insurance Group, 
comprising Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A. Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros, and several 
of its subsidiaries (Línea Directa Asistencia S.L.U., Centro Avanzado de Reparaciones, CAR, 
S.L.U., Ambar Medline, S.L.U. and LDA Reparaciones), leading to the departure of this 
Insurance Group from the VAT Group 128/09. Simultaneously and uninterruptedly, the Boards 
of Directors of these Companies agreed to re-qualify themselves with effective date 1 April 2021 
for the Special Regime of Chapter IX of the Title of Law 37/1992 on Value Added Tax, thus 
forming the new VAT Group 0130/21, whose Parent Company is Línea Directa Aseguradora, 
S.A. Insurance and Reinsurance Company. 

On 22 April 2015, Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A. notified the tax authorities of its decision to 
file consolidated tax returns, as permitted under the Spanish Corporate Income Tax Law, thus 
forming and becoming the parent of a new consolidated tax group (Tax Consolidation Group 
No. 486/15) comprising the following companies: 

 

   Parent    Tax ID 

Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A. Compañía de Seguros 
y Reaseguros 

 

A80871031 
 

Subsidiary Tax ID 
LDActivos, S.L.U. B86322880 
Línea Directa Asistencia, S.L.U. B80136922 
Centro Avanzado de Reparaciones CAR, S.L.U. B84811553 
Ambar Medline, S.L.U. B85658573 
Moto Club LDA, S.L.U. B83868083 
LDA Reparaciones, S.L.U. B87619961 

 

Law 27/2014 of 27 November, on income tax, sets, inter alia, the tax rate payable by the 
Group in 2023 and 2022 at 25%. 

The reconciliation between accounting profit and taxable income for income tax purposes for 
2023 and 2022 is as follows: 
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 2023 2022 

Statement of 
profit or loss 

Income and 
expenses 

recognised 
directly in 

equity 

Statement of 
profit or loss 

Income and 
expenses 

recognised 
directly in equity  

Accounting profit/(loss) for the year (4,390) - 63,126 - 
Corporate income tax (2,157) - 20,436 - 
Consolidation adjustments with no tax 
impact 

161 - 752 - 

IFRS adjustments (7,274) - (4,804) - 
Permanent differences: 
Increases - - 2,171 -
Reductions (1,180) - (2,021) - 
Taxable profit/(loss) (12,430) - 79,660 - 
Temporary differences: 
Originating in the year 
Increases 17,811 - 22,395 97,602 
Reductions - (28,891) - - 
Originating in previous years 
Increases 52,706 - 4 - 
Reductions (6,185) - (1,753) - 
Consolidated loss adjustment 197 - - - 
Tax base 52,100 (28,891)  100,306 97,602

 

Details of current and deferred income tax expense recognised in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss for 2023 and 2022 are as follows: 

 

 2023 2022 
Current tax expense 13,295 24,299 
Adjustments to deferred taxes (15,452) (3,864) 
Corporate income tax expense (2,157) 20,436 

 
The corporate income tax expense is the result of applying a tax rate of 25% for 2023 and 
2022 to the accounting profit before tax, adjusted for permanent differences and reduced by 
deductions for the year, as follows: 

 

 2023 2022 

Accounting profit/(loss) before tax (6,547) 83,562 
Tax rate 25.00% 25.00% 

Notional corporate income tax expense (1,637) 20,890 

Deductions on tax payable (283) (819) 
Impact of consolidation adjustments (32) 200 

Corporate tax settlement adjustment for previous year (513) (1) 
Non-deductible expenses 603 543 
Non-taxable income (295) (505) 
Deductions and amounts utilised, net - 128 
Tax losses carried forward - - 
Corporate income tax expense (2,157) 20,436 
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss 

The increases in permanent differences in 2023 and 2022 are due to various transactions that 
are not deductible for corporate income tax purposes, specifically the contributions made by the 
Parent, linked to contingencies similar to pension plans, which are not tax deductible under 
article 
14.2 of the Spanish Corporate Income Tax Law (LIS) and the donations made by the Parent to 
Línea Directa Foundation or other entities. 

The reductions in permanent differences in 2023 and 2022 are the product of gains arising 
from redemptions of equity investments in companies and private equity funds of the Parent. 

The increases in temporary differences are mainly due to adjustments to provisions, which, 
according to Articles 13 and 14 of the Spanish Corporate Income Tax Law (LIS), are not 
deductible for tax purposes, as well as the application of part of the equalisation reserve made 
this year. Reductions arising in prior years relate mainly to the reversal of positive adjustments to 
non-tax deductible provisions. 

Income and expenses recognised directly in consolidated equity 

Temporary changes originating in the year include the depreciation or revaluation of investments 
classified as available for sale. 

Tax assets and liabilities 

Tax assets and liabilities were as follows at the end of 2023 and 2022: 
 

 2023 2022 
Tax assets 
Current tax 

Withholdings for the year / Corporate income tax credit 
Deferred tax 

For temporary differences 
Other appropriations 
Tax and social security receivable 

 
Tax liabilities 
Current tax 

Corporate income tax liability 
Deferred tax liabilities 

For temporary differences 
Other liabilities 
Tax Authorities, withholdings IRPF/IS/IRNR 
Tax Authorities, VAT creditor 
Social Security payable 
Insurance Compensation 
Consortium to be paid 
Tax on insurance premiums to be paid 

Other taxes payable 

 
 
 

805 

 
 
 

3,397 

 

13,830 
 

23,464 

1,041 1,265 

 
 

11,384 

 
 

- 

19,663 31,459 

2,360 3,123 
538 223 

3,083 2,981 
1,617 1,596 
6,492 6,288 
1,130 1,308 
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Current tax assets correspond to the amount of corporate income tax to be refunded for the year 
2022 and the corporate income tax withholdings for the year to be settled in the following year. 

The tax assets due to temporary differences relate to temporary differences arising in the year, as 
indicated in the reconciliation of accounting profit and the tax effect on capital losses of the 
"available-for-sale" investment portfolio. 

Temporary differences existing at 31 December 2023 will be reversed from 2024 onwards, 
and deferred income tax is therefore calculated by applying a tax rate of 25% to the deductible 
temporary differences arising at the end of the year (increases) and the reversal of deductible 
temporary differences from the prior year (reductions). 

Current tax liabilities show the amount of corporate income tax payable for the year, net of 
payments on account. 

 

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, deferred tax liabilities relate to the tax effect on: 

1. Under PCEA, the Group recognises an equalisation reserve that is reclassified for 
presentation purposes in accordance with IFRS requirements. The Group bases its taxation on the 
PCEA. Therefore, from the balance arising from the equalisation reserve recognised under the 
PCEA, a deferred tax liability of € 10,961 thousand arose at year-end 2023 (2022: € 
24,137 thousand), which will be settled with the tax authorities in the year in which it is applied 
in accordance with the PCEA. The reduction in the amount is due to the application of part of 
the equalisation reserve in 2023. 

2. The tax impact of capital gains on the investment portfolio through changes in other 
equity amounted to € 4,831 thousand at year-end 2023 (2022: € 4,045 thousand). 
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Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities in 2023 and 2022 are as follows: 
 

 

Balance at 
31.12.2021 

Originating in profit and 
loss Originating in equity  

Balance at 
31.12.2022 

Originating in profit and 
loss Originating in equity  

Balance at 
31.12.2023   

Additions Withdrawals Additions Withdrawals Additions Withdrawals Additions Withdrawals 

Deferred assets 
           

Positive temporary differences in assets 1,575 355 (543) - - 1,387 5,599 (1,546) - - 5,440 

Capital losses on the available-for-sale 
portfolio assets 612 - - 13,380 - 13,992 - - 101 (6,547) 7,546 

Taxes deferred 6,161 - - - - 6,161 - - - (6,049) 112 

Rights to deductions and rebates 94 - - 74 - 168 - - 64 - 232 

Deductions to be applied - - - 1,749 - 1,749 - - - (1,749) - 

Tax deductions and bonuses to be credited 100 - - 133 (233) - - - 191 (191) - 

50% limit on utilisation of prior year tax losses - - - - - - - - 49 - 49 

Temporary differences due to IFRS conversion 
adjustments 

9 - (2) - - 7 444 - - - 451 

Total 8,551 355 (545) 15,336  (233) 23,464  6,043 (1,546)  405 (14,536)  13,830  

            

Deferred liabilities 
           

Tax effect of the Equalisation Reserve (29,389) - - 5,252 - (24,137) - - - 13,177 (10,961) 

Capital gains on the available-for-sale 
portfolio assets (15,066) - - 11,021 - (4,045) - - (912) 127 (4,830) 

Liabilities from temporary difference 
deductions for maintaining employment (1) - 1 - - - - - - - - 

Temporary differences due to IFRS conversion 
adjustments - - - - - (3,277) (596) - - - (3,873) 

Total (44,456)  - 1 16,273  - (31,459)  (596) - (912) 13,304  (19,663)  
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Inspections in progress 

In relation to the tax agency’s latest inspection of the Parent Company (income tax for years 
2011, 2012 and 2013), the assessments signed in protest were appealed before the 
Central Tax Appeals Board (TEAC) in 2019, which delivered its decision on 13 December 
2022, partially upholding the Parent Company’s claim. The Parent lodged a contentious-
administrative appeal before the Audiencia Nacional on 1 February 2023 to continue 
appealing the part rejected by the TEAC. On 15 June 2023, the Parent was notified of the 
opening of the period in which present the claim, which was ultimately filed on 12 July 
2023. 

In addition to the above, the Group has analysed each uncertain tax treatment separately by 
virtue of IFRIC 23. The analysis revealed that it is probable that the Spanish tax authorities 
will accept the current tax treatments considered uncertain. Therefore, no additional 
contingency was disclosed at 31 December 2023 and 2022 relating to the calculation and 
presentation of the Group's income tax expense. 

Meanwhile, in compliance with Inspection Order 51/2016, of 14 November 2016, an 
inspection was opened on the surcharges due on 2016 to the Insurance Compensation 
Consortium. On 22 December 2017, the Parent Company was notified of the inspection 
report and submitted the corresponding allegations within the deadline. On 21 June 2018, a 
resolution was received from the Directorate General of Insurance and Pension Funds 
(DGSFP). On 27 May 2019, an appeal was lodged with the High Court of Justice in 
Madrid. The Court's ruling was received on 23 April 2021, partially upholding the 
arguments made by the Parent Company, which involved performing a specific test on 
particular files. 

On 9 June 2021, the Parent filed an appeal in cassation before the Supreme Court for the 
part of the ruling that was not upheld. This appeal was accepted for consideration. On 23 
September 2022, the Supreme Court ruled in favour of the Directorate's opinion. In January 
2023, the DGSFP contacted the Parent to perform the test, which took place in February and 
March. The Parent received the report on the results of the test on 22 June 2023. The report 
dismissed the test. On 
11 July 2023, the Parent Company submitted allegations to the report. Then, on 14 
November 2023, the Parent Company received a resolution rejecting the aforementioned 
allegations. 

The Board of Directors does not believe that these proceedings will ultimately result in any 
significant contingency, control measure or any other risks that might have a significant 
impact on the Group's consolidated annual accounts. 
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14. Equity 

The composition and movement in equity in 2023 and 2022 is presented in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of changes in equity. 

 

On 29 April 2021, the Parent’s shares were admitted to trading on the continuous market. 

At 31 December 2023 the share capital of the Parent Company amounts to 
€ 43,537 thousand and is represented by 1,088,416,840 registered shares, each with a 
par value of € 0.04, fully subscribed and paid up, all having the same rights and 
obligations. 

The shareholders of the Parent with a stake equal to or greater than 3% of the share capital 
as at 31 December 2023 and considered significant shareholders according to the 
regulations of the Securities Market are the following: 

 
2023 

 Number 

of shares 
% 

Cartival 216,553,770 19.90% 

Bankinter 189,555,907 17.42% 

Fernando Masaveu Herrero 58,570,346 5.38% 
Norbel Inversiones, S.L. 54,430,000 5.00% 

Lazard Asset Management 34,778,950 3.20% 
Brandes Investment Partners LP 32,674,276 3.00% 

2022 
 Number 

of shares 
% 

Cartival 212,277,276 19.50% 

Bankinter 189,555,907 17.42% 

Fernando Masaveu Herrero 57,919,846 5.32% 

Lazard Asset Management 34,778,950 3.20% 

 
At 31 December 2023 and 2022 the Parent had posted the minimum capital required under 
the Law on the Organisation and Supervision of Private Insurance to operate in authorised 
insurance segments. 

a) Legal reserve 

In accordance with prevailing commercial legislation, companies that obtain profits during 
the financial year must allocate 10% of these profits to the legal reserve until this reaches at 
least 20% of share capital. The legal reserve may be used to increase share capital but only 
in respect of the part of the reserve that exceeds 10% of share capital already increased. 
Aside from this purpose, and until the legal reserve exceeds 20% of share capital, it may only 
be used to offset losses and provided that no other reserves are available for this purpose. 

At 31 December 2023 and 2022 the balance of this reserve was above the minimum 
requirement. 
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b) Other reserves 

At 31 December 2022 and 2023, these reserves were unrestricted. 

The equalisation reserve set up by the Parent in the amount of € 43,839 at year-end 2023 
and € 93,608 thousand at year-end 2022 will be freely available for the sole purpose of 
offsetting possible future excess on the claims ratio. 

c) Treasury shares 

The balance of this sub-heading of equity in the consolidated balance sheet is shown net of 
equity in accordance with IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: Presentation. 

Since 29 April 2021, the date of the IPO, on which the Parent was awarded 239,678 own 
shares in the exchange of Bankinter shares, it has made successive acquisitions of shares, all 
duly communicated to the CNMV, to complete the remuneration plan. Thus, the number of 
own shares acquired by the Parent in 2021 was 795,643 shares, at an average price of € 
1.57, accounting for 0.11% of the total number of issued shares. 

In November 2022, the Group offered its employees a flexible share-based remuneration 
plan. Within the framework of this agreement, 224,000 shares were acquired by employees 
at an average price of € 0.99, of which 204,676 were delivered in 2022 and 116,771 
in 2023. 

Changes in treasury shares are as follows: 
 
 

(thousand euro) Acquisition cost Nominal 
value 

Number of 
shares 

Balance at 1 January 2022 1,247 32 795,643  

Additions 221 9 224,000 
Disposals (450) (18) (362,732) 

Balance at 31 December 2022 1,018 23 656,911  

Balance at 1 January 2023 1,018 23 656,911  

Additions - - - 

Disposals (374) (10) (279,328) 

Balance at 31 December 2023 644 13 377,583  
 

The breakdown of own shares at year-end 2022 and 2023 is as follows:
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Acquisition 
date Type of acquisition Quantity Price Market value 

(thousand euro) 
Acquisition cost 
(thousand euro) 

29.04.2021 Exchange 239,678 1.32 316 316 

04.05.2021 Purchase 186,570 1.61 300 300 
06.05.2021 Purchase 94,700 1.58 150 150 
21.07.2021 Purchase 64,332 1.77 114 114 

22.07.2021 Purchase 85,957 1.73 149 149 
23.07.2021 Purchase 59,702 1.74 104 104 
26.07.2021 Purchase 27,293 1.76 48 48 
27.07.2021 Purchase 23,183 1.75 41 41 

28.07.2021 Purchase 14,228 1.75 25 25 
01.05.2022 Delivery (157,592) 1.57 (247) (247) 
11.05.2022 Sale (463) 1.26 (1) (1) 
26.05.2022 Sale (1) 1.32 - - 

15.11.2022 Purchase 214,000 0.99 212 212 
16.11.2022 Purchase 10,000 0.94 9 9 
22.11.2022 Delivered to employees (104,529) 0.99 (102) (102) 
22.12.2022 Delivered to employees (100,147) 0.99 (98) (98) 

14.04.2023 Delivered to CEO (14,455) 0.99 (14) (14) 

04.05.2023 Delivered to directors, 2nd 
payment (148,102) 0.99 (146) (178) 

22.11.2023 Delivered to employees (44,444) 0.82 (36) (70) 
22.12.2023 Delivered to employees (72,327) 0.80 (57) (113) 

Total  377,583 1.33 766 644  
 

d) Interim dividend 

2023 
 

On 30 March 2023, the Annual General Meeting agreed to a final dividend charged to 
2022 profits amounting to € 1,090 thousand. At 31 December 2023, there were no 
outstanding payments. 

The legally required interim accounting statement drawn up by the Group in relation to the 
last available accounting close at the date of the dividend proposal shows sufficient liquidity 
for the distribution of those interim dividends, as follows: 

Liquidity statement for the period: 
 

 Resolution of
30.03.2023

Net profit at date of resolution 59,523  
Less:  

Other reserves - 
Interim dividends charged to profit or loss for the 
year 

(52,481) 

Unrestricted profit 7,042  
Proposal to pay interim dividends 1,090  
Total dividend to be paid 1,090  

Cash liquidity prior to payment 28,741  
Expected receipts less expected payments 75,378 
Remaining cash 104,119  
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2022 

On its meetings of 21 April 2022, 24 February 2022, and 13 December 2022, the Board 
of Directors agreed to distribute interim dividends for a total amount of 
€ 52,481 thousand, agreement which was ratified by the Annual General Meeting on 30 
March 2023. As at 31 December 2022, no amount was outstanding. 

The legally required interim accounting statement drawn up by the Group in relation to the 
last available accounting close at the date of the dividend proposal shows sufficient liquidity 
for the distribution of those interim dividends, as follows: 

Liquidity statement for the period: 
 

  
13.12.2022 

Resolution of 
20.09.2022 

 
21.04.2022  

Net profit at date of resolution 58,312  48,976 24,189  
Less:    

Other reserves - - - 
Dividends paid (44,079) (21,770) - 
Unrestricted profit 14,233  27,206 24,189  
Proposal to pay interim dividends 8,402  22,309 21,770  
Total dividend to be paid 8,402  22,309 21,770  

Cash liquidity prior to payment 20,782  178,141 108,217  
Expected receipts less expected payments 577 (28,743) 18,514 
Remaining cash 21,359  149,398 126,731  

 
Prior to the interim dividend agreement, the Group requested authorisation from the 
Directorate General of Insurance and Pension Funds (Dirección General de Seguros y Fondos 
de Pensiones) and received a positive response from the regulator. 

e) Distribution of profits at the Parent 

The proposed distribution of profit of the Parent for financial year 2023, which the Board of 
Directors submitted to the Annual General Meeting for its approval, is presented 
comparatively together with the distribution of profit for financial year 2022, as follows: 

Thousand euro 
 2023 2022 
Distribution basis (Individual profit/(loss) of Línea Directa 
Aseguradora, S.A. de Seguros y Reaseguros) (12,560) 70,681 

Distributed:  

to interim dividends  52,481 
to Equalisation Reserve 7,430 7,121 
to Voluntary Reserve (19,990) 9,989 
to final dividend  1,090 

 
f) Valuation adjustments 

Financial assets at fair value through equity 

The main item recognised off the consolidated statement of profit or loss is the valuation 
adjustments for assets held in the financial asset portfolio at fair value through equity, 



106 Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A., Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros and subsidiaries

2023 Consolidated Financial Statements (expressed in thousand euro)

 

 

The English version is a translation of the original in Spanish made by Linea Directa Aseguradora, S.A on his sole 
responsibility and shall not be considered official. In case of discrepancy, the Spanish version shall prevail 

corresponding to the amount of capital gains and losses net of the tax effect. The amount of 
capital losses net of tax effect as at 31 December 2023 is -€ 18,226 thousand, 
(-€ 29,856 thousand at 31 December 2022). 

Changes in fair value of liabilities for insurance and reinsurance contracts 

Estimated cash flows have to be discounted in accordance with the entry into force of IFRS 
17 and the calculation of the provision for incurred claims using a Best Estimate 
methodology. In discounting cash flows, the Group has decided to use the risk-free curve, 
recognising in equity the changes in cash flows caused by the movement of the risk-free curve 
as permitted by the regulations. The result was a positive impact of € 1,174 thousand at the 
end of 2023 (€ 5,943 thousand euros at the end of 2022). 

g) Capital adequacy 

At the date of authorisation for issue of these consolidated financial statements, the Group's 
directors can confirm that an internal assessment of risks and solvency has been carried out 
and that Línea Directa Aseguradora is compliant with overall solvency requirements based on 
its risk profile, approved risk tolerance limits and business strategy. 

The Group has implemented processes that are commensurate with the nature, scale and 
complexity of the risks inherent in its business and that enable it to properly identify and 
assess all existing or potential risks to which it may be exposed in the short and long run. 

The directors do not expect to encounter any significant obstacles that might impede the 
Group's compliance with regulatory solvency and minimum capital requirements and that 
might affect the application of the going concern principle and the continuity of the Group's 
operations. The report on the financial position and solvency of Línea Directa Aseguradora 
for 2023 will be approved by the Board of Directors at its meeting of 19 March 2024. 
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15. Earnings per share 

Basic: 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to 
owners of the Parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the year: 

 

 2023 2022 
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to the owners of the Parent (4,390) 63,126 

Weighted average of shares issued (thousands of shares) 1,088,417 1,088,417 

Weighted own shares (in thousand shares) (*) (648) (705) 

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding (in thousand shares) 1,087,769 1,087,712 

Basic earnings per share (in euro) 0.00 0.06 
 

(*) Refers to own shares held in treasury and weighted according to the period in which they were issued [Note 14c)]. 

At 31 December 2023, there were 378 thousand treasury shares (31 December 2022: 
657 thousand), making the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding lower 
than the weighted average number of shares issued at that date. 

Diluted: 

Diluted earnings per share are calculated by adjusting the profit for the year attributable to 
owners of the Parent and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for all 
dilutive potential ordinary shares: The dilutive effect on earnings per share at 31 December 
2023 and 2022 was not material. 
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16. Segment information 

The breakdown of income and expenses by segment as well as the technical insurance result 
at the end of 2023 and 2022 under both IFRS 4 and IFRS 17 is presented below: 

 
 

2023 

 
 
 
 
 

(194) (19) (7) - (220) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The difference between the two technical accounts is of € 8,269 thousand. This is mainly due 
to: 

- Under IFRS 17, a number of expenses that were recognised in the technical account 
under operating expenses have been reclassified as non-attributable expenses in 
accordance with the definition in the standard. These expenses mainly relate to non-
business related training and aid. This reclassification amounts to € 1,012 thousand. 

- The other differences are caused by measurement and classification changes 
introduced by both IFRS 17 and IFRS 9. These changes are discussed in detail in the 
information comparison note. The breakdown of these impacts is as follows: 

-  

IFRS 17 Motor Home Health Other insurance Consolidated 
businesses 

Income from ordinary insurance business 782,686 146,847 29,949 784 960,266 
Premiums written 792,684 149,430 30,384 783 973,281 
Change in remaining hedging liabilities (9,804) (2,564) (428) 1 (12,795) 

Change due to impairment of outstanding premiums receivable     

       

Expenses of ordinary insurance business (818,680) (139,671) (36,691) (535) (995,577) 

Reinsurance recoverables 1,087 (1,174) (2,816) (11) (2,914) 

Insurance technical result (34,907)  6,002 (9,558) 238 (38,225)  

Finance income 42,504 4,980 2,737 28 50,249 
Finance expenses (15,965) (259) (31) (2) (16,257) 
Insurance and reinsurance financial income/expenses (4,098) (461) (87) - (4,646) 

Financial result 22,441  4,260 2,619 26 29,346  

Net income from insurance and investments (12,466)  10,262 (6,939) 264 (8,879)  
    

2023 

  

IFRS 4 Motor Home Health Other insurance Consolidated 
businesses  

Total premiums earned, net of reinsurance 777,780 141,955 16,105 774 936,614 
Total claims incurred in the period, net of reinsurance (689,085) (97,315) (14,456) (83) (800,939) 
Profit sharing - - - (393) (393) 
Total net operating expenses (153,854) (41,863) (12,635) (59) (208,411) 
Other income and expense for the non-life insurance business 22,096 1 (4) - 22,093 

Technical profit/(loss) (43,063)  2,778 (10,990) 239 (51,036)  

Total investment income 46,505 4,907 2,728 27 54,167 
Total investment expenses (19,990) (258) (30) (1) (20,279) 

Income from the non-life insurance business account (16,548)  7,427 (8,292) 265 (17,148)  
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Gross provision for claims incurred 11,745 
Provision for claims incurred ceded 509 
Provision for remaining coverage 1,132 
Credit of interest (4,646) 

Impact of IFRS 17 before tax 8,740  

Realised capital gains on equities (3,238) 
Change in expected loss on fixed income securities (39) 
Change in valuation of equity investment funds 1,794 

Impact of IFRS 9 before tax (1,483)  

Total difference 7,257  
 

2022 

IFRS 17 Motor Home Health Other insurance 
businesses 

 
 

Consolidated 

 

Income from ordinary insurance business 757,858 138,034 28,452 1,100 925,444 
Premiums written 772,787 143,713 29,082 1,097 946,679 
Change in remaining hedging liabilities (14,896) (5,673) (643) 3 (21,209) 

Change due to impairment for outstanding premiums 
receivable 

 

(33) 
 

(6) 
 

13 
 

- 
 

(26) 

Expenses of ordinary insurance business (717,129) (122,709) (38,359) (713) (878,910) 
Reinsurance recoverables (3,067) (7,751) 1,449 (35) (9,404) 

Insurance technical result 37,662 7,574 (8,458) 352 37,130  

Finance income 60,190 5,795 2,877 44 68,906 
Finance expenses (26,855) (180) (22) (2) (27,059) 
Insurance and reinsurance financial income/expenses 379 38 8 - 425 

Financial result of insurance services 33,714 5,653 2,863 42 42,272  

Net income from insurance services 71,376 13,227 (5,595) 394 79,402  

 

2022 

IFRS 4 Motor Home Health Other insurance 
businesses 

 
 

Consolidated 

 

Total premiums earned, net of reinsurance 753,277 129,799 16,505 1,065 900,646 
Total claims incurred in the period, net of reinsurance (585,327) (81,840) (14,321) (10) (681,498) 
Profit sharing - - - (637) (637) 
Total net operating expenses (150,801) (41,989) (9,327) (66) (202,183) 
Other income and expenses from the non-life insurance business 17,507 (241) (243) - 17,023 

Technical profit/(loss) 34,656 5,729 (7,386) 352 33,351  

Total investment income 63,774 5,717 2,872 44 72,407 
Total investment expenses (32,433) (176) (22) (1) (32,632) 

Income from the non-life insurance business account 65,997 11,270 (4,536) 395 73,126  
 

The difference between the two technical accounts is € 6,276 thousand. This is mainly due 
to: 

- Under IFRS 17, a number of expenses that were recognised in the technical account 
under operating expenses have been reclassified as non-attributable expenses in 
accordance with the definition in the standard. These expenses mainly relate to non-
business related training and aid. This reclassification amounts to € 1,473 thousand. 

- The other differences are caused by measurement and classification changes 
introduced by both IFRS 17 and IFRS 9. These changes are discussed in detail in the 
information comparison note. The breakdown of these impacts is as follows: 
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Gross provision for claims incurred 5,602 

Provision for claims incurred ceded (48) 
Provision for remaining coverage (1,176) 
Credit of interest 425 

Impact of IFRS 17 before tax 4,803  
 

The following table provides a breakdown of investment income and expenses of the 
consolidated non-life insurance business by segment for the six-month periods ended 31 
December 2023 and 2022 under IFRS 4 and IFRS 17. 

 

2023 

IFRS 17 Motor Home Health Other insurance  
businesses 

 
 

Consolidated 

 

Income from financial investments 21,167 4,077 2,633 23 27,900 
Application of value adjustments for investments 13,631 - - - 13,631 
Income from realisation of investments 2,743 - - - 2,743 

Income from property, plant and equipment and 
investment property 4,915 903 104 5 5,927 

Positive exchange rate and conversion differences 48 - - - 48 

Total financial income from investments 42,504 4,980  2,737 28 50,249 

Value adjustments for investments (11,755) (32) (4) - (11,791) 
Losses on investments (2,579) - - - (2,579) 

Losses in property, plant and equipment and investment 
property (1,271) (227) (27) (2) (1,527) 

Negative exchange rate and conversion differences (360) - - - (360) 

Total financial expenses from investments (15,965) (259)  (31) (2) (16,257) 

NET INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS 26,539 4,721  2,706 26 33,992 
 

2023 

IFRS 4 Motor Home Health Other insurance  
businesses 

 

Consolidated 

 

Income from investments in property, plant and equipment 3,830 705 80 4 4,619 
Income from financial investments 24,417 3,994 2,624 22 31,057 
Gains/(losses) on realisation of investments 18,258 208 24 1 18,491 
On investments in property, plant and equipment - - - - - 
Financial investments 18,258 208 24 1 18,491 

Total investment income 46,505 4,907  2,728 27 54,167  

Investment management expenses 5,829 226  26 1 6,082 

Expenses from managing investments in property, plant and 
equipment 

2,856 226 26 1 3,109 

Expenses from managing financial investments 2,973 - - - 2,973 
Investment valuation adjustments 28 - - - 28 

Amortisation of investments in property, plant and equipment 28 - - - 28 
Losses on investments  14,133 32 4 - 14,169 

Losses on investments in property, plant and equipment - - - - - 
Losses on financial investments 14,133 32 4 - 14,169 

Total investment expenses 19,990 258  30 1 20,279 

NET INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS 26,515 4,649  2,698 26 33,888  
 

The differences between the two income figures for investments in 2023 relate to the entry into 
force of both IFRS 9 and IFRS 17: 
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2,072 Impact of IFRS 17 before tax 

2,072 Reclassification of expenses to other expenses and operating 
expenses 

Realised capital gains on equities recognised in equity (3,238) 
Change in expected loss on fixed income securities (39) 
Change in valuation of equity investment funds recognised in the statement of  

profit or loss  

Impact of IFRS 9 before tax (1,483)  

Reclassification of expenses to other expenses and operating expenses 1,585 

Impact of IFRS 17 before tax 1,585  
 

2022 

IFRS 17 Motor Home Health Other insurance 

businesses 

 
 

Consolidated 

 

Income from financial investments 19,758 5,168 2,802 39 27,767 
Application of value adjustments for investments 20,843 - - - 20,843 
Gains/(losses) on realisation of investments 12,647 - - - 12,647 

Income from property, plant and equipment and 
investment property 3,673 627 75 5 4,380 

Exchange differences 3,269 - - - 3,269 

Total investment income 60,190 5,795  2,877 44 68,906 

Value adjustments for investments (20,839) (4) - - (20,843) 
Losses on investments (5,464) - - - (5,464) 

Losses in property, plant and equipment and investment 
property (1,050) (176) (22) (2) (1,250) 

Negative exchange rate and conversion differences 498 - - - 498 

Total investment expenses (26,855) (180)  (22) (2) (27,059) 

NET INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS 33,335 5,615  2,855 42 41,847 
 

2022 
IFRS 4 Motor Home Health Other insurance 

businesses 

 

Consolidated 
 

Income from investments in property, plant and equipment 3,678 628 80 5 4,391 
Income from financial investments 26,606 5,089 2,792 39 34,526 
Gains/(losses) on realisation of investments 33,490 - - - 33,490 
On investments in property, plant and equipment - - - - - 
Financial investments 33,490 - - - 33,490 

Total investment income 63,774 5,717  2,872 44 72,407  

Investment management expenses 6,098 176  22 1 6,297 

Expenses from managing investments in property, plant and 
equipment 

3,043 176 22 1 3,242 

Expenses from managing financial investments 3,055 - - - 3,055 
Investment valuation adjustments 28 - - - 28 

Amortisation of investments in property, plant and equipment 28 - - - 28 
Losses on investments  26,307 - - - 26,307 

Losses on investments in property, plant and equipment - - - - - 
Losses on financial investments 26,307 - - - 26,307 

Total investment expenses 32,433 176  22 1 32,632 

NET INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS 31,341 5,541  2,850 43 39,775  
 

As stated in note 2, IFRS 9 was not applied until 1 January 2023, so all the differences in 
2022 related to the entry into force of IFRS 17: 
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17. Other operating expenses 

Below is a breakdown of net operating expenses by type and purpose for 2023 and 2022: 

Operating expenses by purpose: 
 

 2023 2022 

Operating expenses by purpose   

Claims-related expenses (127,364) (127,397) 
Acquisition costs (183,554) (179,823) 
Administration expenses (30,800) (32,999) 
Other expenses (3,809) (3,397) 
Total operating expenses by purpose (345,527) (343,616) 

 
Operating expenses by type: 

 

 2023 2022 

Operating expenses by type   

Fees and other portfolio expenses (35,784) (39,070) 
Staff expenses [Note 23b)] (123,496) (126,039) 
External services (153,662) (158,494) 

Leases (544) (764) 
Repair and maintenance work (premises and properties) (2,688) (2,281) 
Other IT services (26,813) (27,399) 
Utilities and supplies (3,415) (5,072) 
Advertising and publicity (43,582) (49,692) 
Public relations (527) (662) 
Independent professional services (1,297) (1,677) 
Other services (74,796) (70,948) 

Taxes (622) (610) 
Depreciation and amortisation (Notes 8, 9a) and 10) (8,268) (8,834) 
Expenses recognised directly to purpose (23,695) (10,569) 
Total operating expenses by type (345,527) (343,616) 

 
Each expenditure heading in the above table corresponds to the corresponding expenditure 
type as per its description. “Other services” shows expenses incurred by subsidiaries for 
services associated with claims incurred in the policy portfolio of the Group's parent, such as 
services rendered by crane drivers and vehicle inspectors, which are allocated to “Claims-
related expenses” on the statement of profit or loss of the Group's non-life insurance business. 

The statement of profit or loss shows expenses by purpose, i.e. on the basis of their function 
in the operating cycle of the insurance business (expenses attributable to claims, acquisition of 
insurance contracts, or to administrative expenses). 

Expenses are initially recognised by type, and are then reclassified to purpose if their purpose 
does not coincide with their type. The reclassification made under the following headings is 
shown below: 

1) Claims-related expenses. These include expenses for personnel engaged in claims 
management, amortisation of fixed assets assigned to this activity, fees paid for claims 
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management and expenses incurred for other services necessary in claims handling. 

2) Net operating expenses. This heading includes: 

• Acquisition expenses. Showing fees and commissions, production staff costs, amortisation of 
fixed assets assigned to this activity, costs of studying and processing applications and 
drawing up policies, as well as advertising, propaganda and commercial organisation costs 
directly related to the acquisition of insurance contracts. 

• Administration expenses. These mainly include the expenses for personnel dedicated to these 
functions and amortisation of fixed assets assigned to this activity, as well as expenses arising 
from contentious matters related to premiums, claims handling expenses and ceded and 
accepted reinsurance. It also includes expenses related to investments, such as personnel and 
fees, commissions and brokerage fees accrued, as well as any other expenses related to the 
insurance activity. 
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18. Other income 

Details of other income in the statement of profit or loss for other activities is as follows: 
 

 2023 2022 
Other income from other activities   

Intermediation income from credit cards and other insurers' policies 536 547 

Commission payment for Insurance Compensation Consortium 639 629 

Income from bank branch management 1,032 1,069 
Income from management expenses passed on 622 44 

Income from profit sharing in businesses delivered to Bankinter 329 450 

Reclassified non-technical income 2,983 4,797 
Total Other income from other activities 6,141 7,536 

 
The sub-heading "Non-technical income reclassified" shows income from Subsidiaries that is 
not eliminated upon consolidation, as well as other ancillary insurance income. 
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19. Pension commitments 

a) Defined contribution 

Under the terms of the collective bargaining agreement for the industry, the Group is required 
to take out a collective life insurance policy for all of its employees. This policy has been 
externalised in the form of a life risk insurance policy renewable annually. This policy 
generated staff expenses for premiums paid of € 535 thousand in 2023 and € 539 
thousand in 2022. 

The collective bargaining agreement also imposes a savings and pension insurance 
obligation. For employees hired on or after 1 January 2017 and those who have voluntarily 
opted to transfer to this new system (approximately 95% of the total workforce), the Group 
has externalised the obligations by arranging a new insurance contract as an alternative to 
the existing defined benefit policy. This new contract is for a defined contribution policy 
covering more contingencies than the old system. The initial effective date of the commitments 
under the new policy is 1 January 2018 for all staff members concerned. 

To ensure the effective transfer of the mathematical reserve set up for this group under the old 
plan, this reserve was surrendered and a premium covering the value of this reserve was then 
contributed to the new defined contribution policy. This policy resulted in staff expenses for 
premiums paid of € 705 thousand in 2023 (2022: € 739 thousand) and a mathematical 
provision of € 6,275 thousand at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: € 5,602 
thousand). 

No policy surrenders took place in 2023 or 2022. All the premiums for 2023 were paid in 
December 2023. All the premiums for 2022 were paid in December 2022. 

The Group also has a collective insurance policy in effect to formalise its retirement pension 
commitments with certain members of Senior Management. These defined contribution 
policies are also externalised and regular contributions are made for the different members of 
the group. In 2023, this policy accrued premiums of € 542 thousand and a mathematical 
provision of € 11,014 thousand at year-end. In 2022, this policy accrued premiums of € 
626 thousand and its mathematical provision at year-end amounted to € 9,554 thousand. A 
surrender totalling € 1,102 thousand also took place during the period. The contributions 
made to this policy are entirely voluntary for the Group and are made at the discretion of the 
Board of Directors. 

The Group also has a defined contribution savings and retirement insurance policy in effect 
for members of Senior Management. This policy accrued premiums of € 78 thousand in 
2023 and its mathematical provision at year-end came to € 791 thousand. In 2022, the 
policy accrued premiums of € 66 thousand and its mathematical provision at year-end was € 
704 thousand. 

b) Defined benefit 

For those employees hired prior to 1 January 2017 and who have decided not to migrate to 
the new system under the collective agreement, there is an obligation to pay a retirement 
bonus that will only be collected if the employee retires at the corresponding ordinary age at 
any given time and does so while in the entity's active employ. This obligation is externalised 
in the form of a matching policy and therefore the Group does not recognise any provision in 
its consolidated financial statements. 
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In 2023 and 2022, the Company made contributions only for those employees hired prior to 
1 January 2017 and who chose not to avail themselves of the new system, with total 
premium payments of € 95 thousand and € 105 thousand, respectively. 

The present value of commitments made by the Company for post-employment benefits at 31 
December 2023 was € 660 thousand, compared to € 644 thousand at 31 December 
2022. These amounts include the outstanding mobilisation rights of employees who decided 
to join the new plan as of 1 January 2018. In 2023 and 2022, there were redemptions of 
€ 66 thousand and € 50 thousand respectively. 

Defined benefit pension obligations are externalised through group life insurance contracts, 
which allocates investments whose flows coincide in both time and amount with the amounts 
and timing of the insured benefits. 

The present value of the commitments has been determined by independent qualified 
actuaries, who have applied the following actuarial assumptions for their quantification: 

 

Actuarial assumptions 2023 2022 

Technical interest rate Based on year in which premium is 
issued 

Based on year in which premium 
is issued 

 
 
Mortality tables 

 
 
 

Annual wage growth rate 

GR95 for the initial segment. 
For new additions since 2005, PERMF 
2020 for the Línea Directa Aseguradora 
policies and PERMF 2020 for Línea 
Directa Asistencia policies. 

GR95 for the initial segment. For 
new additions since 2005, PERMF 
2020 for the Línea Directa 
Aseguradora policies and PERMF 
2020 for 
Línea Directa Asistencia policies. 

Línea Directa Aseguradora: 0.80% 
Línea Directa Asistencia: 3.00% 

Línea Directa Aseguradora: 1.44% 
Línea Directa Asistencia: 3.1% 

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, there were no accrued contributions outstanding. 
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20. Related party transactions 

"Related parties", in addition to the dependent and associated entities, are considered the 
"key personnel" of the Management of the Group (members of its Board of Directors and the 
Management Committee), as well as the shareholders who may directly or indirectly exercise 
control of the Group, as well as those or a significant influence on financial and operational 
decision-making as mentioned in ORDER EHA/3050/2004, of 15 September, on the 
information of the related transactions to be provided by companies issuing securities 
admitted to trading on official secondary markets. 

Following the admission to listing of Línea Directa Aseguradora on 29 April 2021, the 
Bankinter Group and all the companies comprising that group are considered Significant 
Shareholders. Prior to that date, the Línea Directa Group was part of the Bankinter Group, 
which held a 99.99% stake. From the day of admission to trading until 31 December 2022, 
and as indicated in Note 15, Bankinter's stake dropped to 17.42% and it has had no seat 
on the Group's Board of Directors since the date of the IPO. 

In 2023 and 2022, there were no intercompany transactions between Group companies 
that were not eliminated on consolidation. 

a) Direct insurance business Insurance 
Brokerage fees 
Insurance brokerage fees accrued in 2023 and 2022 are as follows: 

 

 2023 2022 
Significant shareholders 5,344 5,909 
Total 5,344 5,909 

 
Issuance of insurance premiums 

The following table shows insurance premiums issued in 2023 and 2022: 
 

 2023 2022 
Significant shareholders 725 1,037 
Total 725 1,037 

 
b) Transactions due to services rendered and received 

This heading shows the aggregate amount of income and expenses recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss or other consolidated comprehensive income that 
concerns related party transactions. 

 

Significant shareholders 
 2023 2022 
Services received 
Finance expenses 

1,284 
338 

1,546 
479 

Total expenses 1,622 2,025 
Services rendered 
Finance income 

769 
1,291 

880 
801 

Total income 2,060 1,681 



118 Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A., Compañía de Seguros y Reaseguros and subsidiaries

2023 Consolidated Financial Statements (expressed in thousand euro)

 

 

The English version is a translation of the original in Spanish made by Linea Directa Aseguradora, S.A on his sole 
responsibility and shall not be considered official. In case of discrepancy, the Spanish version shall prevail 

The amounts of expenses and income with significant shareholders relate to transactions with 
Bankinter Group companies that were carried out at arm's length. 

Within expenses, “Services received” corresponds mainly to brokerage commissions for the 
sale of insurance policies in the Home segment. Meanwhile, financial expenses relate mainly 
to financial services, such as fees and commissions for managing receipts and for collecting 
card-based payments of insurance policy receipts. 

Income from services rendered largely relates to remuneration under collaboration agreements 
for the marketing, sale and issuance of "Affinity" cards and the provision of personalised offers 
of financial products and services intended for the Group's existing policyholders. 

A final dividend of € 1,091 thousand was agreed in 2023 to distribute the profit for 2022. 
As indicated in note 15d), interim dividends amounting to € 52,481 thousand had been 
approved in 2022. 

c) Balances with related parties on the consolidated balance sheet 

The following table shows the relevant headings of the consolidated balance sheets at 31 
December 2023 and 2022: 

 

Significant shareholders 
Note 2023 2022 

Assets    

Financial assets measured at fair    

value through equity    

I. Equity instruments 7a) 10,550 10,175 
II. Fixed-income securities 7a) 4,747 3,475 

Cash and cash equivalents 6 30,169 26,362 

Other receivables    

Other receivables 7a) 416 447 
Other assets    
Accruals  49 34 
Total asset balances 45,931 40,493 

 
Liabilities 
Due to group companies and associates 

 
 
 

7b) 

 
 
 

303 

 
 
 

- 

Total liability balances 303 - 

d) Remuneration and other benefits of the Board of Directors 

The remuneration accrued by the Group's directors and senior management in 2023 
amounted to € 1,012 thousand and € 3,391 thousand, respectively (€ 1,104 thousand and 
€ 4,052 thousand, respectively, in 2022), broken down as follows: 
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2023  

 Fixed 
salary 

Variable 
salary 

Remuneration 
in kind Diets 

Consolidated 
social security Total 

Senior management 2,819 286 225 - 61 3,391 
Directors 822 4 19 167 - 1,012 
Total 3,641 290 244 167 61 4,403 

 

2022 

 Fixed 
salary 

Variable 
salary 

Remuneration 
in kind Diets 

Consolidated 
social security Total 

Senior management 3,419 380 191 - 62 4,052 

Directors 830 22 31 221 - 1,104 
Total 4,249 402 222 221 62 5,156 

 

 

Senior management comprises the Group's Management Team, without counting the CEO, 
who qualifies as a Director, along with the other Board Members. 

The Directors section includes the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors in 
their capacity as such and for their executive functions. The figures for 2022 include the 
remuneration for executive duties of the former CEO for the period running from 1 January 
2022 to 17 February 2022, as well as the remuneration of the current CEO for her current 
functions as of 17 February 2022. The table does not include the compensation received by 
the former CEO due to his departure from the company, who in 2022 received € 405 
thousand for this item, leaving € 270 thousand deferred over following three years. No 
information is shown for the former CEO in 2023, although during that year he did receive 
the first deferred payment of the compensation for his departure, the deferred payment of 
previous variables as well as the payment of consideration for the non-compete clause, 
amounting to € 194,301. 

The “Fixed salary” item of Senior Management includes the amounts accrued for the 
departure of members of the Management Committee, in accordance with prevailing law 
and regulations. 

The item “Variable salary” does not include amounts accrued during the year that are to be 
deferred to future years and which are subject to malus and clawback clauses. The variable 
salary from 2022 to be deferred over the following three financial years (2024, 2025 and 
2026) amounted to € 159 thousand for Senior Management and € 15 thousand for the 
CEO, with an equal amount delivered in shares. The other directors do not have any variable 
salary. In 2023, the variable salary of the senior management to be deferred over the next 
three years (2025, 2026 and 2027) amounted to € 28 thousand. In the case of the Chief 
Executive Officer, the portion shown in the table relates to the non-deferred accrued portion 
of their salary, having accrued another portion in shares. The deferred amount corresponding 
to the following three years (2025, 2026 and 2027) is € 3 thousand in cash, receiving the 
same amount in shares. 

The item “Per diems/allowances” for 2023 and 2022 shows the per diems received by all 
persons who sat on the Board of Directors during the financial year. 

The item “Consolidated social security” includes a defined contribution savings and retirement 
scheme in the form of a savings policy for the Group’s senior management. The savings 
policy in favour of the Group's senior management accrued € 61 thousand in company 
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contributions and € 12 thousand in individual contributions from executives in 2023. Its 
mathematical provision at year-end 2023 amounted to € 746 thousand. During 2022, 
accrued premiums from company contributions amounted to € 58 thousand, and to € 4 
thousand from individual contributions from executives. The mathematical provision at the end 
of that year was € 664 thousand. 

The Group also has a collective insurance policy in effect to formalise its retirement pension 
commitments with certain members of Senior Management and the CEO. These defined 
contribution policies are also externalised and regular contributions are made for the different 
members of the group (Note 21). In 2023, this policy generated premium payments of € 
542 thousand (€ 626 thousand in 2022) and no surrenders took place (€ 1,102 in 
surrenders in 2022). The mathematical provision for pensions for members of Senior 
Management amounted to € 11,014 thousand at 31 December 2023 (€ 9,554 thousand 
in 2022). The contributions made are not shown in the table above because they are non-
vested remuneration, since there are events and circumstances that may entail their non-
payment in the future. 

In 2023, the Group paid € 32 thousand in D&O insurance premiums (€ 55 thousand in 
2022) for members of Senior Management and other executives with decision-making 
powers at the Group. 

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, no advances or loans had been granted by the Parent to 
the members of its Board of Directors or Senior Management and no obligations had been 
assumed on their behalf as way of guarantee or collateral. 
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21. Other information 

a) Guarantees with third parties 

Guarantees committed to third parties stand at € 46 thousand at 31 December 2023, mainly 
corresponding to rentals for warehouses (€ 1,874 thousand at December 2022). In addition, € 
1,495 thousand have been pledged as sureties for court guarantees against claims at 31 
December 2023 (€ 701 thousand at 31 December 2022). The Group has also provided 
guarantees for office rentals amounting to € 121 thousand at 31 December 2023 (€ 121 
thousand at 31 December 2022), which expire annually. 

b) Staff expenses and average number of employees 

The breakdown of staff expenses in 2023 and 2022 is as follows: 
 

 2023 2022 

Wages and salaries 91,877 93,716 
Termination benefits 4,895 5,270 
Social security contributions and others 26,724 27,054 
Total personnel expenses 123,496 126,040 

 
The average number of Group employees on the payroll in 2023 and 2022, broken down by 
occupational category, is as follows: 

 

 2023 2022 

Total Female  Male Total Female Male 

Managers 72 38 35 71 36 35 
Sales reps/technicians 355 167 188 361 171 190 
Sales reps/technicians 661 400 261 695 420 275 
Staff 1,400 830 570 1,411 833 578 
Total 2,488 1,435 1,053 2,538 1,460 1,078 

Meanwhile, the distribution by gender of the Group’s employees and directors, broken down by 
category and gender, was as follows at year-end 2023 and 2022: 

 

 2023 2022 

Total Female Male Total Female Male 

Directors 7 4 3 7 4 3 
Managers 72 37 35 74 37 37 
Expert professionals 348 163 185 356 169 187 
Professionals 658 397 261 676 412 264 
Staff 1,427 862 565 1,394 814 580 
Total 2,512 1,463 1,049 2,507 1,436 1,071 

The average number of employees with a degree of disability greater than or equal to 33% in 
2023 was 39 (2022: 39). 

c) Share-based remuneration plan 

The Group’s Chief Executive Officer and members of the Management Committee are included in 
an extraordinary remuneration plan of the Group, consisting of the delivery of shares over the three 
years following the IPO. The Plan was approved at the Annual General Meeting held on 18 
March 2021, which was set as the award date of the Plan. It is intended to motivate and build the 
loyalty of plan members by offering them the option of receiving a certain number of shares within 
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the three years following the date of the Company's stock market listing. The main features of the 
plan are as follows: 

iii. The number of shares to be delivered per participant is the result of dividing € 100 thousand by 
the average share price over the 30 trading days following the date of the IPO. Given that said 
average price resulted in € 1.6339, the number of shares to be delivered 
amounts to 61,203 shares per participant. With 13 participants, the plan will entail the delivery of 
a total of 795,639 shares worth € 1,300 thousand. 

iv. Term and vesting conditions: The plan guarantees the possibility of receiving 33% of the shares on 
the date of the first anniversary since the IPO (April 29, 2022), the second batch of 33% on the 
second anniversary (April 29, 2023), and the remaining 34% on the third anniversary (April 29, 
2024). The requirement for the delivery of each batch of shares is that the subject must remain with 
the Company on the date of each of the three anniversaries, unless otherwise agreed, and without 
prejudice to the lock-up requirement in respect of those shares already received should the subject 
leave the Company, unless they are recouped under the terms of the “clawback” clause. 

The cost of the programme for the Group is recorded as a staff expense with a balancing entry in 
a reserve for own shares in equity in the consolidated balance sheet. This expense will be 
progressively written off on the three anniversaries as and when the shares are delivered to the 
employees. 

At 31 December 2022 and 2023, the staff expense accrued and recognised amounted to € 978 
thousand. This allocation was made on the assumption that all plan members would meet the 
tenure condition on each anniversary. 

The value of the incentive to be received in shares of the Parent is assessed on the basis of the fair 
value of the equity instruments allocated at the grant date, considering the terms and conditions of 
the Plan. The number of equity instruments included when determining the amount of the transaction 
is adjusted each year through to the vesting date. 

The Parent had 637,586 treasury shares available for the remuneration plan. Since 29 April 
2021, the date of the IPO, on which the Company was awarded 239,678 own shares in the 
exchange of Bankinter shares, the Parent has made successive acquisitions of shares, all duly 
communicated to the CNMV, to complete the remuneration plan. The average purchase price of 
these shares was € 1.57 per share. Some shares were delivered in 2022, while the others are 
shown in equity [Note 15c)]. 

Of the 13 participants in the Remuneration Plan, 12 are employees of the Parent, while one of 
them is employed by another Group company, namely Línea Directa Asistencia. 

The Parent will deliver the corresponding shares to the employee of the subsidiary Línea Directa 
Asistencia on the three anniversaries, with the cost being borne by the subsidiary and the Entity 
receiving cash as consideration for the fair value of the shares delivered. 

d) Employee share plans under the Flexible Remuneration programme. 

At year-end 2022 and 2023, employees were offered the opportunity to partake in a share 
purchase plan as part of their flexible remuneration. The plan was aimed at all employees of the 
Parent Company (not including other group companies) with a minimum of six months’ tenure and 
did not apply to members of the Board of Directors. 

The plan consisted of two programmes lasting two months (November and December 2022) 
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aimed at facilitating the acquisition of Línea Directa shares among employees through a flexible 
remuneration programme subject to a beneficial tax regime. The conditions for being able to 
include the plan in the flexible remuneration programme were as follows: the amount to be 
allocated would be capped at € 12,000 per year, the shares must be held for three years, and 
the delivery may not exceed the upper limit for overall remuneration in kind of 30% of the total 
remuneration, nor may the minimum wage be affected in any way. 

The Plan was launched at a 5% discount on the share price. The Plan was approved by the Board 
of Directors in September and October of 2022 and 2023, following a report by the 
Appointments, Remuneration and Corporate Governance Committee. 

Changes in treasury shares under the employee share ownership plan are as follows: 
 
 

 

e) Services provided to the Company 

The following is a breakdown of the audit fees and other services provided by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L. during the year for the consolidated and separate 
financial statements of the consolidated companies (fees excluding expenses and VAT): 

 

 2023 2022 
Audit services* 279 241 
Other services required by law 140 111 
Other attest services 43 45 
Total professional services 462 397 

 
*The amount of audit services accrued refers to the audit fees for the annual financial statements of the entire Línea Directa Group. 

The heading "Other services required by law" mainly shows the fees for the review of the report on 
the financial position and solvency of the parent and its subsidiaries, as well as for the independent 
external attest service under limited assurance of the Group’s Non-Financial Statement (NFS). 

The main items included under “Other attest services” relate to the issuance of the agreed-upon 
procedures report on the Group’s Internal Control over Financial Reporting (ICFR) system, the limited 
review of the condensed consolidated interim financial statements for the year and limited reviews 
of the Group’s subsidiaries. 

f) Information on the environment and on greenhouse gas emission allowances 

The Group did not make any investments or incur any expenses in relation to environmental 
protection activities in 2023 or 2022. 

The Group's directors consider that no significant contingencies exist when it comes to 
environmental protection and improvement and did not consider it necessary to post any provision 
for environmental risks and expenses at 31 December 2023 or 2022. 

Acquisition 
date 

Type of acquisition  Quantity Price Market value (in 
thousand euro)  

Acquisition cost (in 
thousand euro) 

15.11.2022 Acquisition under the employee programme 214,000 0.99 210 210 
16.11.2022 Acquisition under the employee programme 10,000 0.94 9 9 
22.11.2022 Delivered to employees (104,529) 0.96 (100) (100) 
22.12.2022 Delivered to employees (100,147) 1.00 (100) (100) 
22.11.2023 Delivered to employees (44,444) 0.82 (36) (70) 
22.12.2023 Delivered to employees (72,327) 0.80 (57) (113) 

Total  (97,447) 0.92  (74) (164) 
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No amount was allocated to those items, nor was there any changes in expenses or provisions in 
2023 and 2022, and nor were any forward contracts signed or grants received in relation to 
greenhouse gas emission allowances. 

 

g) Information on conflicts of interest affecting directors and their related persons 

At the end of 2023 and 2022, no Group director (or persons related to the Group as defined in 
Article 229 of the Spanish Corporate Enterprises Act) had notified the members of the Board of 
Directors of any situation of direct or indirect conflict with the interests of the Group. 

h) Customer Service Department 

The legal regulatory framework for financial services provides customers with the appropriate level 
of protection to ensure confidence in the functioning of the markets. Notably, Order 
ECO/734/2004, of 11 March, on customer care and ombudsman departments and services of 
financial institutions, requires insurance undertakings to have a customer care department or 
service, in order to attend to and resolve complaints and claims presented by their customers 
wishing to exercise their legally recognised rights and interests. 

The decision shall be reasoned and contain clear conclusions in respect of the request raised in 
each complaint or claim, based on the applicable contractual terms, rules on transparency and 
customer expectations, as well as good financial practices and usages. 

During 2023, a total of 7,637 cases were handled (5,809 in 2022), 
of which 630, or 8.25%, were complaints (398 complaints, 6.85%, in 2022) and 7,007, or 91.75%, 
were claims 
(5,411 claims, 93.15%, in 2022). Of the total, 21% related to Policy quoting and management, 
66.39% to Accident management and 3.33% to the Roadside assistance service (2022: 20.86%, 
69.48% and 3.10%, respectively). 

The breakdown by type of case managed by the Group in 2023 and 2022 is as follows: 
 

 2023 2022 
Number % of total Number % of total

Complaints 630 8.25% 398 7.00% 

Claims 7,007 91.75% 5,411 93.00% 

Total cases handled 7,637 100.00%  5,809 100.00%  

 
The breakdown by department of the cases generated by the Group in 2023 and 2022 is as 
follows: 

 

 2023 2022 

Number % of total Number % of total

Quotations and policy management 1,605 21.02% 1,212 21.00% 

Accident management 5,070 66.39% 4,036 69.00% 

Roadside assistance service 255 3.34% 180 3.00% 

Other 707 9.26% 381 7.00% 

Total cases handled 7,637 100.00%  5,809 100.00%  

 
Main issues raised by customers: 

1. Rejection of damage claim following expert inspection 
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2. Delays in processing and repairing damage 
3. Policy exclusions 

4. Policy cancellation, in relation to processing and reimbursement of unearned premiums 

Of the total complaints and claims received in 2023, 82.06% (82.10% in 2022) have been 
considered upheld and 39.86% admissible (38.13% in 2022). 

Also, in 2023, 488 cases were concluded before the Customer Ombudsman (428 files in the 
2022 financial year), 56.15% of which were unfavourable to the claimant and referred to the 
usual issues, mainly: 

• Application/interpretation of insurance cover and 
• Valuation/compensation of claims. 

The percentage of decisions issued against the policyholders' interests was higher than in the 
previous year, as in 2023 214 of the 488 decisions issued were favourable to the policyholder, 
while in 2022 they were 287 of the 428, with percentages of 43.85% and 67.05% and 
revealing a percentage difference between years of 23.20%. 

In his report, the Consumer Ombudsman calls for prompter handling of claims so that, between 
LINEA DIRECTA and the Consumer Ombudsman, they can be resolved ahead of the deadlines 
prescribed by applicable law and regulations on consumer affairs, pursuant to Royal Legislative 
Decree 1/2007, of 16 November. It also suggests that the general terms and conditions of the 
policies, containing their delimitation of risks, exclusions and limitation of liability clauses, should be 
signed at the same time as the special terms and conditions, whether the product is arranged 
remotely or via traditional channels. 

i) Average supplier payment period 

The following table provides the information required under Final Provision Two of Law 31/2014, 
of 3 December. 

 
 
 

Average payment period to suppliers* 

Ratio of transactions paid* 

Ratio of transactions outstanding* 
 
 
 

Total payments made 
Total outstanding payments 

 
(*) When a figure is shown in brackets, it means that the amount is negative, representing either a faster average payment in relation to 
the maximum payment period prescribed by law, or otherwise that the outstanding transactions are, on average, at a point in time prior 
to reaching that maximum period. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

2023 2022 

Days 
20.80 

20.81 

20.60 

Amount 

(in thousand euro) 
340,996 
13,891 

Days 

18.55 

18.51 

20.24 

Amount 

(in thousand euro) 

334,881 
7,859 
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2023 

Days 

Invoices paid within the legal limit 102,744 

Percentage of total invoices 85.86%

Total invoices 119,660 

 Amount 
 (in thousand euro) 
Monetary volume within legal limit 314,136 

Percentage of total monetary value of payments to suppliers 88.52%
Total monetary value of invoices 354,888 

 

The data shown in the above tables on the average payment period to suppliers relate to trade 
payables on debts with suppliers of goods and services, excluding payments of claims in 2023 
and 2022. 

The term "average payment period to suppliers" means the time taken in paying, or the delay in 
paying, trade payables. This "average payment period to suppliers' is calculated as a ratio where 
the numerator is the sum of the ratio of transactions paid divided by the total amount of payments 
made plus the ratio of transactions outstanding divided by the total amount of payments 
outstanding, while the denominator is the total amount of payments made divided by the amount of 
payments outstanding. 

The ratio of transactions paid is calculated as a ratio where the numerator is the sum of the 
products corresponding to the amounts paid divided by the number of days of payment (difference 
between the calendar days running from the end of the maximum legal payment period through to 
effective payment of the transaction), while denominator is the total amount of payments made. 

Meanwhile, the ratio of transactions pending payment is a ratio where the numerator is the sum of 
the products corresponding to the amounts pending payment, divided by the number of days 
pending payment (difference between the calendar days running from the end of the maximum 
legal payment period through to the close date of the consolidated financial statements), and the 
denominator is the total amount of payments pending. 

In September 2022, Law 18/2022 amended Additional Provision Three, on the duty to disclose 
information contained in Law 15/2010, which in turn amended Law 3/2004, on measures to 
combat late payment in commercial transactions. This amendment states that listed companies must 
publish on their website, in addition to the average payment period, the monetary volume and the 
number of invoices paid in a period shorter than the legal maximum period, as well as the ratio of 
those invoices to the total number of invoices and the total monetary amount of payments made to 
suppliers. 
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22. Events after the reporting period 

No significant events have occurred after the end of 2023 and up to the date of authorisation for 
issue of these consolidated financial statements. 
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1. Company overview 

1.1 Business model 

Línea Directa Aseguradora relies on a business 
strategy that seeks profitable and sustainable 
growth, generating value for its shareholders, 
customers, employees, suppliers and society in 
general. This strategy is based on the pillars that 
define and differentiate Línea Directa Group from its 
competitors and is adapted to meet the present and 
future challenges and opportunities arising from 
market circumstances. 

The direct model 

Línea Directa Aseguradora started its activity in 
1995 with a business model based on direct 
distribution. The entity operates through telephone 
and digital channels, having no branch networks, 
and all of its operations are centralised at its 
headquarters in Tres Cantos (Madrid), which 
translates into greater efficiency. Technical rigour, 
innovation in marketing and products, as well as 
advanced digitalisation in processes add value to 
the model, allowing the entity to offer the customer 
comprehensive products and an extraordinary 
quality of service at more competitive prices. 

Profitable growth and operational efficiency 

Throughout its 28 years of activity, Línea Directa 
Aseguradora has sustained a profitable and 
organic growth in customers and income, which 
has allowed the company to rank 13th among non-
life insurance groups in Spain in terms of premium 
income. 

With an insurance portfolio of more than 3.3 million 
customers, the Group's premium income at the end 
of 2023 stood at € 973.3 million, driven by the 
growth in turnover of the three business segments in 
which it operates – Motor, Home and Health. In a 
context of continued inflation that has led to a sharp 
deterioration in the margins of the insurance sector 
as a whole, Línea Directa's strategy has been to 
prioritise profitable growth through excellent risk 
selection and an adaptation of rates to the risk of 
each customer at the current time. 

The Group's strategic priority in the current market 
environment is to improve insurance margins through 
various channels: adjusting premiums and insurance 
standards to current risks, optimising claims 
management and continuously increasing efficiency 
through strict control of overheads and productivity 
gains, supported in particular by a growing 
digitisation of processes. 

Product innovation 

Línea Directa Group's ambition is to maintain 
profitable and sustained growth by generating 
new business and increasing the loyalty of the 

portfolio. To this end, it aims to cover all customers' 
insurance needs through a highly competitive offer, 
based on insurance policies with broad and unique 
coverage, a high quality of service and an excellent 
user experience thanks to its digital service range. 

Throughout 2023, Línea Directa launched 
innovative products, such as "Car + Home Formula", 
the first step by an insurer in Spain towards the 
packaging of policies for the same family unit, by 
offering car and home insurance together; 
"Mortgage Free", a home insurance specifically 
designed for people who have finished paying their 
mortgage, and "Squatter Free Home", the first 
complete and comprehensive cover against illegal 
occupation of the home. 

In recent years, the Company has also been 
committed to being at the forefront of the boom in 
sustainable vehicles, personal mobility vehicles 
(PMVs) and new formulas for use and ownership 
such as renting, extending, for instance, its Respira 
Policy, the insurance for electric cars and plug-in 
hybrids that it launched in 2016, to electric 
motorbikes in 2023. 

Meanwhile, Línea Directa, Bankinter Consumer 
Finance and VASS have created "CarnRoll", a 
digital platform for the sale of used vehicles with 
financing and insurance included. And, in order to 
encourage the renewal of the vehicle fleet and 
promote road safety, the Company launched the 
"ADAS Campaign" with discounts on policies for 
vehicles that incorporate an advanced driving 
assistance system. 

This is in addition to other commercial innovations 
launched by the Company in recent years in this 
field such as "Call it X", the first insurance with car 
included, and "Safe&Go", a specific policy for users 
of scooters and other VMPs. 

Digitalisation 

The Company continues to make progress in its 
digital transformation with the aim of becoming 
more efficient and offering a better service. To this 
end, the Company has been focused on improving 
and developing advances already made, while at 
the same time implementing new technologies that 
contribute to optimising the management of its 
processes. 

Digitalisation contributes to improving customer 
experience, serving policyholders at any time and 
place and making useful products and services 
available to them, as well as enhancing digital 
channels as a customer relationship point, thus 
increasing commercial opportunities. 

Throughout 2023, Línea Directa has extended the 
digitalisation of its internal processes, increased the 
range of digital services offered to its customers 
through the mobile application, and optimised claims 
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management. 

Relying on the use of advanced technologies such 
as Artificial Intelligence (AI), the Company already 
applies natural language processing to the 
administration of claims. This has enabled it to 
reduce the operational burden and errors in 
managing digital claims, streamlining the process 
and improving user experience. And also due to the 
improvements achieved with AI, 75% of Línea 
Directa's annual verifications are now carried out 
digitally, allowing the Group to increase the 
efficiency of this process and move towards 
automatic damage assessment without human 
intervention. 

Policyholders can now carry out most of the 
procedures related to their policies through the Línea 
Directa App and website, such as contracting, 
registering accident reports and following them up. 
A positive customer experience has translated into a 
high degree of penetration of digital services, with 
more than 87% of policyholders now interacting 
with the Company through digital channels, and 
interactions through digital channels outnumbering 
contacts over the phone by 59%. 

Business lines 

Línea Directa is a multi-line insurance company 
currently operating in the Motor, Home and Health 
segments. 

Motor insurance 

At the end of 2023, the Motor segment accounted 
for 81% of the company's premium income, with 
revenues of € 792.7 million, and constituting 
74.5% of its insurance portfolio, with over 2.47 
million policies underwritten, making Línea Directa 
the fifth largest insurer in the segment by premium 
volume at the end of 2023. 

In the Motor segment, the Company offers a 
comprehensive and personalised range of policies 
for cars, motorbikes, personal mobility vehicles and 
professional vehicles for individuals, large 
companies, SMEs and the self-employed. 

Meanwhile, the Company's catalogue ranges 
from classic policies (All Risks, All Risks with 
Excess, Extended Third Party and Third Party) to 
differential covers such as Super Third Party, 
which extends third-party insurance guarantees to 
cover policyholders' own damage in certain 
circumstances. 

The company also offers specific coverage for 
accidents damaging animals or the possibility of 
choosing between repair and compensation in 
some claims. Línea Directa Group operates in this 
sector with two other independent brands: 
Penélope Seguros, created in 2012 with cover 
specially designed for women, and Aprecio, an 

insurance policy aimed at motorbike users. 

Home insurance 

The Home segment, in which the company began 
operating in 2008, has become an engine of 
growth and diversification for Línea Directa. With a 
premium turnover of € 149.4 million and 727,000 
homes insured, this line of business already 
contributes 15% of the Group's income and 22% of 
its customer portfolio. Currently, the company is 
ranked 13th in the Home insurance sector by 
turnover. 

In recent years, the group has boosted its home 
insurance range through alliances with companies 
in other sectors. The aim is to give its customers 
access to other housing-related services on 
advantageous terms, to attract new policyholders 
and to promote energy efficiency in homes. 

New developments in 2023 include the launch of 
its comprehensive coverage against squatting, 
which has seen a high penetration among new 
customers. 

Health insurance 

As part of the company's strategy of diversifying its 
business, in late 2017 Línea Directa Aseguradora 
started operations in the health insurance business 
under the Vivaz brand. In just six years and 
operating in a very mature and concentrated 
market, the Group has gained 117,000 
policyholders and € 30.4 million in revenues, 
making it one of the 25 largest health insurers in 
Spain. 

The insurer's growth in this segment is based on its 
digital approach, the ease and flexibility of its 
customer experience, the competitiveness of its 
premiums and the breadth and quality of its medical 
staff which, in alliance with DKV, is made up of 
51,000 professionals and 
1,000 health centres and hospitals. 

The Company is particularly attentive to preventive 
medicine and the promotion of healthy lifestyles 
among policyholders and society as a whole. For 
instance, the Group allows its customers to benefit 
from preventive diagnostic tests without requiring any 
symptomatology. It also encourages its policyholders 
to follow healthy habits, such as walking at least 
10,000 steps a day, sleeping at least 7 hours a day 
and keeping a healthy diet. These habits lead to 
significant discounts on insurance renewal for 
customers up to € 200. 

At the end of 2023, Vivaz Activity, the app that 
monitors adherence to these healthy habits, had more 
than 19,000 registered users. During 2023, app 
users recorded an average of 219,500 steps per 
month per person and a total of 42 million hours of 
sleep, resulting in an average discount of € 45.15 
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per customer. 

In 2023, a major milestone took place in this 
business segment. As part of the company's multi-
line strategy, Health insurance is now marketed 
directly under the Línea Directa brand. The sale of 
products under the main brand, leader in notoriety 
in the larger insurance sector, is aimed at 
strengthening customer loyalty, as well as boosting 
the growth and diversification of the organisation. It 
will also allow the Company to offer customers a 
comprehensive and homogeneous customer 
journey, reinforcing synergies and cross-selling 
capabilities. 

This rebranding has not entailed any change in 
customer coverage or conditions, as policyholders 
continue to access the medical directory and the 
rest of the services offered by the company through 
its app in the same way, as well as continuing to 
be included in the rewards programme for 
maintaining healthy habits. 

On an operational level, the Company handled a 
total of 40,542 chat and videoconference queries 
in 2023, compared to 42,872 the previous year. 
Among the most requested online consultations are 
those with general practitioners, nutritionists, 
paediatricians and gynaecologists. 

Línea Directa Asistencia 

Línea Directa Asistencia is the Group's subsidiary 
specialising in verification, appraisal and travel 
assistance services. The subsidiary operates a 
network of thousands of employees throughout 
Spain, providing vehicle and personal assistance 
24 hours a day, 365 days a year. 

In 2023, Línea Directa Asistencia provided more 
than 624,500 roadside services nationwide. 

Also, thanks to the agreements with the European 
partners of Astrum Alliance, the world's leading 
association of travel assistance companies, it can 
offer this service to both Spanish and foreign 
customers, inside and outside Spain, 24 hours a 
day, every day of the year, in Spanish, English, 
German and Portuguese, for both the vehicle and 
its occupants in the event of a breakdown, 
accident or theft. 

Línea Directa Asistencia offers innovative mobility 
and roadside assistance solutions through its own 
team and a wide and experienced network of 
partners. 

Advanced Repair Centre (CAR) 

In addition to an extensive network of 
collaborators, comprising more than 1,000 
bodywork, mechanics and laminated glass 
workshops, Línea Directa Aseguradora has two 
state-of-the-art workshops of its own, known as 

Advanced Repair Centres (CAR), located in Madrid 
and Barcelona. These workshops offer a 
comprehensive service to the customer, from the 
report initiation to the repair of the vehicle, always 
under the Group's high standards of quality, 
commitment and excellence. 

The two Línea Directa Aseguradora workshops 
carried out a total of 
17,207 repairs in 2023. Of these, CAR Madrid, 
in operation since 2008, was responsible for 
9,850 repairs (-0.2%), and CAR Barcelona, 
established in 2018, handled 7,357 of the claims 
(+ 1.6%). 

The knowledge and information accumulated by 
both centres has enabled the Group to significantly 
expand its knowledge and innovation capacity in 
repair processes, boost quality and reduce claim 
costs. CAR workshops are able to manage all their 
internal and external processes 100% online, 
allowing customers to carry out a wide range of 
procedures through the channel, such as changing 
their appointments, requesting a replacement 
vehicle or checking the status of their repair, among 
others. 

All this has resulted in an excellent rating by users. 
The NSS (Net satisfaction score) of CAR Barcelona 
and CAR Madrid stood at 42.86 and 43.67 
points at the end of 2023, compared to an 
average 30.14 points for non-network workshops. 
CAR also has its own fleet of replacement vehicles 
that, free of charge, are made available to 
customers until the repair has been completed. 

LDAReparaciones 

As part of the reorganisation of the company's 
delivery processes, LDAReparaciones ceased to 
operate as a partnership in December 2023. 

Sustainable products 

For years, the Línea Directa Group has maintained a 
firm commitment to sustainability, most recently 
materialised through its three-year Sustainability Plan, 
in force until 2025. The plan includes 87 actions in 
15 areas for the period 2023-2025, in alignment 
with the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and 
integrated into the corporate strategy. 

In terms of commercial activity, the Group has been 
developing and launching various products and 
services which, in addition to meeting the business 
and growth objectives in each of the three segments 
in which it operates (Motor, Home and Health), aim 
to have a positive impact on society and the 
environment. 

Póliza Respira (Breathe Policy) 

Within its Motor segment, Línea Directa offers the 
Respira Policy, the first insurance policy specifically 
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aimed at zero-emission cars (including plug-in 
hybrid vehicles). The company closed the 2023 
financial year with more than 26,400 electric and 
plug-in hybrid vehicles in its portfolio and a market 
share of 10.1% of new registrations in this car 
segment. 

Llámalo X (Call it X) 

In response to the uncertainty generated in 
consumers by the restrictions on the most polluting 
vehicles and the rise of new forms of mobility and 
ownership, Línea Directa began marketing in 2020 
"Llámalo X", the first All Risk insurance with car 
included for a fixed price per month, including 
maintenance and taxes. This solution, which has 
been very well received at the launch of each of the 
promotions, regularly includes environmentally 
friendly vehicles. By the end of 2023, "Llámalo X" 
had around 2,600 policies with a car included. 

ConducTOP 

Línea Directa customers have at their disposal the 
ConducTOP mobile application, a programme 
that analyses the driving style of its users with the 
aim of making it safer and, therefore, more 
sustainable. The app takes into account the 
smoothness of cornering and braking, 
acceleration and adherence to speed limits, as 
well as concentration at the wheel. Policyholders 
with the highest scores accumulate points and 
discounts that can be exchanged for products and 
services at Cepsa petrol stations. At year-end 
2023, the App had accumulated 66,578 
downloads in the Android and IOS stores. 

ECO-labelled replacement vehicles 

The Advanced Repair Centres (CAR), Línea 
Directa's own state-of-the-art workshops, have 
among their services a wide range of Eco-labelled 
replacement vehicles, with LPG (liquefied 
petroleum gas) combustion, a propulsion system 
with almost zero CO2 emissions. 

Night Assistance for Young People 

Also in the area of sustainable insurance, Línea 
Directa Asistencia runs the Night Assistance for 
Young People service, which offers night-time 
transport for customers under 26 years of age if 
they have drunk alcohol or feel unwell. This 
service, which is completely free of charge, 
covers both the driver and their vehicle. The aim 
of this initiative, unique in the sector, is to avoid 
risky situations for a group particularly exposed to 
traffic accidents. 

Safe&Go 

In recent years, mobility has undergone a 
profound transformation that has given rise to new 
ways of getting around, including personal 

mobility vehicles (PMVs), such as electric scooters 
and bicycles. Aware of this new reality, Línea 
Directa offers Safe&Go, the first 100% digital 
insurance aimed at users of all types of PMVs. 

Safe&Go can be taken out at the customer's request 
to cover a single journey (under the on/off or pay-
per-use concept), or for a whole year. To do this, 
users can activate and deactivate their insurance 
through the Safe&Go app and only pay for the 
actual time of use for each ride. Pay-per-use has a 
flat rate of 2 cents per minute. There are three 
different offers in the annual package, depending 
on the scope of coverage, ranging from € 18.35 
for the most basic product to € 38.96 for the most 
comprehensive product. 

Safe&Go not only covers damage caused to third 
parties, but can also cover physical damage 
suffered by users themselves, and even legal 
defence. In addition, in the event of an accident, 
the app pinpoints the location for emergency 
services, which can shorten their response time and 
get users help quickly. 

The main novelty of this product is that, compared 
to the traditional model of car insurance, Safe&Go 
does not insure the vehicle but the person and their 
mobility, avoiding administrative formalities such as 
registration of the vehicle while guaranteeing 
sustainable and safe mobility. 

Hogar Despreokupado (squatter free home) 

In 2023, Línea Directa Aseguradora added to its 
Multi-risk insurance "Hogar Despreokupado", a 
unique cover in Spain that protects the homeowner 
against the legal and economic consequences 
derived from the illegal occupation of their home. 
The policy, which has been very well received 
commercially, includes up to € 10,000 in legal 
assistance from the company and legal costs 
(lawyer, solicitor, expert witness, notary fees, court 
costs and fees) to recover your home and financial 
compensation for expenses to repair the damage 
and other costs. 

The product covers repair of the property, offering a 
choice between provision of the service by Línea 
Directa's tradespeople, with no financial limit, or 
reimbursement of € 5,000 if the insured arrange the 
work themselves. 

They will also be compensated with: € 300 per 
month for six months for water, electricity and gas 
bills for their main residence; € 800 per month for 
six months for loss of rental income; € 800 per 
month for six months if they need alternative 
accommodation. The cover also includes up to € 
7,500 for damage to third parties caused by the 
squatters.



133 Línea Directa Aseguradora and subsidiaries

Consolidated Management Report (in thousand euros)

 

 

The English version is a translation of the original in Spanish made by Linea Directa Aseguradora, S.A on his sole 
responsibility and shall not be considered official. In case of discrepancy, the Spanish version shall prevail 

1.2 Organisational structure and 
corporate governance 

The Línea Directa Aseguradora Group is made up 
of: 

- The Parent, LÍNEA DIRECTA ASEGURADORA 
S.A., COMPAÑÍA DE SEGUROS Y 
REASEGUROS, with Tax ID Number 

A-80871031 and registered office is at Calle 
Isaac Newton 7, Tres Cantos, Madrid, Spain 
(from now on, the “Company” or “Línea Directa 
Aseguradora”); and 

- Subsidiaries, wholly owned by the parent 
company, according to the following 
organisation chart: 

 
 
 

 

The Company has a Corporate Governance Policy, 
approved by the board of directors on 20 July 
2021 and updated in 2022, which sets out the 
corporate and governance structure of Línea Directa 
Group, its underlying principles, its bodies and the 
essential rules of its internal operations. 

Línea Directa Aseguradora's shares have been listed 
on the Spanish stock market (Madrid, Barcelona, 
Bilbao and Valencia Stock Exchanges) since 29 
April 2021. 

The Annual General Meeting is the Company's 
sovereign body. The duly convened shareholders 
meet there to deliberate and decide, by the 
majorities required in each case, on the matters in 
which they have a say. 

 
The Board of Directors is the body responsible for 
the Company's administration, governance and 
representation, in accordance with the duties 
assigned to it by law, the Bylaws and the Rules and 
Regulations of the Board of Directors. 

 
According to the provisions of the Bylaws, the 
Board of Directors must be composed of a minimum 
of 5 and a maximum of 15 directors and it must be 
made up in such a way that ensures compliance 
with the requirements of the Spanish Corporate 
Enterprises Act and Articles 13, 38 and 65 et seq. 
of Law 20/2015, of 14 July, on the regulation, 
supervision and solvency of insurance and 
reinsurance companies, and Directive 
2009/138/EC of the European Parliament and of 
the Council of 25 November 2009 on the taking-
up and pursuit of the business of insurance and 
reinsurance in such a way that its members have the 
appropriate professional qualifications, competence 
and experience, as well as the requirements of 
good repute required by the Supervisor and 
included in the Company's Fitness and Good 
Repute Policy. 

Seven members make up the new Board of Directors, 
which is an appropriate and efficient size for its 
effective functioning. 

The composition of the Board reflects Línea Directa 
Aseguradora's commitment to diversity, with 57% of 
its members being women, exceeding the minimum 
recommended thresholds in this area. Furthermore, 
only one of the directors is an executive. 

The Chairman of the Board of Directors has no 
executive functions, being a separate position from 
that of Chief Executive Officer. 

There are two advisory committees (the Audit and 
Compliance Committee and the Appointments, 
Remuneration and Corporate Governance 
Committee) which are composed entirely of external 
(non-executive) directors and a majority of 
independent directors, including their chairmen. 

These Committees assume the powers provided for by 
law and in the CNMV's Code of Good Governance, 
as set out in the Regulations of the Board of Directors 
of the Company. It should be noted that the 
Appointments, Remuneration and Corporate 
Governance Committee is responsible for the 
competencies related to the strategy and practices in 
sustainability matters recommended by the Code of 
Good Governance. 

Since its IPO, the Company has approved and 
updated its internal regulations and corporate 
policies (among others, Corporate Governance 
Policy, Director Selection Policy, Communication 
Policy with shareholders, investors and proxy 
advisors, Related-Party Transactions Policy or 
Directors' Remuneration Policy), all in accordance 
with CNMV's Good Governance Code and the 
Spanish Corporate Enterprises Act. In 2023, the 
Regulations of the Board have been updated to, 
inter alia, expressly attribute to the Board of 
Directors certain powers provided for in legislation, 
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thus avoiding the dispersion of rules and 
regulations, and to specify some of the functions 
of the consultative committees. The full report with 
the amendments enacted will be made available 
to shareholders together with the documents 
convening the next Annual General Meeting. 

At the executive level, the Company has a 
management committee, composed of the CEO and 
the officers responsible for the main functional areas 
of the Company: Motor, Home, Health, Services 
and Benefits, Technical Area, Finance, Digital 
Transformation, Technology, Marketing, General 
Secretariat, and People, Communication, 
Sustainability and Quality. There are also specific 
committees for analysis and deliberation on highly 
relevant issues such as investments or sustainability, 
as well as specific teams that manage the critical 
functions of Línea Directa as an insurance company: 
Operational Risk Management, Regulatory 
Compliance, Actuarial and Internal Audit functions. 

Aside from the Company's regular contact with 
shareholders and other stakeholders throughout the 
year, and the information permanently available on 
the corporate website 
(https://www.lineadirectaaseguradora.com/gobier
no-corporativo), a detailed account of Línea 
Directa's governance system and practices is 
provided in its Annual Corporate Governance 
Report, which is published in the CNMV and on the 
corporate website together with the other documents 
related to the call for the next Annual General 
Meeting. 
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2. Business performance 

2.1 Economic context 

In 2023, global economic activity remained 
buoyant despite the tightening of global monetary 
policy and multiple sources of geopolitical 
uncertainty. Israel’s incursion into Gaza dominated 
the latter part of the year and the whole of the 
Middle East and the West are watching the 
situation closely due to the risk of a further 
escalation. In the meantime, there has still been no 
solution to the ongoing conflict in Ukraine. 

GDP growth slowed markedly - with considerable 
heterogeneity across regions - and is not expected 
to pick up appreciably in 2024, partly as a result 
of the expected loss of growth momentum in the 
United States and China. 

The global disinflationary process has continued in 
recent months. The decline in inflationary 
pressures has continued to have a more 
pronounced impact in headline than in core 
inflation rates, moderated by the relatively higher 
persistence of inflation in the price of services. 

 
At their most recent policy meetings, both the US 
Federal Reserve and the European Central Bank 
(ECB) decided to leave their policy rates unchanged 
after raising them to their highest levels since 2008. 
Communications from these central banks – which 
had been emphasising that policy rates would 
probably have to remain at their current levels for an 
extended period of time in order to bring inflation 
back towards medium-term target rates – begin to 
signal that the current monetary tightening cycle 
may have peaked and that now the restrictive 
monetary policy should be given time to unfold its 
full effects. 

Global financial market behaviour  has continued 
to be shaped by expectations regarding the future 
course of monetary policy. Because these 
expectations, have changed substantially in the last 
few months of 2023, we have seen significant 
declines in long-term interest rates and strong gains 
in the major stock market indices. 

 
In the currency markets , In the currency markets, 
the strength of the US economy and the Federal 
Reserve's tight monetary policy, determined to fight 
inflation and raise interest rates by keeping them 
higher for longer, have boosted the value of the 
dollar against the major currencies. The euro, after 
hitting a 20-year low against the dollar in 2022, 
has rebounded slightly, closing 2023 up 3.16%. 

Economic activity in the euro area , has 
remained clearly weak and, looking ahead, is 

expected to reactivate only gradually.  

The Spanish economy slowed down in the second 
half of the year. The indicators available for the 
fourth quarter suggest that activity kept up a similar 
dynamism to that recorded in the previous quarter 
and that GDP increased by 0.3% quarter-on-quarter: 
all in all, the year-on-year change in Spanish GDP 
according to the Ministry of Economy's advance 
data reveals a GDP growth of 2.5%, well below 
that seen in previous years (+6.4% and +5.8% 
for 2021 and 2022, respectively).  

 

Spain 2022 2023 
GDP % var. +5.8% +2.5% 
Private consumption % var. +4.4% n.d. 
Household savings rate 7.2% 11.7% 
Unemployment 12.9% 11.8% 
Debt/GDP 113.2% 109.8% 
Source: INE, EPA, Bank of Spain 

 
Inflation in Spain moderated over the course of the 
year, closing at 3.1%. Core inflation eased to 
3.8%, its lowest level since March 2022. 

 

 
 
By the end of 2023, year-on-year increase in 
employment  in Spain had exceeded 783,000 
people, according to the National Statistics Institute 
(INE). However, Spain's unemployment rate is still 
the highest in the European Union (11.76%). 
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2.2 Developments on the Spanish 
insurance market 

The insurance sector, with its counter-cyclical nature, 
reached a premium volume of 76,463 million 
euros, a growth of 18%, well above the 4.8% 
recorded in 2022.  Growth was asymmetric: life 
insurance grew by 36.3% to € 33,452 million, 
driven by rising interest rates, while non-life 
premiums increased by a solid but much more 
moderate 6.8% to € 43,011 million, according to 
data published by the Insurance Entities 
Cooperative Research (ICEA). 

 
The Motor segment , which represents 28% of total 
non-life turnover, grew by 6.6% (compared to a 
growth of 3.3% in 2022), mainly due to the 
increase in average premiums among the industry in 
general in response to strong inflation, which was 
passed on to the cost of claims. The growth in the 
number of insured vehicles also contributed, albeit 
to a lesser extent, with a year-on-year increase of 
1.5% to 33,411,116 insured vehicles, according 
to data from the FIVA (Fichero Informativo de 
Vehículos Asegurados). 

 
We have also seen a slight recovery in the number 
of registrations (+16.7%), driven by an increased 
outflow of stock following the supply crisis, which is 
still in the process of being resolved. In any case, 
sales figures are still extraordinarily low. During 
2023, the number of registrations fell 24.6% below 
2019 registrations, a dip which, together with 
inflation, continues to weigh on the industry's 
ultimate recovery, and is translating into an ageing 
of the insured fleet, which is already more than 14 
years old in average. Renting continues to 
consolidate its position as an alternative for mobility, 
with registrations growing by 16.3% in 2023. 

The profitability of the Motor segment, however, has 
been severely eroded, resulting in a technical loss 
with a combined ratio of 104.2% in the fourth 
quarter and 101.6% for the full year 2023. The 
segment was hit hard by a sharp increase in 
average costs, both in property damage, with the 
strong impact on repair costs (spare parts, paint, 
glass and labour) and in the injury rate, which 
recorded an overall increase of 8.5%. The increase 
in the rate has been set at 3.8% for 2024. 

The development in recent years of a series of 
repair and damage cost indicators is shown 
below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Home segment  recorded an outstanding year 
of growth, despite the transmission of the tightening 
of monetary policy to credit and the sharp 
slowdown in home sales, with the figure for 
November dropping 15% year-on-year. The drops 
adds to the declines seen in the last eleven months, 
according to the Spanish National Statistics Institute 
(INE). 
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Despite this, the Home segment grew by 6.4% in 
2023, compared to a growth of 5.5% in 2022, 
thanks to rate adjustments and increased 
penetration. 

The profitability of the segment was weighed down 
by weather events and higher repair costs, ending 
the year with a combined ratio of 97.9%, up 1.5 
p.p. vs. 2022. 

 

Source: State Meteorological Agency of Spain 
 

The Health segment  grew by 6.6%, slightly less 
than the 7.6% recorded in 2022. The segment now 
accounts for more than 26% of total non-life 
turnover, second only to Motor. Despite the 
slowdown in the inflow of new policyholders linked 
to the economic cycle, Health had a more than 
remarkable growth also supported by the rate 
adjustments enacted in the sector as a result of the 
increase in medical expenses and hospital costs. In 
terms of profitability, the combined ratio closed the 
year at 94.4%. 
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2.3 Business performance 

Corporate highlights 

The Group implemented standards IFRS-EU 17 
"Insurance contracts" and IFRS-EU 9 "Financial 
instruments" for the first time on 1 January 2023. 
These new standards have brought about changes 
in the recognition and measurement of insurance 
and reinsurance contracts and financial instruments. 
However, given the business segments in which the 
Group operates and their nature and cycles, these 
changes have not had a material impact on the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Further details on the impacts and implications of 
these new standards are included in the Group's 
Consolidated Financial Statements under the section 
Issues arising from the entry into force of IFRS 17 
and IFRS 9 as at 1 January 2023. 

The most relevant change in IFRS 17 relates to the 
valuation of insurance contracts at market value in 
order to eliminate accounting asymmetries in 
relation to assets. The standard provides for 
contracts with similar risks to be grouped and 
managed together. In the case of Línea Directa, the 
groupings correspond to the current Motor, Home, 
Health and Other insurance segment divisions. All 
of the Company's insurance and reinsurance 
contracts are measured using the simplified method. 

Despite the implementation of this new regulation, 
the business fundamentals remain unchanged. 
IFRS-EU 17 & 9 do not affect the strategy and 
management of the business. The Solvency position 
is not affected by having its own metrics on both 
solvency-eligible funds and capital charge. 

The cash position and liquidity management are 
also not affected by the application of the new 
accounting standards. 

Business performance key figures  

The year presented notable challenges, especially 
in cost management due to the sharp increase in 
inflation, which fed through to the statement of profit 
or loss in the cost of claims cost item. 

The following table summarises the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss as at December 2023, 
showing the various components of profit or loss 
and their comparison with the previous year. 

Revenues from ordinary insurance activities  grew 
by 3.8% to € 960.3 million, thanks to the positive 
performance of all main lines of business. 

 
The Company has applied prudent underwriting 
and risk selection measures, with a progressive 
adaptation of rates to the new inflationary context. 

 
 
 

 

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT OR LOSS (IFRS 17 & 9) 
 

In thousand euro 2023 2022 % var. 

Income from ordinary insurance business 960,266 925,444 3.8% 
Technical profit/(loss) of the insurance activity (38,225)  37,130 -202.9% 
Net gains/(losses) from investments 33,992 41,845 -18.8% 
Credited interest (4,646) 425 n/a 
Net income from insurance and investments (8,879) 79,400 -111.2% 
Other income/expenses and non-allocable expenses 2,332 4,160 -43.9% 
Profit/(loss) before tax (6,547) 83,560 -107.8% 
Taxes 2,157 (20,436) -110.6% 
Profit/(loss) after tax (4,390) 63,124 -107.0% 
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The technical profit/(loss) of the insurance 
business , which measures the difference between 
revenues and payments for insurance claims and 
expenses, recorded a loss of € 38.2 million. This 
result is a consequence of inflationary pressures 
passed on to the cost of claims, heavily impacted 
by the sharp increase in repair and replacement 
costs, higher injury expenses and higher hospital 
charges. 

Net investment income amounted to € 34.0 
million and includes the following items: 
• Fixed income interest, deposits, equity income 

and other financial revenues amounting to € 
27.9 million. Fixed income interest, deposits and 
swap income benefited from higher rates in the 
year. 

• Changes in the market value of the investment 
funds and the hedging swap resulted in a 
combined amount of € 1.9 million. 

• Investment income (loss) of € 0.2 million and 
exchange rate differences of € 0.3 million in 
2023 

• Property investments results amounting to € 4.4 
million, which include the capital gain from the 
sale of a property in Las Rozas, Madrid, 
amounting to € 1.4 million. 

The financial result decreased by 18.8% compared 
to the previous year due to the following non-
recurring items recorded in 2022: 

• In 2022, the Company realised capital gains 
mainly in investment funds amounting to € 7.2 
million (€ 0.2 million in 2023). 

• The Company also realised currency gains in 
2022 as a result of the rebound of the US 
dollar. Exchange rate and conversion differences 
recorded in the income statement amounted to € 
0.3 million in 2023 compared to € 3.8 million 
in 2022. 

• Finally, 2022 results included € 4.8 million in 
Economic Interest Groupings (EIGs) in which no 
investments were made in 2023. 

Excluding the effect of the above-mentioned items 
and that of the change in the market value of 
investment funds in 2023 amounting to € 1.9 
million, the financial result actually increased by 
19.8% in 2023. This increase is due to 
reinvestment at higher rates in the fixed income 
portfolio, the remuneration of deposits, and the 
financial income from the hedging swap. 

Interest credited  reflects the reversal of the 
discounting effect of the previous year on the 
provision for claims incurred. This reversal is 
recorded as an expense of € 4.6 million in the 

year. This heading is presented separately from the 
financial result for clarity. 

Other non-allocable income and expenses 
contributed € 2.3 million to the year, decreasing in 
43.9% from 2022. This heading includes 
commissions on the redirection of potential customers 
to other entities and income from auxiliary assistance 
and repair services to third parties. Expenses include 
per diems and remuneration of the Board of 
Directors, donations to Línea Directa Foundation and 
other non-allocable training and research expenses. 
The decrease in this heading in 2023 is due to the 
reduction in the business of auxiliary third-party 
assistance services. 

As a result, profit/(loss) after taxation shows a loss 
of € 4.4 million in 2023 compared to a profit of € 
63.1 million last year. 

During the year, the Company implemented a set of 
underwriting and risk selection measures, activated 
levers in claims management and accelerated its 
digital transformation and efficiency improvements. 
These measures have made it possible to outline a 
path back to profit already in the second half of 
2023. 
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Management ratios  

The non-life combined ratio is a key management 
ratio that measures the ratio of insurance servicing 
costs (claims incurred and other expenses 
attributable to insurance servicing) in relation 
revenues, net of reinsurance. The combined ratio 
stood at 104.1% at the end of 2023, up 8.2 
percentage points from 2022. Its performance was 
asymmetric in its two main headings: 

 

 Combined ratio 
2023 2022 p.p. var. 

Motor 104.5% 95.0% 9.5 p.p. 
Home 95.8% 94.2% 1.6 p.p. 
Health 158.2% 154.2% 4.0 p.p. 
Other 69.2% 66.9% 2.3 p.p. 
Total 104.1% 95.9% 8.2 p.p. 

 
Claims incurred in Motor and Home recorded 
increases while Health experienced a notable 
improvement thanks to a reduction in claims 
frequency. 

 
In the Motor segment, margins were strongly 
affected by the robust inflation in costs that started in 
2022 and continued throughout 2023. The 
personal vehicle repair and maintenance index 
closed the year with a 6.9% increase. The injury 
rate was revalued by 8.5% in 2023, in addition to 
the 4.1% in 2022 and the revision of the actuarial 
tables. Claims frequency in Motor, conversely, 
performed favourably except in the own-damage 
area, where frequency increased notably. 

Home insurance in 2023 was marked by a greater 
weight of claims arising from atmospheric 
phenomena, which added € 7.2 million to the cost 
of claims (€ 2.1 million in 2022). 

Meanwhile, expenses saw an extraordinary 
performance that is part of a strategy of strict cost 
containment and greater efficiency in the retention 
of policies. The search for efficiency and 
digitalisation remains the roadmap for the 
continuous improvement of the Company's 
management ratios. In particular, administration 
costs were reduced by 6.7% in 2023. 
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Statement of profit or loss by segment  

Below is a detailed summary of changes in the 
statement of profit or loss by business segment: 

Motor 

The Motor segment saw a 3.3% increase in 
insurance revenues (net of reinsurance) to reach € 
777.6 million, driven by the progressive adaptation 
of rates to the inflationary context. The number of 
customers declined by 126 thousand as a result of 
the risk selection measures carried out during the 
year.  In line with the sector as a whole, (see

Development of the Spanish insurance market, 
business performance and management ratios) 
claims incurred in the year were strongly affected by 
the inflationary situation. 

On a much more positive note, expenditure items 
were kept on a tight leash, growing overall well 
below revenue figures. 

As a result, technical profit/(loss) for the year saw a 
loss of € 34.9 million, equivalent to a combined 
ratio of 104.5%. 

 

In thousand euro 2023 2022 % var. 
Income from ordinary insurance activities, net of reinsurance 777,635 753,113 3.3% 

Claims incurred, net of reinsurance (652,866) (558,716) 16.9% 
Net operating expenses (159,676) (156,735) 1.9% 
Technical profit/(loss) (34,907)  37,662 -192.7% 
   

Combined ratio 104.5% 95.0% 9.5 p.p. 
 

Customers (thousands) 2,471,102 2,597,196 (126,094) 
 
 

Home 

The Home segment saw a 9.4% increase in 
insurance revenues (net of reinsurance) to reach € 
142.0 million. 

 

As has been the case in the Motor segment, the 
number of policyholders suffered in 2023, affected 
by the moderate* tightening of underwriting for some 
profiles. The number of customers decreased by 26 
thousand or 3.4% to 726,654 customers. 

 
In thousand euro 2023 2022 % var. 
Income from ordinary insurance activities, net of reinsurance  141,956 129,800 9.4% 

Claims incurred, net of reinsurance (94,121) (80,002) 17.6% 
Net operating expenses (41,833) (42,224) -0.9% 

Technical profit/(loss) 6,002 7,574             -20.8 % 
   

Combined ratio 95.8% 94.2% 1.6 p.p. 
 

Customers (thousands) 726,654 752,170 (25,516)  
 

The technical result reflects the excellent 
development and containment of operating 
expenses. 

Claims frequency, however, was affected by the 
heavy storms in Spain in the second half of the 
year, contributing € 7.2 million to claims incurred 
for the year (€ 2.1 million in 2022). 

The Home segment achieved a strong technical 
result of € 6.0 million and a combined ratio of 
95.8%. 
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Health 

Revenues from the Health segment, net of 
reinsurance, registered a very positive growth of 
5.2% to € 16.4 million. 

 
 

The number of customers increased by 7.1% to 
117,345. 

 

In thousand euro 2023 2022 % var. 
Income from ordinary insurance activities, net 
of reinsurance 16,413 15,601 5.2% 

Claims incurred, net of reinsurance (13,299) (14,494) -8.2% 
Net operating expenses (12,672) (9,565) 32.5% 

Technical profit/(loss) (9,558) (8,458) 13.0% 
   

Combined ratio 158.2% 154.2% 4.0 p.p. 
 

Customers (thousands) 117,354 109,576 7,778 
 

In this business segment, the Company has 
proportional reinsurance in which it cedes 50% of 
the premium and claims. 

Costs from claims incurred fell by 8.2%, mainly as a 
result of a lower frequency in claims, reflecting the 
continuous improvement in risk selection and 
underwriting. 

Operating expenses, net of reinsurance, reflect the 
absence of proportional reinsurance commissions, 
which are longer received as of January 2023. 
Excluding this item (€ 4.2 million in 2022), 
operating expenses would have decreased by 
7.8%. 

 
 

Other Insurance Businesses  

The Other insurance businesses segment mainly 
includes the travel insurance business for Bankinter 
cardholders and Bankinter Consumer Finance under 
ten group policies, the Vivaz Safe&Go insurance 
product launched in September 2021 as the first 
pay-as-you-go insurance for users of personal 
mobility vehicles, and a discontinued payment 
protection insurance policy. 

 
 

As of 31 December 2023, revenues from this 
segment amounted to € 773 thousand, down 
27.4% as a result of a lower travel insurance 
business from Bankinter cardholders. This segment, 
while modest in volume, delivers strong profitability, 
as evidenced by a combined ratio of 69.2%. 

 
In thousand euro 2023 2022 % var. 
Income from ordinary insurance activities, net of reinsurance 773 1,065 -27.4% 

Claims incurred, net of reinsurance (476) (647) -26.4% 
Net operating expenses (59) (66) -10.6% 

Technical profit/(loss) 238 352 -32.4% 
 

Combined ratio 69.2% 66.9%            2.3 p.p.  
 

Customers (thousands) 3,494 4,034 (540) 
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Condensed consolidated balance sheets: 

The Company's balance sheet at 31 December 2023 is as follows: 
 

In thousand euro   
2022 % var. Assets 2023 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Financial assets through changes in P&L 

Equity instruments 
Financial assets through changes in equity 

Equity instruments 
Debt securities 

Assets at amortised cost 

Hedging derivatives 

Assets under reinsurance contracts 
Property, plant and equipment and investment property 

Property, plant and equipment 
Investment property 

Intangible assets 
Other assets 

41,746 
53,998 
53,998 

823,345 
63,524 

759,821 
15,456 
5,909 

31,939 
101,600 
43,077 
58,523 
29,188 
22,141 

51,661 -19.2% 
48,818 10.6% 
48,818 10.6% 

690,846 19.2% 
72,068 -11.9% 

618,778 22.8% 
22,373 -30.9% 

7,808 -24.3% 
21,957 45.5% 

110,043 -7.7% 
45,368 -5.0% 
64,676 -9.5% 
14,482 101.5% 
34,438 -35.7% 

Total assets 1,125,322 1,002,426 12.3% 

 
In thousand euro 

Liabilities and equity 2023 2022 % var. 
Liabilities at amortised cost 65,313 59,288 10.2% 
Hedging derivatives — — - 
Liabilities under insurance contracts 715,311 610,282 17.2% 

Liabilities for remaining coverage 339,352 325,056 4.4% 
Liabilities for incurred claims 375,959 285,225 31.8% 

Non-technical provisions 375 780 -51.9% 
Other liabilities 31,288 31,745 -1.4% 
Total liabilities 812,287 702,095 15.7% 
Equity 330,087 324,243 1.8% 
Valuation adjustments (17,052) (23,912) -28.7% 

Financial assets measured at FVTOCI (18,226) (29,856) -39.0% 
OCI insurance contracts 1,689 6,241 -72.9% 
OCI reinsurance contracts (515) (297) 73.4% 

Total equity 313,035 300,331 4.2% 
Total liabilities and equity 1,125,322 1,002,426 12.3% 
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The most relevant headings and changes include: 
 

– Cash and cash equivalents  amounted to € 
41.7 million, a decrease of 19.2% in order to 
mitigate the capital burden on solvency 
counterparty risk. At the same time, exposure 
to government fixed income assets with similar 
liquidity has increased. 

 
– Financial assets at fair value through 

changes in profit and loss includes 
participations in investment and venture 
capital funds, where market value performed 
very favourably throughout the year and 
exposure to venture capital funds increased 
with the disbursement of commitments already 
acquired. 

– Financial assets at fair value through equity  
includes fixed income and equity instruments. 
The Company decreased its equity exposure in 
2023, while the valuation of its fixed income 
portfolio performed very positively during the 
year as a result of the fall in interest rates. The 
change in the market value of financial assets 
through changes in equity is reflected in the item 
"Adjustments for changes in value" in equity. 

 
– Hedging derivatives includes a swap contract, 

which, due to its valuation, is recognised as an 
asset. 

 
– Property, plant and equipment includes 

properties for the Company's own use and their 
amortisation in the year. 

– Property investments includes the property 
investment portfolio at 31 December, 
comprised of two buildings. In 2023, the 
Company sold a property in Las Rozas, 
Madrid, generating a capital gain of € 1.4 
million. 

– The increase in intangible assets corresponds 
to the acquisition of software licenses and 
other rights-of-use. The Group considers rights-
of-use as an intangible asset with an indefinite 
useful life. They will be subject to an annual 
impairment test. 

 
– Liabilities under insurance contracts 

includes the provision for outstanding 
coverage, calculated under the simplified 
premium allocation method (PAA) and 
reflecting premiums collected minus direct 
acquisition costs. Its movement reflects an 
increase in turnover. The provision for incurred 
claims reflects the increase in the cost of 
claims, mainly in the Motor segment, strongly 
impacted by the rise in repair and 
replacement costs and in expenses from 
injuries. 

 

– Changes in Other assets and liabilities are a 
result of the business management process. 

– The Company has no subordinated liabilities or 
financial debt. 
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Investment portfolio  

At year-end 2023, the investment portfolio amounted to € 977.6 million and is distributed as follows: 
 

In thousand euro 2023 2022 

Cash & equivalents 
Fixed income 
Fixed income – government 

Spain 

Italy 

Portugal 
United States 
Rest 

Fixed income – corporate 
Spain 
Rest of Europe 
United Kingdom 
Rest of the world 

Shares 
of which SOCIMIs (Spanish REITs) 

Investment funds 
Property investments 

41,746 4.3% 

759,821 77.7% 

380,665 38.9% 

158,454 16.2% 
137,437 14.1% 

14,779 1.5% 

997 0.1% 

68,998 7.1% 
379,156 38.8% 

189,240 19.4% 

118,929 12.2% 

22,956 2.3% 
48,031 4.9% 

63,524 6.5% 

29,532 3.0% 

53,998 5.5% 

58,523 6.0% 

51,661 6.0% 

618,778 72.3% 

356,496 41.6% 

168,561 19.7% 
132,418 15.5% 

44,593 5.2% 

989 0.1% 

9,935 1.2% 
262,282 30.6% 

132,278 15.5% 

89,057 10.4% 

13,527 1.6% 
27,420 3.2% 

72,074 8.4% 

30,340 3.5% 

48,812 5.7% 

64,676 7.6% 

Total 977,612 100.0%  856,001 100.0%  

 
– Cash and cash equivalents amounting to € 

41.7 million; 
– Fixed income of € 759.8 million, comprising € 

380.7 million in government bonds and € 
379.2 million in corporate bonds; 

– Equities, and equity and venture capital funds 
for a total of € 63.5 million and € 54.0 
million, respectively; 

– Investment property amounting to €58.5 
million. 

The credit rating of fixed income investments is as 
follows. Of the total, 98% has a rating of BBB or 
higher. 

The average maturity of the fixed income portfolio is 
3.13 years. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

In thousand euro 

Fixed income 2023 2022 

AAA 55,512 13,304 
AA 55,624 11,264 
A 324,000 271,885 
BBB 305,885 301,197 
Lower than BBB 12,740 10,359 
No rating 6,060 10,769 
Total 759,821 618,778 
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The equity portfolio is composed of the following: 
 

Shares 2023 2022 

Real estate 45,073 46,527 
of which SOCIMIs 
(Spanish REITs) 

29,532 30,340 

Financial 4,973 5,355 
Industrial 2,592 6,466 
Consumer - non-cyclical 2,560 3,350 
Technology 2,108 3,084 
Consumer - cyclical 1,229 2,223 
Telecommunications 1,638 2,716 
Utilities 2,936 1,833 
Basic materials 415 520 
Total 63,524 72,074 

In thousand euro 
 
 

Investment property comprises two properties, with 
an occupancy ratio of 100%. The Company also 
has four buildings for its own use and a parking. 
Off-balance sheet capital gains on investment 
property and properties for own use amounted to € 
30.7 million before tax. 

Changes in equity 

Consolidated equity amounted to € 313.0 
million . The book value per share amounted to € 
0.29 at 31 December 2023 (€ 0.28 at 31 
December 2022). Changes in net equity include: 

 
– The loss for the year amounted to € 4.4 million. 
– The decrease in unrealised losses in the 

investment portfolio at fair value through equity: 
€ 18.2 million at the end of 2023 compared to 
€ 29.9 million at the end of 2022. 

– Adjustments for changes in value of the discount 
effect on the incurred claims provision of 
insurance and reinsurance contracts (€ 1.2 mn 
at year-end 2023 compared to € 5.9 mn at 
year-end 2022). 

 
Return on equity 

Return on equity (ROE), represented by the ratio of 
profit after tax to average equity, came to -1.4% at 
the end of 2023 (17.8% at December 2022). The

decrease is due to the loss recorded in 2023. 

Solvency II 

Línea Directa Aseguradora's Solvency II ratio 
stood at 180.0% in 2023 , compared with 
187.8% in December 2022. 

Eligible own funds amounted to € 358.0 million, of 
which 100% is unrestricted Tier 1 capital of the 
highest quality. The solvency capital requirement 
reached € 198.9 million. 

The ratio remains strong and stable, supported by 
strict investment policies and prudent capital 
management. 

The solvency ratio excludes the subsidiaries of Línea 
Directa Aseguradora, as their corporate objects are 
ancillary insurance services almost all of which are 
provided to the parent company. As they are not 
insurers or reinsurers, there is no obligation to submit 
solvency reports at Group level. 

The following table shows the solvency requirements 
classified in their different modules and variation 
compared with the previous year: 

 

 2023 2022 

Market SCR 91,493 91,899 
Counterparty SCR 6,076 7,027 
Health SCR 3,499 3,142 
Non-life SCR 192,387 172,651 
BSCR 236,330 218,947 

   

Operational SCR 28,812 27,795 
 
Deferred tax adjustment 

 
(66,286) 

 
(61,686) 

SCR 198,857 185,057 
   

Own funds Solvency II 358,002 347,531 
In thousand euro 

 
Solvency II ratio 180.0% 187.8% 

The change in eligible own funds for solvency 
purposes from December 2022 through to the end 
of 2023 is largely a result of: 

– The loss reported at the Parent, Línea Directa 
Aseguradora; 
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– The decrease in unrealised losses in investment 
assets at fair value through equity; 

– The change in the provision for premiums and 
the provision for claims incurred in the solvency 
balance sheet. 

The sensitivity of the solvency ratio to the impact of 
various variables is shown below: 

 

 Ratio SII var. (p.p.) 
Interest rates +100 bp 
Interest rates +100 bp 

167.0% 

189.3% 

(13.0) 
+9.3 

Credit spread +100 bp 
Credit spread -100 bp 

176.3% 
184.0% 

(3.7) 
+4.0 

Equities +10% 
Equities -10% 

180.9% 

177.5% 

+0.9 
(2.5) 

Equities +30% 
Equities -30% 

187.0% 

172.2% 

+7.0 
(7.9) 

Property +10% 
Property -10% 

183.2% 

176.8% 

+3.2 
(3.2) 

Symmetric adjustment +10 
Symmetric adjustment -10 

176.5% 

184.6% 

(3.5) 
+4.6 

 

Actual    180.0%              - 

The Solvency II Ratio is a risk indicator that is closely 
monitored and tracked by the Company's Board of 
Directors when implementing its capital 
management policy (setting a dividend policy for 
shareholders, making decisions on investment 
policy, etc.) and in relation to the commercial 
strategy (launching new products or lines of 
business, acquiring risk mitigators, etc.). 
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3. Main risks and uncertainties 
Because of its activity, the Línea Directa Group is 
exposed to a series of risks and conditioning factors 
that may affect its reputation, objectives and 
strategy. To ensure that these risks are properly 
identified, measured, managed and controlled, the 
company has a series of principles of action and 
procedures that are systematically applied to all 
Group companies. 

These principles are governed by integration, 
independence, comprehensive management, 
transparency and review and continuous 
improvement in risk management, all under the 
values and standards of conduct reflected in the 
Code of Ethics and the Regulatory Compliance 
Policy. 

In 2022, as a result of the reorganisation of the 
company, a new Corporate Risks area was 
created, which integrates all the functions that 
already existed (Risk Management and Internal 
Control Unit, the Actuarial Function, Regulatory 
Compliance, Internal Control of Financial 
Information and Data Quality), always with the aim 
of providing more effective and efficient 
management with a more global vision. The mission 
of the area is to build a global risk map of the 
company and optimise the control environment in 
order to ensure the correct assessment and 
identification of threats and their integration into 
forecasts and decision-making. 

 
 

3.1 Cybersecurity risks 

Cybersecurity risk is the risk arising from technology 
that can affect data, confidentiality, misuse of 
information and system outages that can affect 
business, among other things. 

The Company's Security Policy is the reference 
framework for ensuring the sound definition, 
management, administration and implementation of 
the security measures and procedures needed to 
achieve a suitable level of protection for the 
criticality of the Group's physical and information 
assets. 

The Company has developed its Business Continuity 
Policy, the preparation and monitoring of which is 
the responsibility of the Group's Corporate Security 
area, in order to guarantee the continuity of 
business operations in the event of incidents 
affecting the normal operation of the Group's 
processes, as well as to comply with Article 41.4 of 
Directive 2007/138/EC of the European 
Parliament and of the Council of 25

November 2009 (Solvency II) and the regulations it 
rolls out, according to which insurance companies 
must guarantee the continuity and regularity in the 
execution of their activities. 

In response to the current digital environment and 
the growing threat of cyber-attacks, the Company 
has a powerful cybersecurity strategy in place 
aimed at protecting the Company's processes and 
operations from this threat. This strategy includes the 
implementation, assessment and improvement of 
mechanisms to prevent, detect and respond to 
cyber-attacks on the Group's systems and networks, 
together with awareness-raising actions and training 
for all employees in cybersecurity. 

3.2 Credit and financial risks 

Credit risk 

The Group views credit risk as the threat of possible 
loss or adverse change in financial conditions 
resulting from fluctuations in the solvency or 
creditworthiness of issuers of securities, 
counterparties and any debtors to which the Group 
is exposed. 

Given the nature of the Group's activities, its 
exposure to credit risk arises from the following 
factors: 

– Reinsurance (credit risk exposure with 
reinsurance entities). 

– Premium financing (credit risk exposure with 
customers). 

– Investment and lending activities (credit risk 
exposure with security issuers). 

The counterparties with which the Group acquires 
or may acquire significant positions must invariably 
undergo a prior scoring process. These 
counterparties include companies that provide 
insurance for large vehicle fleets and, in particular, 
reinsurance companies. For the latter, a minimum 
credit rating of "A-" is required as a prerequisite for 
inclusion within the reinsurance programme. 
Exceptions to this solvency threshold, together with 
the reinsurance table for each year, are expressly 
approved by the Board of Directors. 

Credit risk for motor policies is limited because in 
the event of non-payment by the policyholder, the 
Company cancels the policy within a maximum term 
of 90 days. 
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Exposure to credit risk is mitigated through a policy 
based on the prudent selection of issuers of 
securities and counterparties based on their 
solvency ratio. 

For investments in financial assets held by the Group 
in 2023 and 2022, no coupon defaults occurred, 
and the Group regularly monitors its exposure to all 
of its investments. 98% of the fixed income portfolio 
(€ 741 million) is rated BBB or higher. 1.7% are 
rated below BBB and 0.8% (€ 6.1 million) of the 
Group's bonds and debentures are not rated at all. 

Liquidity risk 

The Group treats liquidity risk as the potential 
temporary inability to honour its payment obligations 
within the agreed timeframes, due to such 
obligations maturing before receivables from 
customers fall due or before financial investments 
reach maturity. The Company generates daily 
liquidity from premium income. 

The Group carries out prudent liquidity risk 
management and is committed at all times to having 
sufficient liquidity to be able to honour its payments 
to suppliers, policyholders and counterparties in due 
course. Consequently, cash management is always 
carried out with the utmost prudence, avoiding at all 
times any possible overdraft or overlimit situation. 
Therefore, forecasts are systematically drawn up of 
expected cash generation and cash requirements, 
which enable the Group's liquidity position to be 
determined and monitored on an ongoing basis. 

Market risk 

The Company views market risk as the risk of loss or 
of adverse change in its financial situation, resulting 
directly or indirectly from fluctuations in the level and 
in the volatility of market prices of assets, liabilities 
and financial instruments. 

The level of assumable risk for the financial 
investments undertaken by the Group is explained in 
the Investment Guidelines approved by the Board of 
Directors. This document describes the types of 
permitted assets for investment purposes, along with 
the maximum proportion of these assets within the 
portfolio, and authorises the Group's Investment 
Committee to undertake investments. 

The Investment Committee, which meets on a 
monthly basis, is responsible for analysing the 
portfolio's performance, approving new lines of 
investment, verifying compliance with the Investment 
Guidelines and keeping the Board of Directors 
regularly informed. 

Since the beginning of 2022, the impact of the 
war in Ukraine, rising interest rates and higher 
inflation have caused the investments held by the 
group (and recognised against equity) to record 
losses, although these have been significantly 

reduced during 2023. Although the Company 
maintains a prudent investment strategy from the 
point of view of financial instruments, there are risks 
associated with the capital markets such as interest 
rate and equity market fluctuations. 

Insurance risk 

Insurance business risk focuses on Non-life and 
Health underwriting risk, comprising mainly premium 
sub-risk (premium adequacy risk) and reserve sub-
risk (insurance liability adequacy risk) for the Motor, 
Home, Health and Other insurance business 
segments. These risks are managed differently for 
each business line. Underwriting and health risks 
also include catastrophe risk and downside risk, 
with a lower impact than premium and reserve risks. 

The Group analyses inherent insurance-related risks 
for each line of business, both in terms of premiums 
and reserves, depending on the unique 
characteristics of each segment. 

In the Motor and Home segments, the technical 
rules and standards are constantly changing and 
underwriting is adapted accordingly through 
automatic and preventive mechanisms through 
which the various products are analysed in order to 
determine the sufficiency of premiums and insurance 
liabilities. Policy performance and returns are also 
monitored to analyse possible deviations. 

The Motor segment has a longer duration between 
the opening and closing of claims than the Home 
segment, mainly due to the civil liability guarantee, 
which lasts longer than the other guarantees. The 
Health segment is heavily influenced by seasonality, 
with higher levels of policy renewal at the 
beginning of the year. 

The Group relies on reinsurance as a primary tool 
for mitigating the premium, reserve and catastrophe 
sub-risks. Reinsurance is itself part of the 
counterparty risk due to the risk of default of the 
amounts recoverable from the reinsurance 
companies. 

Currency risk 

At 31 December 2023, the Company has a foreign 
currency position of 
€ 23,184 thousand (31 December 2022: € 
23,121 thousand). They relate to direct investments in 
financial instruments quoted in those currencies and 
there is no currency hedging whatsoever. There is no 
significant exposure to any foreign currency. 

3.3 Reputational risk 

The Group views reputational risk as the potential loss 
of customers, reduction in revenues or legal 
proceedings that the Group may incur due to loss of 
reputation, bad image or negative publicity with 
stakeholders. 
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The stakeholders of Línea Directa Aseguradora —at 
whom it targets its corporate reputation actions and 
for whom the impact of reputational risk is included 
in the risk management system— are customers, 
employees, suppliers, public institutions, 
shareholders, society, the community, consumers, 
the press and media and the wider industry. 

The Group attaches great importance to 
reputational risk management and therefore includes 
reputational risk management within the 
organisation's overall risk management system and 
has specific units in place to perform this function. 

3.4 Legal/regulatory risk 

The increase in regulations and standards has 
forced the company to adapt its processes and 
systems to the new legal requirements and to 
strengthen the most affected teams. In this regard, 
Línea Directa has developed a bulletin of regulatory 
and legal changes that includes regulatory projects, 
relevant criteria issued by the main supervisors as 
well as other news of scope that may affect or be of 
interest to the company. Information is also provided 
on the possible impact these regulatory measures 
could have on the company, and awareness 
programmes are held for the entire organisation on 
regulations and risks, including the implementation 
of actions to ensure that the areas incorporate these 
changes into their processes and operations. 

3.5  Environmental, social and
 governance risks 

The governing bodies receive information quarterly 
on the key risks facing the company and the capital 
resources available to manage them, as well as on 
compliance with the limits set out in the risk 
appetite. 

The Corporate Risk department, together with the 
Group's other divisions, periodically analyses the 
factors that could impact the business if they were to 
occur, including ESG factors. Based on this 
analysis, an assessment of the company's main risks 
is conducted, and the corresponding prevention 
and mitigation measures are identified in order to 
obtain an assessment of the residual risk. 

The Group has established the management model, 
processes and methodology for assessing ESG 
risks. The ESG risk management model is a 
qualitative assessment with KPIs that help to identify 
risks that could be considered as more immediate 
threats and regular monitoring to help ensure the 
exchange of information between the areas 
responsible and the Group's Risk department. 

The Group's ESG risk map shows the risks to which 
it is exposed, each of them linked to the Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDGs) and other reporting 
frameworks (GRI or Spanish Law 11/2018, on 
non-financial information). 

Although the Group does not operate in any critical 
sector in terms of climate change, it has specific 
policies and measures that allow us to manage 
resource consumption efficiently with the aim of 
minimising the impact on the environment. 

The Group also has protocols and concrete 
measures in place to unlock the full potential of its 
employees by fostering diversity and inclusion, 
offering the best solutions to maintain employability 
and promoting a safe working environment and 
employee health. 

The 5th Sustainability Plan runs from 2023 to 2025 
and is aligned with the United Nations sustainable 
development strategy and is articulated through the 
ESG dimensions. The plan consists of 6 objectives, 
15 strategic lines of action and a total of 87 
actions. 

3.6 Operational risk 

The Group defines operational risk as the potential 
loss due to inadequate or failed internal processes, 
people and systems or due to external events. 

The Group considers losses caused by Operational 
Risks to be those such as economic losses, 
reputational damage, legal breaches, technological 
or security failures or degradation of business 
processes or impact on customers or employees. 

The Group's operational risk management system is 
structured as a cyclical process of continuous 
improvement consisting of the following phases 
(Identification, Assessment/Measurement, Mitigation 
and Monitoring and Control). 

3.7 Additional information 

The “Risk Management Model” section of the Non-
financial Statement provides further information on 
the principles of action and the main roles and 
responsibilities of the governing bodies and parties 
involved in the risk control and management 
process. 
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4. Outlook for 2024 

The outlook for the coming quarters is of a gentle 
and gradual acceleration in economic activity 
within Spain, driven by a gradual improvement in 
the European and global context, the recovery of 
confidence and, looking further ahead to 2025–
2026, less of an macroeconomic impact from the 
ongoing tightening of monetary policy. 

In any case, GDP growth will be significantly lower 
than in 2023, as pre-pandemic levels of activity 
have already been exceeded. 

Moreover, GDP growth has been slightly 
downgraded by the Bank of Spain in 2024 and 
2025, owing, among other factors, to a less 
favourable outlook for future consumption 
developments. 

Headline inflation is expected to remain on a 
slightly rising path in early 2024 and to resume a 
declining path from the second part of the year 
onwards. This outlook is largely determined by the 
expected trend in energy prices moving forward 
and is conditional (in an upward sense) on the 
authorities lifting the main measures in place to 
mitigate the effects of the inflationary upturn. 
Meanwhile, core inflation is expected to gradually 
retreat, given the likely decline in energy and food 
commodity prices and the downward trend in 
producer prices. 

In the insurance context, the cost of claims in the 
Motor business is expected to be somewhat lower 
in 2024, albeit still high. The injury scale has been 
adjusted to 3.8% and rising repair costs are now 
beginning to slow. 

This year, Linea Directa will continue its 
transformation into a multi-product, customer-centric, 
more commercially capable, digital and efficient 
company. These actions, coupled with the positive 
market momentum, should increase revenue growth 
across the various segments in which the Company 
operates. 

The actions undertaken in 2023 and the technical 
measures adopted to reduce the impact of 
inflation and to reverse the trend in the claims ratio 
will lead to steady improvements. 

Last but not least, efficiency and productivity will 
be key features of our roadmap as always, as we 
work to further improve our management ratios. 
Improved efficiency will allow us to grow and 
become more agile, while deploying our strategy 
with a greater impact, improving our costs 
structure, and offering better products at more 
competitive prices. 
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5. Events after the reporting period 

There have been no events after the end of the 
accounting period that may affect the annual 
accounts or otherwise be of interest to users of the 
financial statements. 
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6. Environment – safety and personnel 

Environment 

Línea Directa Aseguradora operates in an industry 
that is not critical with respect to climate change. 
Moreover, it operates under a direct business 
model, without a network of offices throughout the 
country, which makes it a naturally more 
environmentally efficient company than other 
competitors in the sector. 

The company is, however, aware that it operates in 
a key segment in the transition to a low-carbon 
economy, namely motor transport. With an ageing 
vehicle fleet and a more restrictive regulatory 
horizon, Línea Directa is positioning itself with a 
sustainable business strategy in order to meet the 
needs of stakeholders in the face of the uncertainties 
that arise in this regard. The company's activity 
combines the responsible management of its 
consumption and the launch of new products for 
new, less polluting forms of mobility. In addition, the 
company continues to make progress in the 
responsible management of its value chain and in 
the inclusion of ESG criteria in its investment 
portfolio. 

In 2023, the company approved its 5th 
Sustainability Plan for the 2023-2025 period. The 
plan has the fight against climate change and 
decarbonisation among its main aims. As proof of 
Línea Directa's commitment to these aspects, the 
incentives of the CEO and the management team 
have been linked to specific actions defined in the 
Sustainability Plan, such as, for example, the 
publication of the first analysis of risks and 
opportunities in the face of climate change or the 
measurement of the Scope 3 carbon footprint. 

In this regard, the Company's adherence to the Task 
Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures is 
essential within its strategy towards climate change. 
With this commitment, it undertakes to incorporate 
and report on governance, strategy, risk and 
opportunity management and climate change 
metrics and goals. In early 2024, the first report on 
risks and opportunities will be approved and 
published following the recommendations of the 
TCFD. 

Climate change governance and management 

Climate change is integrated into the Company 
through the Sustainability Plan, approved by the 
Board of Directors and monitored by the working 
groups that make up its governance structure, as 
well as through the policies that form the basis for 
progress in sustainability and climate change in the 
Company, and through its adherence to the 
initiatives of national and international organisations 
that demonstrate its commitment to the fight against 
climate change. 

There are members of the management team in 
particular who have specific responsibilities in the 
fight against climate change: the People, 
Communication and Sustainability department and 
the Corporate Risk department. 

Similarly, the Management committee, the Standing 
Risk committee and the Sustainability committee, 
deal with climate change issues to a greater extent 
than the departments above. 

The Sustainability committee, made up of the Head 
of People, Communication and Sustainability, the 
General Secretary, the Head of Finance, the Head 
of Marketing and the Head of Services and 
Benefits, which meets at least three times a year, 
monitors aspects related to climate change and, in 
particular, has approved the first TCFD report 
published by Línea Directa in 2024. 

The Company also runs a Sustainability Working 
Group, in which the areas of External 
Communication and Sustainability, Purchasing, 
Investor Relations, Corporate Governance, Space 
Management, Marketing and New Products, Risks, 
Services and Benefits, Quality, People and Internal 
Communication and Social Action are represented, 
and which proposes to the Sustainability committee 
the actions to be included in the Sustainability Plan 
and allows for regular, transversal and detailed 
monitoring of the status of the actions underway in 
said Plan. 

The Company has thus implemented a structure, 
policy and actions that will serve to fight climate 
change, and which places it on the road to 
adapting to the new regulatory requirements that 
aim to achieve zero net emissions in the economy 
by 2050, both in its role as an insurer and in its 
role as an institutional investor. 

Risks and opportunities in the face of climate change 

Línea Directa recognises climate change as one of 
the most critical threats to the stability of the world's 
economic, social and geopolitical systems. For this 
reason, the company has joined the Task Force on 
Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD), the 
initiative set up by the Financial Stability Board. The 
Company thus commits to incorporating the task 
force's climate-related financial disclosure 
recommendations. 

In 2023, the company identified the impacts, risks 
and opportunities arising from climate change and 
established a governance procedure, strategy and 
associated metrics. In doing so, it has followed the 
TCFD Dissemination Recommendations Guide and 
aims to have a report approved and published in 
2024. 

Such report would describe the oversight and role of 
the company's Board of Directors, Board committees, 
Steering committees and Sustainability committees in 
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managing climate risks and opportunities. 

In addition, short-, medium- and long-term time 
horizons have been defined in which the identified 
risks and opportunities are set out. The impacts on 
business, strategy and financial planning are also 
set out, and resilience measures are described for 
two scenarios, one that exceeds 2°C and leads to 
an increase in the intensity and frequency of 
weather events, and the other in which a transition 
is made by keeping the temperature below 2°C in 
the long term. 

The document will include a description of the 
process of identifying and assessing climate risks, 
managing them and integrating them into the 
company's risk map, as well as metrics related to 
risk and opportunities, setting targets in this regard. 
The document will also contain the calculation of 
emissions generated by the activity according to the 
GHG Protocol for Scopes 1, 2 and 3. 

Línea Directa is committed to reporting on 
governance, strategy, risk and opportunity 
management and publishing metrics and targets 
regarding to climate change over the next years. To 
this end, the company has designed a roadmap to 
analyse the climate risks and opportunities, both 
physical and transitional, identified in the short, 
medium and long term, affecting both its operations 
and its value chain. 

Carbon footprint 

Línea Directa Group has been calculating its carbon 
footprint for over 12 years, and makes significant 
efforts year after year to improve the accuracy of its 
calculation and progressively reduce the sources of 
generation of greenhouse gas emissions included in 
its carbon footprint. 

In previous years, calculations covered the following 
sources of emissions: Direct (fossil fuel consumption), 
Indirect (electricity consumption) and Induced 
(including travel, business trips, paper and water 
consumption). 

In 2023, Línea Directa Group deepened the 
calculation of indirect emissions generated by the 
Company's own activity, in line with the 
provisions of the GHG Protocol for the calculation 
of Scope 3; as well as following the indications of 
the Accounting and Reporting Standard of the 
World Resources Institute (WRI) and the World 
Business Council for Sustainable Development 
(WBCSD). 

Línea Directa's Scope 3 is particularly relevant 
because it represents 99% of the group's 
emissions. The most significant emissions derive 
from purchases of products and services from 
suppliers (Category 1) and financed emissions 
(Category 15), i.e. from financial investments, in 
the Group's role as institutional investor. 

Línea Directa Aseguradora has verified its 2022 
carbon footprint created by all its emissions sources, 
including the three scopes for the first time, through 
an audit carried out by an independent third party, 
based on the GHG Protocol. 

In addition, Línea Directa Asistencia annually 
prepares a calculation of the greenhouse gases 
emitted in the activity it provides on the road. The 
Subsidiary calculates the kilometres travelled 
annually by towing services, by rental vehicles and 
taxis provided to customers during the repair of their 
vehicle, by the verification services provided by 
surveyors, and by the collection and delivery 
services of replacement vehicles to customers. A 
total of 6,947 tonnes of CO2 were recorded in 
2023, 4% less than in 2022. 

The Company has again registered its carbon 
footprint with the Ministry for Ecological Transition 
and the Demographic Challenge in 2023, through 
the Spanish Climate Change Office (OECC). The 
Company also plans to offset Scopes 1 and 2 of its 
carbon footprint through absorption projects of 
different kinds. 

Línea Directa has repeatedly set short-term targets in 
response to its roadmap for the decarbonisation of 
its activities. Its current Sustainability Plan sets a 5% 
annual reduction in Línea Directa Aseguradora's 
energy consumption, setting a similar reduction in 
the Group's Scope 1 and Scope 2 carbon 
footprints. This objective has been largely achieved, 
thanks to the measures adopted in 2023. The 
group has also set a first-time target of a reduction 
of 5% of Scope 3 emissions between 2022 and 
2023. 

The Sustainability Plan also includes the definition of a 
science-based emissions reduction target, following 
the recommendations of the SBTi, which will establish 
the decarbonisation roadmap for the Company both 
in its role as insurer and institutional investor. 

Circular economy 

In recent years, the Línea Directa Group has 
developed a set of actions that promote the circular 
economy, which is one of the main global 
challenges. This plan is based on three main pillars: 

• The project, launched in 2016, aims to reduce 
paper consumption through the implementation of 
digital procedures. Customers can have all 
documents available digitally through the "Digital 
Policy", which is sent to the policyholder when 
the policy is taken out. Other measures that have 
helped to raise awareness among employees to 
save paper is the extension of the use of 
electronic signatures, present both in document-
based relations with customers and in contracts 
with suppliers and employees, allowing each 
contract to have a specific digital file that 
reduces the need for paper. 
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• Use of sustainable materials, promoting 
responsible consumption of resources, through 
the use or recycled resources of more 
sustainable materials, for example, in home 
repairs, whenever technically feasible. 

• Reducing waste generation and increasing the 
reuse, recycling or other recovery of the waste 
produced. In particular, both CAR Madrid and 
CAR Barcelona have obtained the "Towards 
Zero Waste" certificate, which indicates that 
more than 60% of the waste produced as a 
result of production activity has been subjected 
to treatment. 

These three sets action, together with the 
technological changes implemented, have helped 
to gradually develop a cultural change in the 
Group, directly impacting environmental 
performance, in general, and waste management, 
in particular. 

In the case of the CAR Madrid and CAR 
Barcelona repair shops, the subsidiaries have a 
strict waste management policy due to their 
activities and the type of materials they work with. 

Biodiversity 

Biodiversity is not a relevant aspect for Línea 
Directa Group, as it has the Company holds its 
headquarters on urban terrains, and does not 
have an impact on protected natural areas 
and/or biodiversity. 

Línea Directa has carried out the analysis of the 
recommendations for the disclosure of risks and 
opportunities related to nature, and has not 
currently identified issues that may have an impact 
on this aspect, either positive or negative, nor that 
are relevant in the short or medium term for the 
Company. 

The business segments Línea Directa operates in 
as an insurer do not include activities that could 
have a negative impact on biodiversity or any 
animal species. 

In future years, the Company will evaluate the 
suitability of such an assessment, especially from 
the role of institutional investor. However, in order 
to be able to make a complete diagnosis, the 
Companies in which the Group is a shareholder 
need to make public their corresponding analysis 
of risks and opportunities related to biodiversity in 
the coming years. 

Moreover, the heterogeneity of the Company's 
current value chain makes it difficult to obtain 
complete information related to the impacts on 
nature and, as a consequence, to carry out an 
exhaustive diagnosis of the risks and opportunities 
related to it. 

The Company's activity combines the responsible 
management of its consumption and the launch of 
new products for new, less polluting forms of 
mobility. In addition, the Company continues to 
make progress in the responsible management of its 
value chain and in the inclusion of ESG criteria in its 
investment portfolio. 

Meanwhile, as sign of its commitment to nature and 
the environment, Línea Directa Group supports the 
initiative promoted by WWF, “Earth Hour”, whose 
aim is to mobilise individuals, companies and 
governments to reverse the loss of biodiversity in 
nature. In particular, the company actively 
collaborates with the actions promoted by this 
initiative and makes an annual contribution to it. 

Adaptation to climate change 

In recent years, the European Commission, in the 
context of the 2015 Paris Agreement on Climate 
Change and the United Nations 2030 Agenda for 
Sustainable Development, commissioned a group of 
technical experts to develop the European Union (EU) 
strategy for sustainable finance, as part of its 
commitment to direct capital flows towards 
sustainable activities. 

As a result of this strategy, in December 2021, the 
Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2021/2139 
of 4 June 2021, supplementing Regulation (EU) 
2020/852 of the European Parliament and of the 
Council and setting out the technical eligibility criteria 
that an activity must meet in order to contribute 
substantially to the objectives of "Climate Change 
Mitigation" and "Climate Change Adaptation". 

In June 2023, the European Commission has laid out, 
by means of Delegated Acts, the technical criteria for 
the other four environmental objectives set, which are: 
"Water protection", "Circular economy", "Pollution 
prevention" and "Biodiversity and ecosystems", thus 
completing its green Taxonomy. 

The Taxonomy establishes a set of harmonised criteria 
to determine in a homogeneous way whether an 
activity or investment is sustainable by making a 
substantial contribution to one of the environmental 
goals set out in the Regulation. The detailed definition 
of these criteria provides the basis for the 
development of standards or labels to assess the 
sustainability of a financial product. 

In previous years, Línea Directa Group has been 
reporting its eligibility percentages for both its 
business activity, specifically its premiums, and its 
assets, i.e. its investment portfolio and its property 
investments. As of this year, the legislation requires the 
Company to report the percentages of its activity and 
investments aligned with the Taxonomy. 

Indicators 

Línea Directa Aseguradora has assessed both its 
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2023 activity and investments based on the 
methodology established by the Taxonomy. In this 
regard, the following indicators are reported: 

 
Premiums. This indicator measures the proportion 
and amount of gross premiums written for the non-
life and reinsurance business for activities identified 
as environmentally sustainable under the Taxonomy. 

The company's activity corresponds to the activity 
"Non-life insurance: insurance against climate-
related risks", corresponding to the contribution to 
the goal of Climate Change Adaptation. 

KPIs related to underwriting activities have been 
calculated as the share of non-life gross premiums 
written corresponding to insurance activities that 
comply with the Taxonomy in relation to Non-Life 
gross premiums written. 

Línea Directa procedures. Línea Directa has 
drawn up the eligibility and alignment of its 
premiums in the insurance areas it operates in. In 
this regard, the European Commission has 
presented Regulation (EU) 2020/852, which 
introduces which activities are sustainable from an 
environmental point of view. 

 
Línea Directa has analysed the key underwriting 
performance indicator of its non-life insurance and 
reinsurance companies in accordance with 
Appendix X of Delegated Regulation (EU) 
2021/2178 at the consolidated level, finding no 
significant risks, as these companies do not 
operate in areas that are not specific to the 
insurance activity. Both eligible and ineligible non-
life insurance activities have been taken into 
account, as well as all subsidiaries in which the 
Company has a 100% interest. 

The underwriting activity KPI shows what 
proportion of all non-life underwriting activities is 
composed of activities related to climate change 
adaptation carried out in accordance with points 
10.1 and 10.2 of Appendix II to Delegated 
Regulation (EU) 2021/2139 on the European 
Union Climate Taxonomy. 

Indicators have been developed to allow the 
Company to quantify the eligibility of each 
underwriting, ensuring traceability and the 
robustness of the data. 

Eligibility. Due to recent modifications in the 
eligibility criteria, and coinciding with the first year 
of analysis of the Company's degree of 
alignment, Línea Directa has calculated the 
premium corresponding to coverages that 
contribute significantly to the achievement of the 
objective of adaptation to climate change 
(included in Appendix II of Delegated Regulation 
(EU) 2021/2139, as activities 10.1 and 10.2), 
precisely because they deal with damages 
caused by meteorological phenomena of great 

intensity, not covered by the Insurance 
Compensation Consortium, both in the Motor and 
Home branches. 

Specifically, in the Motor segment, own damage and 
windscreen coverages have been looked at in this 
regard, and the impact on premiums of the claims 
incurred from events related to meteorological 
phenomena has been estimated. Estimates have been 
made using data from the net issued premium of the 
coverages, drawing up a risk premium and a net 
issued premium for atmospheric damage. 

In the Home segment, the entire premium has been 
taken from the coverages of atmospheric phenomena 
and electrical damage, which insure against 
damages caused by high-intensity meteorological 
events. 

In the Health segment, no specific coverages have 
been found to directly insure against damages to 
health resulting from climate change. 

Alignment. In calculating alignment, the Technical 
Selection Criteria (STS) of the activity have been taken 
into account. For both the Motor and Home 
segments, the following criteria are met: 

 
1. Underwriting models reflect the risks of climate 

change. The company does not only base its 
calculations on historical trends, but also takes 
into account expected trends and forward-
looking projections included both in the ORSA 
and in the Task Force on Climate-related 
Financial Disclosures (TCFD). TCFD also includes 
impact management, risks and opportunities of 
climate change with projections between 5 and 
10 years. 

2. The TCFD prepared by the Company in 2023 
sets out a climate change governance model, the 
management of climate change risks and 
opportunities, as well as the relevant strategy, 
objectives and metrics. It plans to have it 
approved and published during 2024. 

3. Policyholders may see their premiums reduced if 
the insured case meets the criteria of lower 
exposure to atmospheric phenomena. 

4. The renewal of the policies is annual and 
should a weather event take place, the 
Company will make the conditions to renew or 
maintain the coverage available at the time of 
renewal. Such conditions may be substantially 
modified according to historical climate events 
and their respective damages. 

5. Policies will be subsidised if preventive 
measures are taken by the insured or if they 
have a lower risk in the face of adverse 
weather phenomena. These measures are 
reported in the relevant contracts. 

6. Products are marketed with all the information 
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relevant to the coverage, including coverage 
against climate-related risks, informing both of 
measures beneficial to the customer and of 
optional coverages that may make their 
insurance more complete and avoid limited 
insurance. 

7. Línea Directa Aseguradora is an insurance 
company operating in the Motor, Home and 
Health segments, and as such is not 
authorised by the competent bodies to 
underwrite facilities relating to activities in 
fossil fuels (oil, gas or coal). 

8. Línea Directa collaborates annually with the 
CCS, ICEA, UNESPA and the DGS, making 
available information requested for analysis 
and research on issues of climate change 
and adaptation to it. 

9. Línea Directa treats all claims incurred in 
accordance with the applicable legislation, 
taking into account the stipulated deadlines. 

Compliance with DNSH. The Company's 
insurance activity does not come into conflict with 
any other environmental objective of the 
Taxonomy. Línea Directa is committed to 
mitigating climate change, implementing measures 
that reduce the impact on the environment. It does 
not insure any activity related to the extraction, 
transportation, refining and distribution of coal, 
gas or oil. 

 
The Company's activity does not have a 
significant impact on water resources, the circular 
economy, pollution or the objective of protecting 
biodiversity. The company meets the criteria of the 
Do Not Signifcant Harm (DNSH). 

 
Social safeguards. Línea Directa meets the 
minimal social safeguards set out in Articles 3 and 
18 of the EU Taxonomy Regulation regarding 
human rights, corruption, taxation and fair 
competition. In this sense, a body of policies 
(Human Rights Policy, Anti-Corruption Policy, 
Fiscal Policy and its Code of Ethics, among 
others) determines the Company's corporate 
position on these matters. 

The Company has Human Rights Due Diligence 
procedures, which affect employees, suppliers, 
customers, investors and society in order to prevent 
the violation of fundamental rights. 

Línea Directa is also part of the United Nations 
Global Compact, which promotes the fight against 
child labour, forced labour and the protection of 
fundamental rights. 

In addition, it has procedures to monitor and 
establish disciplinary measures in the event of 
criminal acts and carries out periodic training 
activities to make all corporate procedures and 

policies known among its professionals, especially 
among its senior management. 

Línea Directa has not been convicted or sanctioned 
for human rights violations, corruption or bribery, tax 
evasion or for not respecting competition laws during 
the year 2023. 

Investments. The proportion in total assets of 
exposures to activities identified as environmentally 
sustainable under the Taxonomy. 

 
The indicator has been calculated using the market 
value of the positions on the balance sheet for each 
of the categories and on the total assets of Línea 
Directa Group as of December 31, 2023. All 
positions held by the Company in the portfolio, 
except for its stake in TIREA, are assigned a CNAE 
code. 

• Elegible/non-elegible: the percentage of the 
portfolio in non-eligible is mostly due to 
investment, both in bonds and shares of financial 
institutions, and a minority of positions in motor, 
pharma, healthcare, consumer, commodities, 
etc., which are activities that have not yet been 
developed by Taxonomy. 

• Debts and agencies include all portfolio positions 
in sovereign debt and other bonds in both 
domestic and supranational agencies. 

• Listed and unlisted funds and investment 
companies have been considered exempt. As at 
31 December, the company has a CNAE code 
assigned as a financial product and is therefore 
exempt. 

• Derivatives include portfolio percentage. 
• Property: most are for own use and have not 

been included in the numerator because they 
are not considered investments, and the rest of 
property investments do not meet the technical 
criteria set out in activity 7.7 of Delegated 
Regulation (EU) 2021/2139. 

Diversity and equality 

Línea Directa Group has its own Diversity and 
Inclusion policy approved by the Board of Directors, 
setting out the principles with which the Company 
operates in this area. 

Diversity 

In 2023, a Diversity Advisory committee was set 
up, made up of members of the Management 
committee and advised by a working group 
including employees at different levels of 
responsibility. The objective of the committee, which 
is led by the People department, is to approve the 
diversity strategy, as well as to ensure compliance 
with the established action plan. 
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During the year, the Company has also carried 
out different initiatives in order to promote diversity 
inside and outside the organisation. 

• Training: the Company has trained key 
groups in HR management as well as 
technical experts from the back office on 
diversity and non-discrimination. This training 
is primarily aimed at professionals 
responsible for teams. 

• Sensitisation and internal mobilisation: the 
company raises awareness among its 
employees about diversity. The celebration of 
European Diversity Month has been promoted 
among the workforce with different actions on 
the Employee Portal, as well as on the 
internal social network. In 2023, in the 
context of the UN Global Compact, 
employees have been offered a training 
video on diversity. 

• External communication: Línea Directa 
publicises its diversity initiatives on social 
media, such as the renewal of the European 
Diversity Charter and the certification from 
Top Employers. 

• Collaboration with other stakeholders: the 
organisation has collaborated with other 
companies, associations and working groups 
to foster and promote diversity and inclusion 
policies. 

Equality 

Línea Directa has an Equality Plan and an Equality, 
Inclusion and Non-discrimination Policy approved 
by its Board of Directors. It also has an equality 
technical team made up of experts in people 
management. 

The Company also has a Harassment Prevention 
Protocol, publicly available to all employees, which 
sets out the principles of action in this area, as well 
as the procedure for reporting, handling and 
resolving these situations. 

As part of its commitment to equality, non-
discrimination and inclusion, the company is also a 
signatory to the following codes of conduct, 
networks of companies, sectors and foundations that 
promote all the principles set out here, including the 
United Nations Global Compact, Women's 
Empowerment Principles (WEPs), Target Gender 
Equality (TGE), and Top Employers. The company 
also has the following certificates and memberships: 
award given to companies for a “Society free from 
gender-based violence” promoted by the Spanish 
Ministry of Gender Equality, UNESPA Good 
Practice Guide on Gender Equality and Non-
Discrimination, collaboration with the Fundación 
Más Familia (Efr), member of the EWI Sector 
Network, of the Código Eje&Con, a code of good 

practises in female talent in organisations and of 
MásHumano, a network of companies committed to 
implementing flexible working models. Due to the 
percentage of representation of women in the 
Company's senior management and Board of 
Directors, Línea Directa is also part of the Ibex 
Gender Equality Index of Spanish Stock Exchanges 
and Markets (BME) 

Gender-based violence 

The Company's chain of command receives annual 
training in the detection and prevention of gender-
based violence, in collaboration with a specialised 
foundation. There are also two annual awareness-
raising campaigns with various activities for the entire 
workforce, coinciding with 25 November 
(International Day for the Elimination of Violence 
against Women) and 8 March, International 
Women's Day. 

For years, Línea Directa has been involved in a 
"School of Empowerment" through the company's 
volunteer group, where women who have been 
victims of gender-based violence are trained in how 
to prepare and conduct job interviews to help them 
find a foothold in the job market. 

Talent attraction 

Línea Directa Aseguradora is once again among 
the 50 companies with the best capacity to attract 
talent in Spain according to the Merco Talent 
ranking. In the last financial year, the company has 
moved up two positions, from 
45th to 43rd. It has also renewed its Top Employers 
certification. 

Línea Directa's talent attraction strategy aims to 
attract the best professionals to address the 
organisation's current and future challenges. 

The focus of Línea Directa's employer brand strategy 
is the projection of an honest and transparent image 
of its projects and corporate culture. In a 
communication campaign translating as "make it 
big, make it Línea Directa", published on Social 
Networks throughout 2023, employees shared first-
hand the projects in which the company is 
immersed and in which they are protagonists. 

The Company has made a commitment to improve 
the digitalisation of the selection process, the 
implementation of advanced selection and analysis 
tools and the promotion of the new channels for 
attracting young talent created in 2022. 

The Talent Attraction team maintains agile, 
approachable and highly personalised 
communication with each candidate. In line with 
this strategy, in 2023 the Company has launched 
new ways of attracting talent that are agile, 
efficient, flexible and focused on the candidate, 
promoting the use of technologies and data, 
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innovative tools and social networks, which allows 
us to provide a human and unique experience. 

In 2023, the Company also launched "always 
on" selection processes, allowing a continuous 
dialogue with candidates on topics that arouse 
their interest. Throughout this initiative, the 
information obtained is analysed to draw up a 
profile of the applicant and find out their 
motivations for joining Línea Directa. Moreover, 
the Company's presence in business schools, 
professional communities, universities, technology 
platforms, forums and blogs has been further 
promoted, always with the aim of enriching 
information and boosting the Company's notoriety 
in the process of attracting talent. 

Talent management 

During 2023, four challenges were laid out in the 
company's roadmap: 

• Efficiency and cost-effectiveness 
• Digital transformation 

• Customer focus and multi-segment management 
(Motor, Home and Health). 

• Greater capacity for creating
 business: marketing, analytics and 
technology. 

 
This strategy has been accompanied by a new 
culture of professional development and 
personalised training for all the company's 
employees. 

While in 2022 the Company focused on employee 
motivation through "Conversations on Development" 
with its managers and promoting self-learning 
through digital tools and training courses on 
@prende and LinkedIn Learning, in 2023 different 
initiatives have been implemented aimed at loyalty 
and a commitment to internal talent. These include a 
program to identify critical positions, identify 
potential talent, and set up accelerated 
development plans. 

In addition, in order to align the strategy and culture 
of innovation, multidisciplinary innovation groups 
have been created in the organisation in which 
people with very diverse profiles and experiences 
participate. 

Finally, in order to reinforce the professional 
development strategy, new training programmes 
have been created for team leaders to develop their 
strategic skills and knowledge of business 
management. 

Línea Directa promotes various programmes to 
develop leadership capabilities in the chain of 
command. To this end, new management programs 
have been imparted to team leaders to align the 

Company's priorities with their professional 
development. 

In 2023, two training programs were delivered 
through the Darwin Community: one in Strategic 
Management, in order to enhance the managerial 
and strategic skills of middle management, and 
another in Business Management for the new 
members of this group, which aims to train them in the 
main areas of management of the Company, 
providing them with an overview of the organisation 
and preparing them for new challenges. 

Employee well-being 

Although one of Línea Directa Group's main 
objectives in people management is the safety and 
health of its employees, it believes it is also important 
to address the broader concept of well-being. To this 
end, Línea Directa Aseguradora runs a 
programme specifically based on the principles 
of the International Labour Organization (ILO) and 
which follows the recommendations of the European 
Union on occupational health and safety. The 
company is also a signatory to the Luxembourg 
Declaration. 

 
In this context, Línea Directa offers its employees the 
"Well-being to Be Well" programme, which 
encompasses actions focused on improving their 
physical, emotional and financial health. 

Among the main measures and initiatives carried out 
during 2023 in this area, the extension of the 
employee vacation period by one day starting from 
2024 stands out. 

In order to measure the well-being of employees 
and 'take the pulse' of the organisation, a survey 
aimed at the entire workforce is taken every two 
years. In the latest one, conducted in 2023, the 
Company took its methodology a step further to be 
able to analyse the experience of its employees in a 
more personalised way, allowing the Group to 
draw conclusions by employee groups and 
according to their professional and life cycles at 
Línea Directa. 

Remuneration 

The Company has a total compensation platform 
available in the employee portal where employees 
can consult all the elements that are part of their 
remuneration package. The information includes 
fixed remuneration, variable remuneration linked to 
objectives and remuneration in kind, such as life 
and accident insurance, as well as the various 
social benefits and advantages they are eligible for 
as employees of Línea Directa, such as a flexible 
remuneration programmes and discounts on all the 
Company's products. 

Due to the increase in the cost of living as a result of 
inflation in the last two years, Línea Directa 
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Aseguradora made a one-off extraordinary 
payment to all its employees in January 2023, 
with the exception of the management team, 
equivalent to 1% of their fixed salary, with a 
minimum of € 300. 

In 2022, Línea Directa launched its first Share 
Purchase Plan aimed at employees. By joining this 
plan, employees may allocate part of their salary 
to the purchase of shares at a 5% discount, also 
benefitting from the advantages of flexible 
remuneration. The company has continued this 
programme during 2023. To this end, two 
training and advisory sessions were imparted in 
order to promote the financial education of the 
staff and ensure that employees understand this 
initiative before making their investment decision. 

Pay gap 

Línea Directa Aseguradora defends equal pay for 
women and men and carries out annual salary 
reviews with common criteria for both genders. 
Proof of this is that the total average remuneration of 
both genders is very similar and the pay gap at the 
end of 2023 was 3.1%. 

Health and safety 

In 2023, the Company updated its Occupational 
Risk Prevention and Well-being Policy, setting out 
the commitments on which it bases its management 
of occupational risk prevention, not only through 
strict compliance with the applicable regulations, 
but also through its commitment to ensuring the 
health and safety of the people who provide their 
services at Línea Directa. 

Employee relations 

In 2022, Línea Directa Aseguradora launched an 
organisational and strategic transformation that is 
key to the company's future. Paying attention to 
people's need and managing change with care has 
been vital in turning this process into new 
professional development opportunities for the 
people in the organisation. 

The People and Communications department has 
been focused on accompanying employees and the 
chain of command through this process, working, 
during 2023, with the business areas to understand 
and address the specific needs of each team, 
ensuring a harmonious transition that respects the 
particularities of each one of them. 

Special attention has also been paid to the 
emotional management of change, ensuring a 
constant presence of teams from the People 
department in all the Company's buildings. This 
physical presence not only facilitates communication 
and the resolution of doubts, but also underlines the 
organisation's commitment to being close to its 
employees during this process of change. 

The Company also has set up various direct digital 
communication channels with employees through 
which information flows in all directions, thanks to the 
universally accessible employee channel and the 
personalised management of the People Care Team. 

To this end, and as part of the process of digitalising 
communications with its employees, the Company 
launched the ‘LiDiA’ chatbot in 2022, a virtual 
assistant anchored in the navigation bar of the 
corporate intranet and programmed to answer 
employees' most important questions in conversation. 
In 2023, a proof-of-concept (PoC) has been launched 
to integrate this assistant with generative Artificial 
Intelligence and thus make the user experience more 
modern, effective and human through natural 
language. 

Union representation 

All employees of Línea Directa Group are subject to 
the collective bargaining agreement that applies in 
each workplace of the companies that make up the 
Group, with several union sections exercising their 
rights in accordance with the Organic Law on 
Freedom of Association. 

Disability and accessibility 

One of the key pillars of Línea Directa 
Aseguradora's action plan in the field of functional 
disability integration is the inclusion of employees 
with a disability certificate. 

The company has set up different initiatives to cover 
this challenge, involving the management of the 
company's own talent, collaboration with specialist 
entities and participation in social projects aimed at 
promoting the employability of this group. 

Meanwhile, all the workplaces of Línea Directa 
Group are accessible. In addition, the company 
works on communication and awareness about 
disability, both internally and externally. In 2023, 
the accessibility of the corporate website has been 
addressed to ensure universal access for all users. 

The criteria adopted to provide greater accessibility 
to the Línea Directa Aseguradora website are based 
on the WCAG/WAI guidelines set by the World 
Wide Web Consortium (W3C), which is an 
international consortium that creates 
recommendations and standards that ensure the use 
and development of the Internet. The development 
of the Línea Directa Aseguradora website has 
therefore been based on compliance with the 
Accessibility Guidelines for content available on the 
WCAG 2.1 website of the W3C WAI at its AA 
level of requirement. A specialised consulting firm 
has been commissioned to carry out an accessibility 
audit according to the requirements of WCAG 2.1. 
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7. Research, development and innovation 

Línea Directa Aseguradora is committed to research, 
development and innovation and has launched 
powerful initiatives in this area that the Group puts 
at the service of the business and its customers 
through unique insurance products, as well as of 
society as a whole through the research work 
carried out by Línea Directa Foundation in favour of 
road safety. 

Innovation 

Since its inception, the Company has had a strong 
culture of innovation as a basis for the development 
of insurance solutions and distinctive services that 
respond to new customer needs, giving it a 
competitive advantage. 

In the last two years, Línea Directa has strengthened 
its innovation culture and processes. The Company 
has created the 10X Innovation Program, a 
corporate project with its own methodology that 
includes various innovation processes aimed at 
product differentiation and business growth. 

In 2023, several innovation groups have been set 
up composed of employees identified for their 
potential talent. These groups aim to detect new 
areas of business opportunity working through the 
following phases: exploration, ideation, validation, 
and finally implementation. The employees involved 
in the Product Innovation programme have received 
training videos to learn the basic concepts in 
innovation methodologies and the creative process: 
design thinking, for trend analysis; strategic analysis 
applied to the generation of new business and 
value proposition setting; lean start-up, to generate 
a Minimum Viable Product and perform a rapid 
validation and learning of the prototype; and agile 
methodologies for the iterative and incremental 
implementation and development of new products. 

This set of innovation methodologies seeks to 
understand the needs of customers quickly, validate 
prototypes of products and services, and finally 
introduce new products to the market in record time. 

The Company also has a Product committee led by 
the Head of Marketing that sets up different 
strategic, operational and product approval 
sessions. Employees part of the Innovación 10X 
programme have been involved in each of these 
phases. 

As a result of this culture and these processes of 
innovation, which are transversally present 
throughout the organisation, Línea Directa 
Aseguradora has been able to continue creating 
innovative products and services available to 
policyholders in its Motor, Home and Health 
segments throughout 2023, launching, for 
instance, "Car + Home Formula", the first step by 

an insurer in Spain towards the convergence of 
policies for the same family unit, and "Squatter free 
home", a comprehensive coverage against illegal 
occupation of housing, unique in the market. 

Digital transformation 

Innovation and digital transformation are two key 
levers in Línea Directa's corporate strategy. Along 
with the creation of new products that meet the 
emerging needs of customers, the Company has 
continued to make progress in the digitalisation of 
both its internal processes and the policyholder 
experience, seeking to boost its efficiency and offer 
a more agile and higher quality service to 
policyholders. 

In this regard, it should be noted that throughout 
2023 the Group has relied on Artificial Intelligence 
(AI) to expand and improve the digital services 
available to customers through the Company's 
mobile application and website. Through this state-
of-the-art technology, Línea Directa already offers 
advanced functionalities for verification and 
registration of claims by users. This has allowed the 
Company to reduce its operational burden and 
increase the quality of service. Up to 75% of annual 
verifications are already carried out from digital 
images and the success rate in the digital 
registration of claims has risen to 96%. 

The agility and usefulness that the Group's digital 
services provide means they have achieved a high 
penetration among the Company's customer base. 
At the end of 2023, more than 87% of 
policyholders interact with the Company through its 
digital channels and the volume of digital 
interactions exceeds those by telephone by 59%. 

Service quality 

The direct contact with customers that its business 
model allows it means Línea Directa Aseguradora is 
able to know first-hand the needs of policyholders, 
which is an extraordinary asset when it comes to 
promoting quality in all its processes. 
Línea Directa Aseguradora monitors its net promoter 
score (NPS), which estimates the degree to which its 
customers and users would recommend the Company 
to others. This system has a measurement scale of 1 
to 10 points, and only those policyholders who rate 
their experience with the company with a score of 9 
or 10 are considered "promoters". 

Línea Directa Aseguradora's global NPS in 2023 
reached 29.16 points, a variation of 17.8 points 
compared to 2022, a decline caused by the 
tightening of underwriting in the face of the current 
market situation of inflation pressure and costs on 
insurance margins. 

One of the main challenges experienced by the 
Quality area during the past year has been to adapt 
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the measurement systems to the Company's new 
multi-product approach. It has been possible to 
define a set of indicators that, in addition to 
providing a joint reading of the KPIs, offers the 
possibility of knowing how a policyholder evaluates 
the process or service in question. 

The year 2023 has also seen important 
developments in the Customer Experience 
Scorecard applied to home insurance benefits and 
has deepened the knowledge and analysis of the 
best practices in the market, always with the aim of 
enriching decision-making in the future. 

In 2024, work will be done to extend the 
methodology on service provision to the rest of 
customer interactions, as well as to the prediction 
and early detection of alarms on the new 
perception indicators. 

Research support 

Línea Directa Foundation, a non-profit organisation 
that aims to fight road accidents, has become a true 
benchmark in the field in its ten years of experience. 
Set up in 2014, the foundation brings together the 
Company's long experience in the field of road 
safety and has four lines of action: research, 
awareness-raising, social action and training. 

From the point of view of research, Línea Directa 
Foundation carries out several studies every year 
that analyse the most relevant aspects of accidents, 
always with the aim of raising awareness about the 
importance of maintaining responsible driving 
habits. These studies seek to offer a holistic view of 
the phenomenon of traffic and accidents, providing 
innovative approaches that help fight against road 
mortality and injuries. In 2023, the organisation 
completed and published three of these studies. The 
first among them, "Life in a second. Distractions and 
accidents on Spanish roads (2012-2021)", 
concludes that 1 in 3 fatal accidents in Spain is 
caused by distractions. The study "Getting there and 
back. X-ray of traffic accidents on holiday journeys 
in Spain (2012-2021)" recalls that, with five 
casualties per day, the summer months are the most 
dangerous time of the year for road safety, with a 
death rate 20% higher than the rest of the year. 
Finally, through the report "Safe Cars for All. 
Analysis of accidents from a gender perspective 
(2012-2021)", Línea Directa Foundation highlighted 
how, due to the lack of adaptation of vehicle safety 
tests to the female anatomy, women face twice the 
risk of suffering a serious brain injury and are 50% 
more likely to have a skull fracture in the event of a 
frontal impact than men. 

The Foundation also runs a start-up acceleration 
programme, an activity it develops through the 
Entrepreneurs and Road Safety Award, a contest 
that finances projects that, due to their special 
relevance, can contribute to saving lives on the 
roads. The contest is endowed with a prize of € 

20,000 net without carryover or conversion, as 
well as access to training and mentoring. At a later 
stage, the winner of the award will also be able to 
access financing rounds by Bankinter's Foundation 
for Innovation and IESE Business School. 
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8. Other significant information 

8.1 The Línea Directa Aseguradora share 

At year-end 2023, the Company's issued share 
capital amounted to € 43,536,673.60, 
comprising 1,088,416,840 fully subscribed and 
paid-up ordinary registered shares, all of the same 
class and series and each with a par value of € 
0.04. 

All outstanding shares carry the same dividend and 
voting rights and are represented by in book entry 
form. The shares are listed on the stock exchanges 
of Madrid, Barcelona, Valencia and Bilbao (the 
Spanish stock exchanges). 

The main stock market index to feature the 
Company's share is the IBEX Medium Cap, which 
ranks Spanish listed mid-cap companies. 

The ISIN code of the Company's share is 
ES0105546008. 

Share price performance 

The share closed the 2023 financial year at 0.851 
euros per share, a decrease of 17.54% since 2 
January, the first day of trading in 2023. 

At year-end 2023, a total of eight research houses 
followed the share, 75% of which recommended 
“hold” and 25% “sell”, with an average target price 
of € 0.918. 

 
 

 
The Línea Directa Aseguradora share   

2023 

 
Share price information 

 

Low (€) 0.786 
High (€) 1.084 
End of the period (€) 0.851 

Number of shares 1,088,416,840 
Treasury shares 377,583 
Number of shares outstanding 1,088,039,257 
Nominal value (€) 0.04 
Average daily trading volume (shares) 607,961 
Average daily trading volume (€) 623,500 
Stock market capitalisation (€ million) 926.242 

 
Ratios 

 
 

*Dividends charged to the financial year 2023 / share closing price for 
the year 

 

Dividends 

The Company has not distributed dividends against 
2023. 

Acquisition and disposal of treasury shares 

On 29 April 2021, the date of the IPO, a total of 
239,678 treasury shares were allotted to the Parent 
in the exchange for Bankinter shares. 

On 12 May 2021, the Board of Directors 
approved an own-share buyback programme under 
the authorisation granted at the Company's Annual 
General Meeting held on 18 March 2021 and in 
accordance with market abuse regulations. This 
authorisation was duly communicated to the CNMV 
on the same day. 

The Company has made successive acquisitions 
communicated to the CNMV to complete the share-
based remuneration plan detailed in Note 21. The 
number of treasury shares acquired by the Parent 
during 2021 was 795,643 shares at an average 
price of € 1.57, 

-0.00 
0.29 
3.0 x 

n.m 
-1.4% 
— % 

Profit per share (€) Book 
value per share (€) 
Price/book value (times) PER (times) 
RoAE (%) 
Dividend yield (%)* 
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representing 0.11% of issued shares. 

The Group has also offered its employees two 
flexible share-based remuneration plans. The first, in 
November 2022, saw 224,000 shares acquired 
at an average price of € 0.99, of which 204,676 
were delivered. And the second, in November 
2023, saw 116,771 shares delivered. 

At 31 December 2023, Línea Directa Aseguradora 
held 377,583 treasury shares, representing 
0.035% of capital and amounting to € 321,323. 
Note 15 includes details on the composition and 
movement of equity. 

8.2 Shareholding structure 

At year-end 2023, Cartival held 19.896% of the 
shares, Bankinter 17.416%, Fernando Masaveu 
Herrero 5.381%, Norbel Inversiones 5.001%, 
Lazard Asset Management 3.195%, Brandes 
Investment Partners 3.002%, Candriam 2.720% 
and Fidelity International Limited 2.023%. 

Línea Directa holds 0.035% in treasury stock. 

The following table shows the composition of 
shareholders as at 31 December 2023: 

The foreign institutional tranche is led by the United 
Kingdom and the United States, with the 
composition as follows: 

 

Foreign institutional tranche   
2023 

 
United Kingdom 

 
40.95% 

United States 29.74% 
Luxembourg 9.49% 
France 4.60% 
Switzerland 4.35% 
Norway 3.05% 
Belgium 2.82% 
Germany 2.60% 
Other 2.40% 

 

Shareholding structure   
2023 

 
Cartival, S.A. 

 
19.90% 

Bankinter, S.A. 17.42% 
Fernando Masaveu Herrero 5.38% 
Norbel Inversiones, S.L. 5.00% 
Lazard Asset Management 3.20% 
Brandes Investment Partners, L.P. 3.00% 
Candriam 2.72% 
Fidelity International Limited 2.02% 
Treasury shares 0.03% 
Foreign institutional 14.35% 
Domestic institutional 11.84% 
Retail 15.14% 
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8.3 Relationship with the financial market 

Following the listing of Línea Directa Aseguradora, 
S.A., it has been the Company's intention to follow 
best practices of good governance and the 
recommendations of the CNMV's Code of Good 
Governance, thereby strengthening its commitment 
to transparency, ensuring the full engagement of 
shareholders and investors and creating of long-term 
value. To succeed in these tasks, the Company 
considers it necessary to implement procedures to 
maintain adequate communication with all of its 
stakeholders. 

In this regard, the Company has a Communication 
Policy in effect with shareholders, institutional 
investors and proxy advisors of Línea Directa 
(available on the website), which also includes the 
general policy regarding the communication of 
economic-financial, non-financial and corporate 
information through the Company's social networks 
and other communication channels. 

In particular, the website for shareholders and 
investors is regularly updated to include information 
on CNMV filings, complete financial information, 
results, presentations, and information on shares. 

The Statement of Non-Financial Information for the 
financial year 2023 has also been made available. 
With this document, Línea Directa Aseguradora 
reports on environmental, corporate governance, 

human resources, social and human rights issues 
relevant to the company in the context of its business 
activities. 

In 2023, the Company webcast its published 
earnings on a quarterly basis, participated in 13 
domestic and international conferences and forums, 
while also keeping daily contact with the investment 
community and thus bringing the reality of the 
business closer to shareholders and potential 
investors. 

 
8.4 Average supplier payment period 

In accordance with the provisions of Law 
18/2022, listed commercial companies are 
required to publish their average supplier payment 
period, the monetary amount and number of 
invoices paid in a period shorter than the legal 
maximum period, as well as the ratio of those 
invoices to the total number of invoices and the total 
monetary amount of payments made to suppliers. 

The payments made to suppliers in 2023 and 
2022 are as follows. The average payment period 
to suppliers at the end of 2023 for Línea Directa 
Aseguradora was 20.80 days. The number of 
invoices and their monetary value are broken down 
for the year 2023: 

 
 2023 2022 
 Days Days 

Average supplier payment period 20.80 18.55 
Ratio of transactions paid 20.81 18.51 
Ratio of transactions outstanding 20.60 20.24 
 Amount 

(in thousand euro)  

Amount 

(in thousand euro)  

Total payments made 340,996 334,881 
Total payments outstanding 13,891 7,859 

 Invoices Invoices 

Invoices paid within the legal limit 102,744 112,931 
Percentage of total invoices 85.86% 90.58%
Total invoices 119,660 124,682 

 Amount 
(in thousand euro)

Amount 
(in thousand euro)

Monetary volume within legal limit 314,136 278,227 
Percentage of total monetary value of payments to suppliers 88.52% 81.18%

Total monetary value of invoices 354,888 342,740 
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9. Complaints, ombudsman and other non-financial information 

The legal regulatory framework for financial services provides customers with the appropriate level of protection 
to ensure confidence in the functioning of the markets. Notably, Order ECO/734/2004, of 11 March, on 
customer care and ombudsman departments and services of financial institutions, requires insurance 
undertakings to have a customer care department or service, in order to attend to and resolve complaints and 
grievances presented by their customers wishing to exercise their legally recognised rights and interests. 

The decision shall be reasoned and contain clear conclusions in respect of the request raised in each complaint 
or claim, based on the applicable contractual terms, rules on transparency and customer expectations, as well 
as good financial practices and usages. 

In 2023, a total of 7,637 incidents were handled (5,809 incidents in 2022), 630 (8.25%) of which qualified 
as complaints (398 (6.85%) complaints in 2022) and 7,007 (91.75%) as grievances (5,411 (93.15%) 
grievances in 2022). Of the total, 21,02% related to Policy quoting and management, 66.39% to Accident 
management and 3.33% to the Roadside assistance service (2022: 20.86%, 69.48% and 3.10%, 
respectively). 

The breakdown by type of case managed by the Group in 2023 and 2022 is as follows: 
 

 2023 2022 
 Number % of total Number % of total 

Complaints 630 8.25% 398 6.85% 
Grievances 7,007 91.75% 5,411 93.15% 
Total cases handled 7,637 100.00% 5,809 100.00% 

 
The breakdown by department of the cases generated by the Group in 2023 and 2022 is as follows: 

 

 2023 2022 
 Number % of total Number % of total 
Quotations and policy 
management 1,605 21.02% 1,212 20.86% 

Accident management 5,070 66.39% 4,036 69.48% 
Roadside assistance service 255 3.34% 180 3.10% 

Other 707 9.26% 381 6.56% 
Total cases handled 7,637 100.00% 5,809 100.00% 

 
The main issues raised by customers are listed below: 

1. Rejection of damage claim following expert inspection 

2. Delays in processing and repairing damage 

3. Policy exclusions 

4. Policy cancellation, in relation to processing and reimbursement of unearned premiums 

Of the total complaints and grievances received in 2023, 82.06% (82,10% in 2022) have been considered 
upheld and 39.86% admissible (38.13% in 2022). 
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In 2023, a total of 488 cases were heard by the Consumer Ombudsman (428 cases in 2022). A decision 
was handed down against the insured claimants in 56.15% of these cases, which relate to the following main 
grievances: 

– Application/interpretation of insurance cover and 
– Valuation/compensation of claims. 

The percentage of decisions issued against the policyholders' interests was higher than in the previous year, as 
in 2023 214 of the 488 decisions issued were favourable to the policyholder, while in 2022 they were 287 
of the 428, with percentages of 43.85% and 67.05% and revealing a percentage difference between years of 
23.20%. 

In his report, the Consumer Ombudsman calls for prompter handling of claims so that, between LINEA DIRECTA 
and the Consumer Ombudsman, they can be resolved ahead of the deadlines prescribed by applicable law 
and regulations on consumer affairs, pursuant to Royal Legislative Decree 1/2007, of 16 November. It also 
suggests that the general terms and conditions of the policies, containing their delimitation of risks, exclusions 
and limitation of liability clauses, should be signed at the same time as the special terms and conditions, 
whether the product is arranged remotely or via traditional channels. 
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10. Annual Corporate Governance Report, ICFR and Annual Report on Directors' Remuneration. 

For the purposes of Article 538 of the Spanish Corporate Enterprises Act, the Management Report includes the 
Annual Corporate Governance Report (ACGR), Internal Control over Financial Reporting (ICFR) and the Annual 
Report on Director Remuneration (ARDR) of Línea Directa Aseguradora, S.A., Compañía de Seguros y 
Reaseguros, all for the year ended 2023. Both reports are available and can be consulted in full on the website 
of the Spanish National Securities Market Commission (Comisión Nacional del Mercado de Valores, or 
CNMV) and on the corporate website. 
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